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ON
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BANKING AND COMMERCE

Chairman: Larry Pennell, Esq.
Vice-Chairman: R. Gendron, Esq.
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Asselin (Victoria- Morison

(Notre-Dame-de- Carleton) Nowlan

Grdce) Gelber Nugent
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Blouin Guay Rynard
Cameron Hales Scott

(High Park) Jewett (Miss) Tardif
Cameron Kindt Thomas

(Nanaimo-Cowichan- Klein Vincent

The Islands) Lloyd Wahn
Caouette Macaluso Whelan
Casselman (Mvrs.) Mackasey Woolliams—50.
Coté McCutcheon

(Chicoutimi) McLean (Charlotte)

Quorum—10

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.




ORDERS OF REFERENCE

TuESDAY, March 24, 1964.

Ordered,—That the following Bills be referred to the Standing Committee
on Banking and Commerce:
Bill S-9, An Act respecting Scottish Canadian Assurance Corporation.
Bill S-8, An Act respecting The General Accident Assurance Company of
Canada.
FripAYy, April 14, 1964.

Resolved,—That the following Members do compose the Standing Com-
mittee on Banking and Commerce:

Messrs.
Addison, Flemming (Victoria- McLean (Charlotte),
Aiken, Carleton), Monteith,
Armstrong, Gelber, More (Regina City),
Asselin (Notre-Dame- Gendron, Moreau,
de Grace), Grafftey, Morison,
Bell, Grégoire, Olsen,
Cameron (High Park), Habel, Otto,
Cameron (Nanaimo- Hahn, Pascoe,
Cowichan-The Islands), Hales, Ryan,
Caouette, Jewett (Miss), Rynard,
Casselman (Mrs.), Kelly, Scott,
Chaplin, Kindt, Tardif,
Chrétien, Klein, Thomas,
Coté (Chicoutimi), Leblanc, Vincent,
Crossman, Lloyd, Wahn,
Crouse, Mackasey, Whelan,
Danforth, Matte, Woolliams—50.
Douglas, McCutcheon,

(Quorum 15)

Ordered,—That the said Committee be empowered to examine and inquire
into all such matters and things as may be referred to it by the House; and to
report from time to time its observations and opinions thereon, with power
to send for persons, papers and records.

WEDNESDAY, April 22, 1964.

Ordered,—That the names of Messrs. Pennell, Basford, and Gray be sub-
stituted for those of Messrs. Kelly, Crossman, and Habel respectively on the
Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

TUESDAY, April 28, 1964.

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce be
empowered to print such papers and evidence as may be ordered by the
Committee, and that Standing Order 66 be suspended in relation thereto; and
that the quorum of the said Committee be reduced from 15 to 10 Members, and
that Standing Order 65(1) (d) be suspended in relation thereto.
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4 STANDING COMMITTEE

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Nugent be substituted for that of Mr. Crouse
on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

THURSDAY, May 7, 1964.
Ordered,—That Bill S-14, An Act respecting The Dominion Life Assurance
Company, be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

TuespAy, May 12, 1964.
O'rdered —That the following Bills be referred to the Standing Committee
on Banking and Commerce:
Bill S-12, An Act respecting Allstate Insurance Company of Canada.
Bill S-15, An Act to incorporate Evangeline Savings and Mortgage
Company.
TUESDAY, June 2, 1964.

Ordered,—That Bill S-18, An Act respecting The Montreal Board of Trade,
be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

TuUESDAY, June 16, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Macaluso be substituted for that of Mr.
Hahn on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

TUESDAY, June 16, 1964.
Ordered,—That the following Bills be referred to the Standing Committee
on Banking and Commerce:
Bill S-30, An Act respecting The Dominion of Canada General Insurance
Company.
Bill S-31, An Act respecting The Casualty Company of Canada.

THURSDAY, June 18, 1964.

Ordered,—That Bill S-28, An Act respecting the Quebec Board of Trade,
be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

THURSDAY, June 18, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Marcoux be substituted for that of Mr.
Olson on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

FripAY, June 19, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Nowlan be substituted for that of Mr.
Danforth on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

THURSDAY, June 25, 1964.

Ordered,—That Bill S-34, An Act to incorporate Nova Scotia Savings &
Loan Company, be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and
Commerce.

FRrIDAY, June 26, 1964.

Ordered,—That the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce be
authorized to sit while the House is sitting.

THURSDAY, July 2, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Guay be substituted for that of Mr. Leblanc
on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

MonpAY, July 6, 1964.
Ordered,—That the names of Messrs. Berger, Frenette, and Blouin be sub-
stituted for those of Messrs. Matte, Marcoux, and Chrétien respectively on the
Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.
Attest
LEON-J. RAYMOND,
The Clerk of the House.




REPORTS TO THE HOUSE

APRIL 28, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce has the honour to
present the following as its

FIRST REPORT
Your Committee recommends:

1. That it be empowered to print such papers and evidence as may be

ordered by the Committee, and that Standing Order 66 be suspended in relation
thereto;

2. That its quorum be reduced from 15 to 10 members and that Standing
Order 65(1) (d) be suspended in relation thereto.

Respectfully submitted,

LARRY PENNELL,
Chairman.

Concurred in this day.
JUNE 16, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce has the honour to
present its

THIRD REPORT
Your Committee recommends that it be authorized to sit while the House
is sitting.
Respectfully submitted,
LARRY PENNELL,
Chairman.

Concurred in June 26, 1964.
JuLy 9, 1964.

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce has the honour to
present its

F1rTH REPORT

Your Committee has considered Bill S-34, An Act to incorporate Nova

Scotia Savings and Loan Company, and has agreed to report it without
amendment.

A copy of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating to this Bill
(Issue No. 1) is appended.

Respectfully submitted,

LARRY PENNELL,
Chairman.

Note: The Second and Fourth Reports deal with Private Bills, Proceedings
. ) of which were not published.







MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, April 23, 1964.
(1)*
The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met this day at 10.10
o’clock a.m. for organization purposes.

Members present: Messrs. Addison, Aiken, Basford, Crouse, Flemming
(Victoria-Carleton), Gelber, Gendron, Gray, Hahn, Mackasey, Matte, Mc-
Cutcheon, McLean (Charlotte), Moreau, Olson, Pennell, Ryan, Rynard, Thomas,
Whelan (20).

The Clerk attending, and having called for nominations, Mr. Hahn moved,
seconded by Mr. McLean (Charlotte), that Mr. Pennell be elected Chairman of
the Committee.

There being no further nominations, Mr. Pennell was declared elected as
Chairman.

Mr. Pennell thanked the Committee for the honour conferred on him.

On motion of Mr. Moreau, seconded by Mr. Matte, Mr. Gendron was elected
Vice-Chairman.

On motion of Mr. Basford, seconded by Mr. Rynard,

Resolved,—That a Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure, comprising
the Chairman and six members to be designated by him, be appointed.

On motion of Mr. Moreau, seconded by Mr. Crouse,

Resolved,—That permission be sought from the House to print such papers
and evidence as may be ordered by the Committee.

On motion of Mr. Gelber, seconded by Mr. Thomas,

Resolved,—That the Committee recommend to the House that its quorum
be reduced from 15 to 10 members.

At 10.20 o’clock a.m., the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

M. Slack,
Clerk of the Committee.

TuESDAY, July 7, 1964.
(4)
The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.15 a.m. this
day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Berger, Basford, Cameron (High Park), Frenette,
Gendron, Gelber, Gray, Grégoire, Guay, Klein, Lloyd, Moreau, Morison, Otto,
Pennell, Ryan, Thomas, Vincent (18).

In attendance: Gerald Regan, M.P., Sponsor of Bill S-34; Hector McInnes,
Q.C., Parliamentary Agent; R. Guy, General Manager, Nova Scotia Savings and
Loan Company; Mr. K. R. MacGregor, Superintendent of Insurance.

On motion of Mr. Berger, seconded by Mr. Grégoire,

* The 2nd and 3rd meetings deal with Private Bills, for which Proceedings
were not published.



8 STANDING COMMITTEE

Resolved: That the Committee cause to be printed 750 copies in English and
300 in French of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating to Bills S-28
and S-34.

The committee first considered Bill S-28, the proceedings of which are
recorded separately.

The committee then proceeded to consideration of Bill S-34, An Act to
incorporate Nova Scotia Savings and Loan Company.

On the Preamble:

Mr. Regan, Sponsor of the Bill, introduced the Parliamentary Agent,
Mr. McInnes, and the witness, Mr. Guy.

Mr. MacGregor was called, made a statement and was questioned.

The Preamble, Clauses 1 to 14 inclusive, and the Title were severally
carried.

The Bill was carried without amendment.

Ordered: That Bill S-34 be reported without amendment.

At 12.20 p.m., on motion of Mr. Grégoire, the Committee adjourned until
3.00 p.m. to resume consideration of Bill S-28.

DOROTHY F. BALLANTINE,
Clerk of the Committee.




EVIDENCE

TUESDAY, July 7, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: I will call the Preamble of Bill No. S-34, An Act to
incorporate Nova Scotia Savings and Loan Company, and would invite the

sponsor, Mr. Regan, to introduce the parliamentary agent and any witnesses he
may wish to call.

Mr. REGAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee.

This is an act to incorporate the Nova Scotia Savings and Loan Company.
To explain the purpose of this legislation we have Mr. MacGregor, director of
insurance, and Mr. Hector MclInnes, solicitor and Parliamentary Agent. We
also have with us Mr. Ross Guy, general manager of the company.

I propose, if it is agreeable to the committee, to have Mr. MacGregor first
give an explanation of the purpose of this proposed legislation.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. MacGregor, would you kindly come forward

please? All members of the committee I am sure are aware that Mr. MacGregor
is the superintendent of insurance.

Mr. K. R. MACGREGOR (Superintendent of Insurance): Mr. Chairman and
honourable members, I feel that in view of the discussion and the hour I should
endeavour to be as brief as possible.

Although the form of this bill S-14 to incorporate Nova Scotia Savings
and Loan Company may appear to be rather unusual and perhaps a bit compli-
cated, actually its purpose is quite simple. Stated briefly, this bill would trans-
form a very old Nova Scotia building society called the Nova Scotia Saving,
Loan and Building Society, having a very peculiar form of capital, into a
federal joint stock loan company of the usual kind.

Looking at the bill, this purpose would be accomplished by first incorporat-
ing a new federal loan company called the Nova Scotia Savings and Loan
Company, and this part of the purpose is dealt with by clauses 1 to 7, inclusive.

Secondly, the new federal loan company would be given the power to
amalgamate with the existing provincial society, and that part of the purpose
is covered by clauses 8 to 13 inclusive.

Clause 14 at the end of the bill is included for technical reasons relating to
income tax.

May I simply say that the existing society was incorporated by the province
of Nova Scotia away back in 1849 and began business in 1850. It has operated
successfully for 114 years and during the last 40 years or more under the
supervision of our department, even though it is a provincial organization.

The purpose of the existing society has been to accept money from the
public in the form of deposits or debentures, or as capital—and I should like to
say a few words later about the peculiar nature of its capital-—and with these
funds to lend them out mainly on real estate mortgages. The society is in quite
a sound financial position.

At the end of 1963, the liability side of its balance sheet showed debentures
amounting to, and I will give round figures, $18,419,000. It had accepted deposits
amounting to $3,050,000 and had other miscellaneous liabilities amounting to
$327,000, making total liabilities of $21,796,000.

Still on the liability side of the balance sheet, it had capital in the amount
of $1,716,000, a general reserve of $1,200,000, special reserves of $383,000, and

9



10 STANDING COMMITTEE

a surplus or a balance in its profit and loss account of $117,000. When you add
the capital and these reserves to the total liabilities you get the society’s total
assets, namely, $25,212,000.

The question may be asked, what is the peculiar kind of capital of this
society? First of all these old building societies, although quite common in
England, have been quite uncommon in Canada and this to my knowledge is
the only one left of its kind here.

Mr. GELBER: Could you give me the capital reserve figures again?

Mr. MAcCGREGOR: The capital and reserves added together amount to

$3,416,000.

Mr. GELBER: What is the special reserve fund?

Mr. MAcGREGOR: The special reserve is $383,000, really against their mort-
gages, but the general reserve is $1,200,000.

Mr. GELBER: Does that come out of earnings or is that paid in reserves?

Mr. MAacGREGOR: It came out of earnings over the years.

Mr. GELBER: How old is the society?

Mr. MACGREGOR: 114 years.

Mr. GELBER: I see.

Mr. Ryan: You say the net worth now is $25 million?

Mr. MAcGREGOR: That is the total amount of assets, Mr. Ryan. The total is
$25,212,000.

Unlike an ordinary joint stock company, however, with permanent capital,
the capital of this society is of a temporary nature. Over the years in accordance
with its governing constitution and rules, it has sold shares to the public either
on a fully paid basis or on an instalment basis. The fully paid shares have been
sold for $240 and carry interest or a dividend of five per cent, which is not paid
out in cash but which accumulates, with the result that at the end of 14 years the
$240 share matures at double the amount, namely $480. At that time the share-
holder does not have the full say whether he may leave his money with the
company or not. It is up to the management of the company at that time to
decide whether they want to keep the money in whole or in part.

The instalment shares were sold on the basis of $2 per month payable for
101 months and they carry interest or a dividend of four per cent which also
accumulates, with the result that at the end of 101 months the instalment share
matures for $240. Sometimes in the past the $240 has been taken to purchase a
fully paid share.

However, members of the committee I am sure will readily see that capital
of this kind might be quite unstable, and it is conceivable, although it has never
happened to my knowledge, that the management might require upon maturity
that a lot of this capital be repaid, and the society might be left in the hands of
a relatively small group of management. That is one disadvantage of the present
situation; the instability that capital of this kind carries with it.

Secondly, of course, shares of this kind cannot be traded or listed on an
exchange.

Thirdly, the peculiar nature of this capital has given rise to very consider-
able uncertainty for income tax purposes. Over the years the income tax depart-
ment has seemingly had very considerable difficulty in making up its mind
whether the accumulating interest or dividends in respect of these shares should
be treated like bond interest and, therefore, allowed as a deduction from taxable
incor_ne of the society or whether it should be treated like dividends paid out of
earnings.

Back in 1938 an arrangement was made or an agreement was reached with
the income tax department, on an arbitrary basis whereby 60 per cent of these
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accumulations credited each year would be treated virtually as bond interest and
allowed as a deduction in respect of the taxable income of the society. The other
40 per cent wouldsnot be so treated. In 1957 the tax department changed its
mind again and said from that date on all of these accretions would be treated
the same as dividends and would be paid out of earnings. Consequently since
1957 the society has not been able to deduct any of these credits to its shares
as an expense for income tax purposes.

For all of these reasons the society for quite some time has been contem-
plating a transformation or change of its status so that it would be a joint stock
loan company of the usual kind. That is the whole purpose of this bill along
with the purpose, as I mentioned earlier, of changing from provincial to federal
status.

The ordinary and direct way to accomplish a transformation of a provincial
company to a federal company, and I am speaking more particularly of the
insurance field with which I am most familiar, would be to incorporate a new
federal company with power to take over by agreement the assets and liabilities
of the provincial company. However, this procedure gives rise to very sub-
stantial income tax under the Income Tax Act on the undistributed income of

the provincial company upon the winding up and disappearance of that
company. ;

That problem was recognized a good many years ago in the insurance field
because there were many provincial insurance companies coming to parliament
from time to time seeking federal status. So a special provision was put in the
Income Tax Act—section 82 subsection (15)—making it clear that there would
be no income tax incurred in an insurance case where no money would be paid
out to shareholders and it is simply a transformation from provincial to federal
status. However, that subsection does not apply to a loan company. This is
the first case in which we have had a provincial loan company seeking to
become a federal loan company. The only way in which that can be done under
the existing Income Tax Act without incurring a prohibitive tax is through
the amalgamation route utilizing section 85I of the Income Tax Act. This
whole procedure has been referred to the income tax department. As a result,
the society, the law clerk and parliamentary counsel of the Senate, and I think
all concerned, have a copy of a letter from the income tax department stating

that the procedure adopted in this bill carries their approval and they have no
objection to it.

I might say a word about one feature of the first seven clauses which, as
I mentioned, are really designed to incorporate the new federal loan company.

Hon. members will notice that the capital mentioned in clause 5 as required
to be subscribed and paid before the new company may commence business is
extremely small, being only $12,500, but in that connection I would draw the
attention of the committee to subclause (2) of clause 5 at the top of page 2
which makes it clear that prior to amalgamation the new company shall not
carry on any business except such as is necessary to consummate the
amalgamation. All that is necessary is to create the new federal loan company
as a vehicle to amalgamate with the existing provincial society. The existing
provincial society has a great deal of capital; it is in a good financial position.
The reason for the $12,500 which appears in clause 5 is simply to accord with
the minimum requirements of the Loan Companies Act under which this
company will operate.

A loan company must have a minimum of five directors, and the minimum

share qualification for a director is $2,500. That is where the $12,500 comes
from.
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I think it may be unnecessary to go through clauses 8 to 13 in detail, all
of which relate to the proposed amalgamation of the new federal loan company
with the existing provincial society. Clauses 8 to 13 may appear a little com-
plicated, but may I say that they follow very closely the amalgamation provi-
sions in the Loan Companies Act which apply generally to all federal loan
companies. The reason it is necessary to make special provision in this bill
for this case is that the amalgamation provisions in the Loan Companies Act
apply only to the amalgamation of two federal loan companies; they do not
apply to the amalgamation of a federal loan company with a provincial
company or society.

Members may ask if there is any precedent for this kind of amalgamation
procedure. In answer I may say that there is. In 1961 a federal trust company,
the Canada Permanent Trust Company, desired to amalgamate with an existing
provincial trust company, namely the Toronto General Trusts Corporation. A
special act of parliament was passed in 1961, being chapter 77 of the statutes
of that year.

I might say for the information of the committee that clauses 8 to 13 in
the present bill follow almost verbatim the corresponding sections of the special

act that was passed in 1961 amalgamating a federal trust company with a
provincial trust company.

Clause 14, being the final clause of the bill, is included for technical income
tax purposes, as I mentioned. I do not feel it is my responsibility to justify or
explain in detail an income tax clause; I would prefer to leave that to the society
itself or to the tax department. However, I have already stated that the tax
department has gone over the whole procedure and has approved it. Clause 14
is not there to enable the existing society to avoid tax; it is there for clarification
and to remove any possible doubt there might be of a technical nature that
this procedure is appropriate under section 85I of the Income Tax Act. As an
example, the first thing clause 14 states is that the amalgamation hereinbefore
referred to shall be deemed to be an amalgamation within the provisions of
section 85I.

Mr. LrLoyp: Mr. MacGregor, you have said that there was a letter from the
income tax department. Did that letter refer to this section of the act or the
wording of this act? Did the income tax department indicate that this particular
provision in the act was not objected to by them? I ask this because I think
that the answer may shorten the proceedings.

Mr. MacGREGOR: I will read, Mr. Lloyd, from a letter from the income tax
department addressed to Mr. E. Russell Hopkins, Law Clerk and Parliamentary
Counsel, the Senate, Ottawa:

Dear Sir: Re Nova Scotia Savings & Loan Company.

This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of May 12 regarding
the above mentioned company. As requested we have examined clause 14
and advise that this department has no objection to the inclusion of this
clause in the bill.

Mr. Lroyp: I submit, Mr. Chairman, that with such a document before us
that section would be covered.

Mr. MacGRreGor: I would say that the tax situation of this particular
society is not unknown to the income tax department; it has been the subject of
discussion for at least 30 odd years, to my knowledge, and as far as I can see it
has been discussed back almost to the beginning of the Income Tax Act.

Mr. Lroyp: Before we continue, may I say that I am satisfied with the
general explanation that Mr. MacGregor has given for our information. There
are one or two pertinent questions with respect to the actions of the company
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in fully advising its shareholders what it is doing and what steps they have
complied with to ensure that the interests of shareholders have been fully taken
care of. .

The CHAIRMAN: Are you directing these questions to Mr. MacGregor or to
Mr. McInnes?

Mr. LLoyp: These questions would be directed to Mr. McInnes.

Mr. MAcGREGOR: May I make one observation first? This bill, of course,
would become an act of parliament, and I am sure there may be questions in the
minds of the members with regard to the powers of the existing provincial
society to amalgamate and follow this procedure. I may say in this connection
that a special act of the Nova Scotia legislature was passed at the last session
to permit this and to provide for it precisely. That act is referred to at the top of
page 4, lines 2, 3 and 4. It is an act respecting the Nova Scotia Savings Loan
and Building Society, chapter 109 of the statutes of Nova Scotia, 1964.

Mr. Ryan: Has your department presently licensed the existing provincial
company in any way?

Mr. MACGREGOR: We do not license Nova Scotia loan and trust companies.
However, back in the early twenties an agreement was made between the gov-
ernment of Nova Scotia and in fact the government of New Brunswick too,
and later Manitoba, and the federal government, whereby our department
would inspect provincial loan and trust companies and virtually act in the same
capacity as their legislation requires some provincial official to act. Briefly, we
get annual statements from all loan and trust companies in Nova Scotia, New
Brunswick and Manitoba. We examine these companies annually at the head
office, but they are not licensed by us as federal companies are licensed.

Mr. Ryan: Does this company carry on business outside the province of
Nova Scotia?

Mr. MACGREGOR: It operates mainly in the Halifax-Dartmouth area but
also in southern New Brunswick.

Mr. Ryan: Is it strictly for income tax purposes that a federal act is being
sought here?

Mr. MACGREGOR: No. I think it is for competitive and prestige reasons that
it desires federal status. One of its biggest competitors is the Eastern Canada
Savings and Loan Company, which is a federal company.

Mr. RyaN: Under this proposed plan of amalgamation will the provincial
charter presently existing ultimately disappear or will there be a continuation
of both charters?

Mr. MACGREGOR: The provincial society and the new federal company will
merge and amalgamate as provided for under this bill so as to become one
corporate entity, and the two separate partners will disappear.

Mr. Lroyp: You said, Mr. MacGregor, that the provincial government passed
an act. I presume we would assume that when that act was passed all considera-
tions with respect to shareholders were fully examined by that legislative
authority?

Mr. MACGREGOR: I believe so, and I am satisfied that is so because a pro-
posed change in structure and status of this kind has been under consideration
in the society not just for a year but, to my knowledge, for at least six or
seven years.

The CHAIRMAN: Could Mr. McInnes come forward as we will start going
through the bill?

On the preamble.

Shall the preamble carry?

Preamble agreed to.
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Causes 1 to 7, inclusive, agreed to.
On clause 8—Amalgamation.

Mr. GELBER: I have a question on clause 8, Mr. Chairman. I presume that
all contracts undertaken by the previous company are enforceable by the suc-
cessor company?

Mr. MACGREGOR: Most certainly.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall clause 8 carry?

Clause agreed to. q
Clauses 9 to 14 inclusive, agreed to.

On the title.

Shall the title carry?

Title agreed to.

Shall I report the bill without amendment?

Some Hon. MEMBERS: Agreed.

The CHAIRMAN: The meeting is adjourned.

Q»
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE

July 9, 1964
The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce has the honour to
present its
SIXTH REPORT

Your Committee has considered Bill S-28, An Act respecting The Quebec
Board of Trade, and has agreed to report it with the following amendments:

Clause 1

Amend sub-clause (1) to read:
“The name of the Corporation, in English, is hereby changed to Board of

Trade of the District of Quebec, and, in French, to Chambre de Commerce du
District de Quebec.”
Clause 3

In line 4, delete the words “metropolitan area” and substitute therefor
the word “district”.

In paragraph (c), line 16, delete the words “metropolitan area” and sub-
stitute therefor the word ‘“district”.

A copy of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating to this Bill
(Issue No. 2) is appended.

Respectfully submitted,

LARRY PENNELL,
Chairman.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuUESDAY, July 7, 1964
(4)

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.15 a.m.
this day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Berger, Basford, Cameron (High Park), Gelber,
Frenette, Gendron, Gray, Grégoire, Guay, Klein, Lloyd, Moreau, Morison, Otto,
Pennell, Ryan, Thomas, Vincent (18).

In attendance: Mr. J.-C. Cantin, M.P., Sponsor of Bill S-28; Mr. Renault
St. Laurent, Counsel, Quebec Board of Trade; Mr. Roger Vezina, General
Manager, Quebec Board of Trade. Appearing in opposition: A. Begin, Chairman,
Levis Chamber of Commerce; R. Gauthier, Chairman, Lauzon Chamber of Com-
merce; M. Moffat, Secretary, Charlesbourg Chamber of Commerce; F. Boilard,
Chairman, Beauport Chamber of Commerce.

Also present: Dr. P. M. Ollivier, Q.C., Parliamentary Counsel.

The Chairman presented the First Report of the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure, which is as follows:

The following have been appointed to act, with the Chairman, on
the Sub-Committee on Agenda and Procedure: Messrs. Bell, C6té (Chi-
coutimi), Grégoire, Gendron, Nowlan and Scott.

Your Sub-Committee met on June 24, 1964, to consider the Notice
of Motion then standing in the Chairman’s name on the House Order
Paper for approval of the Committee’s Third Report, requesting power
to sit while the House is sitting.

Your Sub-Committee agreed to the Chairman’s suggestion that he
move the motion with the rider that the Committee will not sit while the
House is sitting unless there has first been agreement by the Sub-Com-
mittee.

On motion of Mr. Berger, seconded by Mr. Grégoire,

Resolved: That the Committee cause to be printed 750 copies in English
and 300 copies in French of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating
to Bills S-28 and S-34.

The Committee then proceded to consideration of Bill S-28, An Act respect-
ing the Quebec Board of Trade.

The Chairman explained that no French shorthand reporter was available
for this meeting and the members agreed to accept the English interpretation
of proceedings in French as part of the official record. (Note: It was later found
that, because of technical difficulties, it was impossible to transcribe all of the
morning proceedings and this portion of the evidence is therefore incomplete.)

On the Preamble

Mr. Cantin, M.P., the Sponsor of the Bill, introduced the Promoters, Mr.
St. Laurent and Mr. Vezina.

Mr. St. Laurent was called and made a statement.

o
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Mr. Guay introduced the witnesses appearing in opposition to the Bill, and
Mr. Begin stated the reasons for opposition.

Mr. St. Laurent and Mr. Vezina were questioned.

The Chairman interrupted the questioning to point out that witnesses
appearing in connection with another Bill were waiting and suggested that the
Committee should defer further consideration of Bill S-28 until S-34 had been
heard.

On motion of Mr. Basford, seconded by Mr. Gelber,

Resolved: That the Committee continue with consideration of Bill S-28
until 11.50 a.m., at which time the Committee will proceed to consideration of
Bill S-34.

And the questioning continuing, at 11.50 a.m. the Committee proceeded to
consideration of Bill S-34, the proceedings of which are recorded separately
in Proceedings No. 1.

The witnesses and Dr. Ollivier withdrew.

At 12.20 p.m., on motion of Mr. Grégoire, the Committee adjourned until
3.00 p.m. this day.

AFTERNOON SITTING

(5)
The Committee reconvened at 3.30 p.m. this day, the Chairman, Mr. Pen-
nell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Berger, Cameron (High Park), Gelber, Grégoire,
Guay, Klein, Lloyd, McCutcheon, Moreau, Morison, Pascoe, Pennell (12).

In attendance: The same as at the morning sitting.
The Committee resumed consideration of Bill S-28.

The Chairman said he understood that during the lunch adjournment the
promoters and opponents of the Bill had arrived at a solution satisfactory to both
parties.

Mr. St. Laurent was called and explained that the promoters were willing
to accept amendments to the Bill which would delete references to “Metropoli-
tan Quebec” and replace it by the phrase “District of Quebec”.

The Preamble was carried.
On Clause 1

Mr. Lloyd moved, seconded by Mr. Berger, that sub-clause (1) be amended
to read:

“The name of the Corporation, in English, is hereby changed to Board of
Trade of the District of Quebec, and, in French, to Chambre de Commerce du
District de Quebec.”

Sub-clauses 2 and 3 were carried.
Clause 1 was carried, as amended.

Clause 2 was carried.
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On Clause 3

Mr. Grégoire, seconded by Mr. Guay, moved that Clause 3 be amended by
deleting the words “metropolitan area” in line 4 and substituting therefor the
word “district”.

Paragraphs (a) and (b) were carried.

Mr. Berger, seconded by Mr. Guay, moved that paragraph (c) of Clause 3
be amended by deleting the words “metropolitan area” in line 16, and substi-
tuting therefor the word ‘“district”. Carried unanimously.

Paragraphs (d) to (g) inclusive were carried.

Clause 3 was adopted, as amended.

Clauses 4 to 15 inclusive and the Title were severally carried.

The Bill was carried, as amended.

Ordered: That Bill S-28 be reported, as amended.

Mr. St. Laurent thanked the Committee for their courteous hearing.
At 4.00 p.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.

Note: The Evidence which follows is incomplete.







EVIDENCE

Tuespay, July 7, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps I could say one word at this stage. So there is no
misunderstanding the committee members agree and the people appearing are
agreed that we carry on under the present arrangement. I understand also that
the other parties who are opposing the bill are agreed to this arrangement.
Does the committee agree to that?

Mr. Lroyp: There is one good thing about this arrangement, Mr. Chairman.
Those of us who are attempting to learn French will have the opportunity, if
these gentlemen speak a little more slowly, of following the discussion.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. St. Laurent would you kindly come forward please?

You have heard the discussion, and I would also appeal to you to be kind
enough to slow down from your usual speed of conversation. I will now give
you the floor in order that you may proceed to outline the purpose of the bill
before we start dealing with it in detail.

Mr. Renault ST. LAURENT (Counsel, Quebec Board of Trade): Mr. Chair-
man, with the 25 per cent Irish blood I have in my veins, if I may be permitted,
I will carry on in the language or tongue of my father’s mother.

Mr. Chairman, I have the honour to represent the board of trade of Quebec
which is the second oldest board of trade or chamber of commerce in Canada,
having been organized in 1809 not as a corporation but under the name of the
Quebec Committee of Trade. The purpose of that organization was to make
sure that there was solidarity of Quebec merchants who had to face the United
States competition in the West Indies market and the northern Europe competi-
tion in the English market.

At the time of its incorporation in 1842 it was incorporated under statute
which was passed during the period of the union of governments under the
name of Quebec Board of Trade. The name given to it in French then was Le
Bureau de Commerce de Québec.

I should like to point out here that the oldest board of trade or chamber
of commerce in Canada is the Halifax board of trade. I understand that one of
my confreres from Halifax is here this morning and I am pleased to mention
that fact in his presence.

The purpose of our bill, Mr. Chairman, is to modernize and consolidate the
corporate structure of the Quebec chamber of commerce, or board of trade,
and to change its name in English and French. This does not involve a complete
change of name. We wish to add to the name the word “metropolitan” in English
and “metropolitain” in French, the name then being in English, the Board of
Trade of Metropolitan Quebec and in French, la Chambre de Commerce de
Québec Métropolitain.

The act repeals all former statutes which relate to the corporation and the
bill in itself amounts to a restatement of the corporation’s organization, its func-
tions, duties and powers.

The problem that seems to exist at the present time as far as those who may
be opposed to our bill is concerned relates to the fact that we are asking to
add the word “metropolitan” to our name. Perhaps it might be good here to
mention what the dictionaries say about “metropolitan”. Unfortunately I do
not have an accurate definition of the word in English from the Webster or

21
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Oxford dictionaries, but according to French dictionaries, and I should like to
refer to the French Robert dictionary, the definition of metropolitan indicates
that this word has reference or applies to a capital. According to Larousse the
word metropolitain refers to the capital of a state. According to Quillet this word
refers to a capital, and by extension to a large city.

Our proposal, Mr. Chairman, of adding the word “metropolitan” and
“metropolitain” to our corporate name is to better define in the mind of the
public, and in especially the minds of some 5,000 people who are in corre-
spondence annually with the board of trade from outside Quebec, the territory
which for many years has been the object of the Quebec board of trade’s major
endeavours.

I should like here to mention some of the things that the board of trade
of Quebec has been doing in the interest of the metropolitan area. It has, for
instance, worked for the sharing of the sales tax for the whole Quebec region.
It has initiated inquiries on tourism for the entire region. It has promoted and
organized what is well known to all of you gentlemen, the famous winter car-
nival which has been most profitable not only to metropolitan Quebec. I was
told by the president of the carnival last year that for the last week end of
festivities, rooms were reserved from Three Rivers down to St. Jean-Port Joli
to accommodate people from everywhere who had come for this last week end
of the carnival. Surely this initiative is of great benefit to metropolitan Quebec,
the district of Quebec and a greater region than the one covered by the district
of Quebec, and I speak now of the judicial district of Quebec.

The board of trade has participated in the preparation of or has prepared
a report on the cement industry which eventually brought about the estab-
lishment of one of the largest and most modern cement plants in Canada. That
plant is situated in the municipality known as Villeneuve. Villeneuve is out-
side the limits of the city of Quebec but it is within what mght be known as
metropolitan Quebec.

Several studies were made and reports submitted in respect of the port
of Quebec, all for the purpose of directing more trade to the port of Quebec.

The Quebec board of trade has made representations and submitted reports
in connection with improving air services for the metropolitan area and for
the establishment of a new airport, which airport as you all know is not located
within the city limits but within another suburban municipality known as
Ancienne Lorette.

Recommendations have been made by the Quebec board of trade in respect
of the establishment of a postal terminal and we also are responsible, to some
extent, for the door to door mail delivery in the whole area, not only within
the limits of the city of Quebec.

In 1954-55 the Quebec board of trade was most anxious to establish a year
round contact by highway with Chicoutimi, and the government was not con-
vinced that this was—the expression in French is “rentable”. The board of
trade took the initiative of accepting subscriptions from several members of
the board who invested an amount of $10,000 to keep that road open or part
of the road open and eventually convinced the government that it was feasible
and was in the interest of improved trade and industry in that whole area.

The Quebec board of trade submitted a brief supporting the establishment
of a t.v. station in Quebec and has also worked towards the establishment of
a C.B.C. t.v. station which is about to go into operation shortly. The first sta-
tion was established in Quebec in 1954. It is a private station.

The board of trade of Quebec also submitted a brief to the Fowler com-
mission on radio and t.v., and I think I am not mistaken when I say that it
was probably the only one which presented such a brief to the commission:
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The Quebec board of trade presented a brief on the economic prospects of
the Quebec metropolitan region. This brief was submitted in 1958 to the royal
commission on economic prospects in Canada.

The board submitted briefs on export trade and has taken part in arbitra-
tion of business hours in the entire Quebec region. It has published a tourist
map on one side covering old Quebec and on the other side the whole area, and
I think last year distributed 35,000 copies of that map. Surely, gentlemen, this
was not just done for the city of Quebec.

I am taking the time of this committee to mention these things simply to
establish that the Quebec board of trade does not have limited activities, but
activities which spread beyond the limits of the city of Quebec, and have been
most beneficial to the whole area which comprises 10 or 12 local boards.

There has also been some work done in connection with improving the
highways, and there was a brief submitted in connection with the installation
of an ocean liner terminal at Wolfe’s cove which has been in operation now
for many years.

The board initiated a study in respect of the improvement of rail commu-
nications and, as you all know, there is now a fast train that runs out of Quebec
in the morning travelling to Montreal in two hours and 45 minutes, returning
to Quebec in the evening, enabling the businessman to make a business trip
to Montreal, and vice versa, at a very attractive travelling rate. I submit that
the Quebec board of trade had a lot to do in that connection.

The responsibilities and preoccupations of the Quebec board of trade, or
of a board of trade which has its head office in the principal urban agglomeration
of the metropolitan region, are definitely different I submit, from the board of
a suburban municipality which can think and operate locally and is localized
in its interests.

Some objection may be made to the fact that there might be some confusion
with the name of a corporation which is not a board of trade or chamber of
commerce and which was created at the initiative of the Quebec board of trade
some years ago. This corporation is known in French as ‘“Le Bureau d’industrie
et de Commerce de Québec, Inc”., and in English as: “Industry and Trade Board
of Greater Quebec Inc.” That organization or corporation was founded for the
purpose of promoting and developing industries which were already established,
and to look around to see if there was a possibility of finding new industries to
establish themselves in the region of Quebec. The purpose of that corporate
entity, different from the Quebec board of trade, was to do certain things which
the Quebec board of trade might have wanted to do if they had been within its
jurisdiction, and to obtain the financial co-operation of local boards to undertake
certain things which were quite costly.

At the time when this was created the industrial commissioner of the city
of Quebec had ceased to exist. It was felt that instead of having a man who
was appointed and paid by the city of Quebec to act as industrial commissioner
they would create this new corporation which would fulfil the functions that
had been carried out by the person who had been in the position of industrial
commissioner of the city of Quebec.

With your permission, Mr. Chairman, before completing my presentation I
would like to refer to the fact that Quebec city is the capital of the province
of Quebec, Greater Quebec or metropolitan Quebec embraces an area in which
possibly 350,000 people reside. It is felt by the Quebec board of trade that
because of its situation it would be quite proper for it to be given the right to
add to its name the word “metropolitan”. It feels that in some respects it is in
the same position in the province of Quebec as is Winnipeg in Manitoba, Van-
couver in British Columbia or Toronto in Ontario. It was not very long ago, Mr.
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Chairman, that the Toronto board of trade obtained from your committee the
right to add to its name the word “metropolitan”.

I would like to point out here that the matter of prestige is very important
as far as the Quebec board of trade is concerned, because the Quebec board
of trade has representation on the Chamber of Commerce of Canada and is also
represented on the council of the International Chamber of Commerce. It is felt
that because of the things it has done in the past and the things it is called
upon to do, its prestige would be increased if the word “metropolitan” was added
to its name. This addition gives no additional power whatsoever. It does not
give any jurisdiction over the other areas. The local boards can continue to do
the things they have done in the past; it simply adds to the prestige of the
Quebec board nationally and internationally.

Furthermore, I would like to point out that of the approximately 1,500
members of the Quebec board of trade, about one third are not domiciled and
do not reside within the limits of the city of Quebec. All the important and
large industries in that area—and I think that covers the south shore also—
are members of the Quebec board of trade.

In case the committee is interested, Mr. Chairman, I have here a list, which
may not be the final list but which is a long list, of corporations and of individu-
als who are successful in business in that large metropolitan area and who are
active members of the Quebec board of trade.

That, Mr. Chairman, covers my submission.

The CHAIRMAN: Acting upon the advice of the two authorities surrounding
me here, I would suggest that Mr. Guay should introduce those who are oppos-
ing this bill, that they then make an opening statement, and that we will then
come back to the preamble and to the witnesses.

Mr. St. Laurent, would you be good enough to stand down for the moment.

Mr. Guay, are you introducing witnesses or are you speaking to the bill?

Mr. Guay: I will introduce, Mr. Chairman.

(Interpretation) :

Mr. Guay: Mr. Chairman, contrary to rumours in the area of Quebec, I
do not wish to object to this bill for chauvinistic reasons. If I oppose it, it is
because I know the problems in this region in the province of Quebec very well.
I must admit that within the regional organization the problems which concern
metropolitan Quebec are not necessarily the same as those of Quebec or the city
of Quebec.

The most pertinent argument to my mind is that of the autonomy of the
chambers of commerce. Autonomy means just one thing, and that is that in the
next two or three years the regional chambers will perhaps disappear.

(Text)

Mr. BAasrorp: Mr. Chairman, I thought Mr. Guay was simply introducing
the people who are opposing this bill. Is he making a statement in connection
with the bill?

The CHAIRMAN: I was not sure whether Mr. Guay was acting as a spokes-
man on the preliminary explanation or whether he was going to introduce the
witnesses who would give the explanation. Would you be kind enough to clear
that up in the minds of the committee, Mr. Guay? Are you going to give the
explanation of your group’s position in so far as the group is concerned?
(Interpretation)

Mr. Guay: I do not take the place of those who are going to give testi-
mony; I simply wish to make a preliminary statement.

I have received 30 to 35 telegrams from chambers of commerce. We have 4
witnesses with us this morning.
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The board of trade for metropolitan Quebec is looking after the interests of
this region and the regional board of trade which groups 12 boards of trade . ..

* * *

Note: The remainder of the proceedings of the morning sitting is not avail-
able. (See Minutes of Proceedings.)

AFTERNOON SITTING

The CHAIRMAN: I call the committee to order.

I am happy to report that there have been some negotiations between the
applicant and the respondent. Perhaps Mr. St. Laurent will explain just what
agreement they have reached.

Mr. St. LAURENT: I am sure it was the desire of the board of trade of
Quebec, as well as of the other boards of trade who are represented here, to
try to reach some agreement that would put an end to this discussion which
seemed to be going to last much longer than any one of us would have hoped.
So, after consulting with the powers that be so far as the Quebec board of trade
is concerned, I came here this afternoon to propose—and this has been sug-
gested—to those who were objecting to the word “metropolitan” that we drop
the word “metropolitan” and replace it by the words “district of Quebec” so
the name of the corporation, in English, would be The Board of Trade of the
District of Quebec and in French it would be la Chambre de Commerce du
District de Québec. We would make a further change in section 3 in the first
paragraph where reference is made to the metropolitan area of Quebec, replac-
ing that term by the words “of the city and district of Quebec in particular
and of the province of Quebec and Canada in general”. We suggest in sec-
tion 3 (c¢) that the words in the 16th line, “and metropolitan area of Quebec”,
be replaced by “and district of Quebec” so that it would read “and other trades
in the city and district of Quebec”.

Mr. MoreAU: I presume, Mr. Chairman, this will still satisfy the status
seeking on the part of the Quebec Board of Trade.

Mr. St. LAURENT: In line four of section 3 the words “metropolitan area
of Quebec” should be replaced by the words “district of Quebec”.

The CualrRMAN: Do I take it, Mr. St. Laurent, that you are proposing three
amendments in clause 1 and the same amendment twice in clause 3? Am I
correct?

Mr. St. LAURENT: Yes. The name of the corporation in English and
French will be changed in section 1 by, in the English text, replacing the words
“Board of Trade of Metropolitan Quebec” by the words “Board of Trade of
the District of Quebec”. That is, we suggest the deletion of the word “metro-
politan” and the substitution of the words “the district”. In the French text
the words would be “la Chambre de Commerce du District de Québec”, deleting
the word ‘““métropolitain”.

Mr. GREGOIRE: Accepté.

Mr. St. LAURENT: Mr. Chairman, in clause 3 (c¢) we would replace the
words “metropolitan area” by the word ‘“district’”. It would then read “in
the city and district of Quebec”.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you finished, Mr. St. Laurent?
Mr. St. LAURENT: Yes, I have.

The CHARMAN: Will Mr. Guay please say something so we will be sure
that we are on common ground. Is the proposed amendment agreeable to those
who were opposing the original bill?

Mr. Guay: Yes, it is.
The CHAIRMAN: You have nothing more to add?
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Mr. Guay: No.

The CHAIRMAN: I suggest that we consider the sections and when we reach
the necessary stage someone from the body of the committee should move the
necessary amendment.

I call the preamble. Shall the preamble carry?
Preamble agreed to.

On clause 1—Name in English and French.
Shall clause 1 carry?

Mr. LLoyp: I move that clause 1, subsection (1) be amended as recom-
mended. '

Mr. BERGER: I second the motion.

The CHAIRMAN: It is moved by Mr. Lloyd, seconded by Mr. Berger, that
clause 1 subclause (1) be amended as recommended to the committee.

Amendment agreed to.

Clause 1, as amended, agreed to.

Clause 2 agreed to.

On clause 3—Objects.

Mr. GREGOIRE: I move the amendment, seconded by Mr. Guay, that the
clause be amended as recommended.

The CHAIRMAN: There is now a motion to amend clause 3. It is moved by
Mr. Grégoire, seconded by Mr. Guay, that clause 3 be amended to read:

The objects of the corporation are to promote the development of any
lawful trade or industry, and to foster the economic and social welfare
of the city and district of Quebec in particular, and of the province of
Quebec and Canada in general...

Amendment agreed to.

We now come to 3(c).

Mr. BErGER: I move that we change subclause (c¢) as recommended.

The CHAIRMAN: It is moved by Mr. Berger and seconded by Mr. Guay that

subsection (c) be amended to read:

(c) to organize, if necessary, a stock exchange and to promote the cen-
tralization of the grain, produce, provision and other trades in the
city and district of Quebec.

Amendment agreed to.

Clause 3 as amended agreed to.

Clauses 4 to 15, inclusive, agreed to.

Title agreed to.

Does the bill carry as amended? Shall I report the bill as amended?

Bill as amended agreed to.

There is one other matter.

I would like to congratulate the respondents and the applicants. It was

quite a lesson to the English Canadians to see how well our French Canadian
confreres can resolve their differences.

Mr. ST. LAURENT: I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, for having given
us all this time. I wish to express my sincere thanks to the committee for having
been so patient with us. Possibly we were not too clear in our explanations at
some times but I gather that now we have reached this agreement the com-

nlx)ittee is satisfied. I am sure the Quebec board of trade will be very happy
about it.
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The CHAIRMAN: Due to the electronic mechanisms we were unable to get
all the translations this morning, and this now poses a problem. In view of
the happy resolution of our differences I would welcome a suggestion from the
committee.

Mr. GREGOIRE: The solution I might suggest is that the Chairman of the

committee report to the house that it is necessary to instal mechanical devices

or electric tape recorders in all committee rooms.

The CHAIRMAN: I might further point out that this room wil soon be
ready for the same type of equipment as that installed in room 308.

Mr. GREGOIRE: We have it now.
The CHAIRMAN: It is not quite finished.

Mr. GrREGOIRE: I think we have been told that our remarks have been
recorded.

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps Mr. Small can tell us.

Mr. Alex SMALL (Director of Legislative Services, House of Commons):
There is just a shortage of connecters. Once the connecters are available this
will be set up in the same manner as room 308. Our next phase will be to go
into all other committee rooms as quickly as possible.

The CHAIRMAN: In the meantime, however, we all appreciate Mr. Grand-
maison coming here.

Mr. GREGOIRE: If the report does not make sense, then there is no point
in having it printed.

Mr. LLoyp: Leave that to the steering committee.
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ORDERS OF REFERENCE

MonbpAy, July 13, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Kelly be substituted for that of Mr.
Guay on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

WEDNESDAY, July 15, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mrs. Jones be substituted for that of Mr.
Chaplin on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

THURSDAY, July 30, 1964.

Ordered,—That Bill S-37, An Act respecting The Guarantee Company of

North America, be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and Com-
merce.

(Note: The Proceedings on this Private Bill were not printed.)

Monpay, September 21, 1964.

Ordered,—That Bill S-35, An Act to amend the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act, be referred to the Standing Committee on Banking and
Commerce.

WEDNESDAY, September 30, 1964.

Ordered,—That the names of Messrs. Greene and Munro be substituted for

those of Messrs. Morison and Kelly on the Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce.

Attest.

LEON-J. RAYMOND,
The Clerk of the House
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, October 1, 1964.
(7

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.10 a.m. this
day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Aiken, Armstrong, Basford, Cameron (Nanaimo-
Cowichan-The Islands), Cété (Chicoutimi), Douglas, Gelber, Gendron, Gray,
Greene, Macaluso, McLean (Charlotte), More, Nowlan, Otto, Pennell, Ryan,
Rynard, Vincent, Whelan—(20).

In attendance: The Hon. Mitchell Sharp, Minister of Trade and Commerce;
Mr. W. E. Duffett, Dominion Statistician; Dr. S. A. Goldberg, Assistant Do-
minion Statistician; Mr. D. C. Blyth, Director, National Accounts and Balance
of Payments Division, Dominion Bureau of Statistics; Mr. D. A. Traquair, Ad-
ministrator, Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act, Department of Trade
and Commerce; Mr. H. F. Herbert, Director, Planning and Development
Branch, Department of National Revenue.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of Bill S-35, An Act to amend
the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act.

On motion of Mr. Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands), seconded
by Mr. Whelan,

Resolved,—That the Committee cause to be printed 750 copies in English
and 300 copies in French of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating
to Bill S-35.

On Clause 1
The Chairman called Clause 1 and introduced the witnesses.

The Minister made a brief statement and answered questions, assisted by
Mr. Duffett, Mr. Herbert and Mr. Traquair.

The questioning being concluded, the Minister withdrew.

Mr. Douglas, seconded by Mr. Aiken, moved that the Canadian Labour
Congress and the Canadian Chamber of Commerce be given the opportunity
of appearing before the Committee, and if they wish to do so they should
be asked to so indicate to the Chairman within a week.

Mr. Cété (Chicoutimi) moved, seconded by Mr. Gendron, that the Que-
bec Federation of Labour and the Confederation of National Trade Unions
also be given the opportunity to appear.

The motion, as amended, was carried.

At 11.50 o’clock a.m., on motion of Mr. Gray, the Committee adjourned to
the call of the Chair.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE

THURSDAY, October 1, 1964.

(All the evidence adduced in French and translated into English was
recorded by an electronic recording apparatus, pursuant to a recommendation
contained in the Seventh Report of the Special Committee on Procedure and
Organization, presented and concurred in, on May 20, 1964.)

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I see a quorum and I invite you to come to
order.

The matter before the committee this morning is the consideration of Bill
No. S-35, to amend the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act.

I might say that there is one formality which I suggest we should deal
with at once, and this is a motion in regard to printing. I would invite a
motion from the committee that we receive authorization for printing. For your
guidance I might say that in the past the committee has authorized the printing
of 750 copies in English and 300 copies in French of the minutes of proceedings
and evidence. I merely mention that for your information.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I move that authoriza-
tion be given for the printing of 750 copies in English and 300 copies in French.

Mr. WHELAN: I second that motion.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for the question? All those in favour? All
those opposed?

Motion agreed to.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we are privileged to have with us this morn-
ing the Hon. Mitchell Sharp, Minister of Trade and Commerce, who needs no
introduction. On his immediate right is Walter E. Duffett, dominion statistician.
To his right is Mr. D. A. Traquair, administrator of the Corporations and
Labour Unions Returns Act. We also have Mr. H. F. Herbert, director of the
planning and development branch of the Department of National Revenue,
Dr. S. A. Goldberg, assistant dominion statistician of the dominion bureau of
statistics and Mr. C. D. Blyth, director of the bureau of statistics who is also
connected with the international balance of payments division.

With your approval I will follow the usual procedure, that is to call the
first clause of the bill, and then I will invite the Minister of Trade and Com-
merce to make a statement. Following his statement I will open the meeting
to questions so that we can hear the witnesses who are now before us.

On clause 1—Relieving provision.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall clause 1 carry?
I will now invite the minister to make a statement if he wishes.

Hon. MiTcHELL SHARP (Minister of Trade and Commerce): Mr. Chairman,
gentlemen, during the second reading of this bill I described its purpose. Per-
haps for the convenience of the committee I might summarize it very briefly.
At the present time the corporations covered by the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act are required to supply financial information of a similar
kind to both the dominion statistician and to the Department of National
Revenue. Undoubtedly there is a duplication here for the taxpayer. Indeed, the
duplication is of such a character that many corporations supply to the domin-
ion statistician, under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act, finan-
cial information which they already supply under the Income Tax Act. Some
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of them say ‘“Here are the returns we filed. They seem to us to satisfy your
requirement as well as the income tax requirements.”

There is also duplication within the government. The dominion statistician
is required to tabulate, analyse and publish the information he receives under
this act. The Minister of National Revenue follows an almost identical operation
in the course of producing the “green book” of taxation statistics. Having in
mind this duplication, the cabinet directed that a study be made of the econ-
omies that might be achieved by minimizing or eliminating the duplication,
and after consultation among all the interested departments the dominion sta-
tistician recommended the amendments proposed by this bill.

In brief, these amendments eliminate the need for filing a separate financial
statement under this act by giving the dominion statistician access to the finan-
cial statements filed with the Department of National Revenue by corporations.
In order to protect the secrecy of the income tax returns the bill eliminates or
removes the strictly limited access that was given to certain government
officials for policy reasons to individual returns which are now filed under the
Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act.

Perhaps I should say a word about that because some members of the
committee may be concerned about restricting access to information that is
now supplied under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act. The
study that the cabinet put in hand revealed that the policy needs of the gov-
ernment departments for information about corporations could be satisfied
either from other sources or from summaries prepared by the dominion
statistician which did not disclose the operation of individual firms. This is an
important point. I noticed that there are some members in the house who
were critical of this bill because it enlarged access to financial information
filed by corporations under the Income Tax Act. Less attention was paid to
the more important effect of this bill which was to protect or to restore the
secrecy of financial information given by individual corporations which was
required to be filed under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act.
However, as I have said, the study that was put in hand by the dominion
statistician at the request of the cabinet showed that it was not necessary to
make all the returns filed under this act available to government officials for
policy purposes, that all the needs could be satisfied either by asking the cor-
porations to let the government have access to information that they requested
or, alternatively, by summaries which did not reveal the position of individual
corporations.

During discussions on second reading several members asked me to express
an opinion on the utility of the act itself. My general comment on this question
is that it is premature to reach a conclusive opinion on how useful this act is,
and I do not think that either I or any member of this committee could reach
a conclusion until the first report is published, and that will be some time before
the end of the year.

Looking at the speech made by the then minister of justice, Mr. Davie
Fulton when he introduced this bill, it seems to me that he made rather
extravagant claims. On the other hand, there is no doubt that this act will
provide a good deal of interesting information not now available about the
extent of foreign ownership, as well as information about a variety of payments
to non-residents such as dividends, interests, royalties, classified in a way that
was never possible before. The dominion statistician can, of course, testify that
this is so. So that while I think that some of the expectations aroused by Mr.
Fulton cannot be realized, my present view is that the act will provide useful
information as a background for policy decisions.
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Now, as with any novel piece of legislation, experience has shown that
this act has some deficiencies. It is our view, however, that it would be pre-
mature to propose substantive amendments. The amendment that is before you
today is not a substantive amendment going to the root of this legislation. It
deals only with administration and with the simplification of methods of
collection. However, I do not think that we should propose substantive amend-
ments until there has been an opportunity for the government, for parliament,
and for the public, to study the first report and to ascertain whether the in-
formation that is available and can be published is of a kind that the govern-
ment and parliament and the public need for the purpose of studying this very
serious question of the extent and implications of foreign ownership.

The CHAIRMAN: Thank you, Mr. Sharp. Before I invite questions from the
committee I suggest that you may direct questions to any one of the witnesses.
If they feel, in their collective wisdom, that another witness can better answer
the question, they will pass it along.

There will be a further meeting of the steering committee, as the present
witnesses do not necessarily include all the witnesses that the committee may
wish to hear. That question was raised earlier on and I am bringing it to your
attention. As you raise your hand, the Chair will attempt to state your names.
I invite questions at this time.

Mr. AIRKEN: Mr. Chairman, I have several questions and some of them
I want to address to the other officials who are here. Firstly, I would like to
address a question to the representative of the Department of National
Revenue, Mr. Herbert.

Mr. Herbert, what concerns me, and what did concern me on second
reading of the bill, was the fact that there appears to be some change in
the security provisions of income tax returns of a corporation. I appreciate
that the dominion statistician is a government official and that there is a good
deal of security within the department, but does the Department of National
Revenue have any concern at all for the increase in the number of the people
who may examine income tax returns?

Mr. H. F. HERBERT (Director, Planning and Development Branch Depart-
ment of National Revenue): We certainly would not want to see the gates
opened wide to the examination of income tax returns. I think the public
of this country was quite well satisfied in the past with the confidentiality of
the information they gave us, but I must say that in the case of the dominion
bureau of statistics we regard their reputation for the preservation of secrecy
as equal to if not exceeding our own. To tell a few tales out of school, there
were times in the past when we would have liked to receive information from
them for our purposes and we have been shown the door.

Mr. AIKEN: But this situation is now going to be changed because you
are now going to have an interchange of information.

Mr. HERBERT: We still cannot get the information. This is very one-sided.
The dominion statistician is now to have access to information from corpora-
tions although under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act he
does have access to about 90 per cent of the information anyway.

Mr. SHARP: This question was raised by Mr. Lambert when he asked what
was the degree of similarity between the information provided under this
act and under the Income Tax Act with respect to financial information. As
Mr. Herbert has said already, we receive, under this act, 90 per cent of the
financial information that is provided under the Income Tax Act. Therefore,
as far as the corporations that do report under this act are concerned, we
already obtain, under this act, the information that is provided under the
Income Tax Act, with certain exceptions that are rather irrelevant.
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Mr. AIKEN: That was my next question. I think perhaps I should address
it to Mr. Duffett. I would like to know what information is contained in the
income tax returns that is not contained under the bill we are considering,
for example, the statements of assets and liabilities, statements of receipts
and disbursements of a corporation now included under the Corporations and
Labour Unions Returns Act.

Mr. WALTER E. DUFFETT (Dominion Statistician, Dominion Bureau of Statis-
tics): We are aware that this was a matter of concern to you, Mr. Aiken.
What we have done is to have a copy made of the corporation income tax
returns, and we have designated on it those items which are already obtained
by the dominion bureau of statistics under this legislation and those items
which are not, the latter being additional information to which we would
have access. Now, if the committee would like to see samples they could
be made available for you to look at.

Mr. AIREN: I would like that very much. There are a few things which I
would like to find out specifically, and one of them relates to assets, liabilities,
receipts and disbursements; in other words annual statements. Are they now
included in the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act?

Mr. DUFFETT: Yes. As Mr. Sharp pointed out, a number of corporations,
in accordance with the provisions of the labour unions returns act, simply
provided us with copies of financial statements such as they supply to the
Department of National Revenue. It is provided in the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act that this is acceptable.

Mr. AIRKEN: My next question is directed to the minister. I am sure that
the government wants to maintain the security of income tax returns, there-
fore would it not be more in keeping with democratic principles to permit a
corporation to file a notice with the dominion statistician under this act, per-
mitting him to examine its income tax returns, rather than to make it com-
pulsory? Maybe this would bring about the same result, but would it not
perhaps be better to allow it to be done on a voluntary basis rather than
opening the gate in any way to an examination of income tax returns?

Mr. SHARP: This is now permitted and some corporations do it. I have some
examples here which, however, I do not think it is necessary to put forward
because I think the point is well understood. Voluntary action would still leave
the administration of it very complicated and would also have the effect I
think that some corporations would be a little concerned about providing this
financial information on the misunderstanding that they were giving it to
someone who might reveal it.

Mr. AIXEN: I am sorry, perhaps you misunderstood me. My question was
not directed towards filing a copy of the income tax return but merely towards
filing a permission for the dominion statistician to examine it, as is provided
in this act in a compulsory manner. Is this done?

Mr. SHARP: Perhaps the dominion statistician, who has had more ex-
perience with this, could answer it better.

Mr. DurreETT: This is indeed a possibility, and this is what is done now.
It says that the corporations may do this if they wish, and they do.

Mr. AIREN: Do they file a copy of their income tax return with you or
do they merely file permission with you to examine it?

Mr. DurreTT: No, they file a copy of a financial statement which is identi-
cal to the one filed with the department. A number of corporations have, in
addition, when filling out the claim for exemption that was provided for all
corporations, pointed out to us that this information is filed with the income
tax department. They have also suggested to us that it should be utilized there.
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Now, to pursue your question a little further as to whether it might not
be a good idea to make this thing voluntary, the economies involved in this
proposal are of two kinds, one is an effort to reduce the duplicate reporting by
corporations, and the other is to make it possible for the dominion bureau of
statistics to take over the publication of the book on taxation statistics which
is published by the Department of National Revenue. This will make it pos-
sible to eliminate a very expensive kind of internal duplication that exists
within the government. For this purpose it is of course necessary for us to
have access to the returns of all companies.

Mr. A1REN: Well, Mr. Chairman, I do not want to take the time of other
members at this meeting but there is just one more question which I should
like to ask now, and then I could perhaps come back later.

Since the bill has become public knowledge have any representations been
received from any individual corporations or organizations either in favour of
or in opposition to the bill? Have there been briefs submitted on behalf of
organizations such as the chamber of commerce, in opposition to the provisions
of the bill?

Mr. DurreTT: No, the bill became public knowledge when it was presented
to the Senate in June. We have not heard any objections from any corporations
or individuals. The bill has received a fair amount of publicity through various
financial services. We have not received any formal representations in favour
of it. We have had occasional conversations with chartered accountants, and
members of my staff have met in Montreal during the summer with the Cana-
dian Institute of Chartered Accountants, and in informal conversations the
idea was commended. This was not put on the formal agenda. If it had been
a matter of concern to them, they would have put it on their agenda, I assume.

Mr. AIkeN: I think that the cutting down of the filing of returns is a very
worthy objective, and to that extent I have no objection to the bill. It is
merely the cutting down of paperwork at the expense of security that concerns
me. I should be glad to defer to some other member of the committee.

Mr. McLean (Charlotte): Is it not true that any shareholder of a corpo-
ration can obtain a financial statement of the corporation? I believe it is not
secret. Your share is not published but you can write in and get the financial
statement of the company.

Mr. SHARP: You can get the financial statement that is published, but I

am not sure that you can get the one that is filed with the income tax depart-
ment!

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): There is some difference there. They will tell
you the amount of their sales but they will not write them down. If this is so,
I do not see where the secrecy comes in. I can see that in the case of individuals
there would be quite an amount of secrecy, but I do not see it in regard to
corporations. Is this going to increase the paperwork of the corporations?

Mr. SHARP: It is going to reduce the paperwork considerably.

Mr. McLEAN (Charlotte): Because we are getting too much paperwork
now in the corporations.

Mr. MacaLuso: Mr. Duffett, in reading the proceedings of the Senate com-
mittee on banking and commerce I was concerned to see that almost 90 per
cent of the same companies are tabulated by the Department of National Rev-
enue as by the dominion bureau of statistics.

Mr. DUrFrFETT: It may not be 90 per cent. The Department of National
Revenue tabulates roughly 28,000 companies. We will be tabulating between
25,000 and 35,000 companies. Many of these companies are the same, in fact
the vast majority of them are the same because it is my understanding that
the Department of National Revenue tabulate all the large companies and a
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sample of the smaller ones. Perhaps Mr. Herbert could better answer this in
detail.

Mr. HERBERT: Our analysis in producing our “green book” is done in part
on a hundred per cent examination of large returns and a sampling of small
returns. The aggregate number that we analyse is very close to the aggregate
number which the dominion bureau of statistics analyse, and to the extent that
we are both looking at the large ones this is where the 90 per cent relativity
comes in. It is not 90 per cent in terms of numbers but 90 per cent in terms of
total profits and total assets. As you know, many of the returns which are filed
with us are very small, many of them are semidormant or inactive companies,
but they still must file returns under the income tax law. These are probably
of minimum value to d.b.s.

Mr. MacaLuso: As I understand it, the purpose of the bill is to eliminate
filing by one company of two returns. I also understand that the two depart-
ments would collaborate and that d.b.s. would be able to take over the function
of the Department of National Revenue and would make use of their informa-
tion. The only problem is the problem of security, of the officials of d.b.s. obtain-
ing information from the Department of National Revenue dealing with cap-
ital stocks, payable taxes, revenues received, and so on, and of this information
getting out to other parties and to the public.

Mr. SuARP: One of the points that may be overlooked is that under the
act itself and under a section that is not being amended the corporations
covered by the act are required to provide information about shareholdings
that is published and that is available to the public.

Mr. MacaLuso: That is generally available anywhere?

Mr. Suarp: No. If you look at the information requested under section
(A) you will find that the information is directed towards ascertaining the
extent of foreign ownership, and that is information that is available to any
taxpayer or to any Canadian. That information is published.

Mr. MacarLuso: It is general public knowledge.
Mr. SHARP: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this clause?

Mr. AikeN: Mr. Chairman, I have another question I should like to ask.
I should like to ask the minister why there has been a basic change in the
bill which includes all corporations under clause 4 rather than a limited group
of corporations which were previously included. As I understand the effect of
clause 4, which will be the new section 14(a), it will be that there will now
be no limit on the size of a corporation or its income or anything else, and it
will now include all companies instead of a limited group of people.

Mr. SHArp: This is not strictly true, it is certainly not true about section
B, that is information which continues to be gathered only from corporations
included in the act. I will let Mr. Duffet deal with the question relating to
section B so that the position will be quite clear.

Mr. DurreTT: We will indeed have access to all corporation returns under
this amendment. However, so far as the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act is concerned, it will still apply to the same group of corporations
to which it now applies. Access to all corporations is necessary for a number of
reasons. From a strictly administrative point of view I do not think it would be
practicable for the Department of National Revenue to establish certain files
to which we could have access and certain files to which we could not have
access, particularly since from year to year the number of companies which
come under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act increases and
changes. There may perhaps be as many as 2,000 additional companies coming
under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act each year. A further
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reason for having access to all returns is the one that has been mentioned in
connection with the “green book”. If the dominion bureau of statistics is to
take over publication and analysis of the green book, it becomes necessary for
us to have access to all returns.

On the matter of confidentiality, the position of d.b.s. may perhaps not be
fully recognized. The fact is that in the course of our regular activities we
have access to information which, in my opinion, is infinitely more confidential
than anything which appears in the returns received by the Department of
National Revenue. We receive a variety of information on inventories on a
monthly basis, outstanding orders on a monthly basis, capital expenditures, the
international flow of funds, the imports and exports of individual companies,
the use of materials, the average earnings of employees, the quarterly profits,
and so on. All this is exceedingly confidential. We receive information on the
assets and liabilities of corporations, and a very large amount of other data
of a confidenial character. So that confidential information is not strange to
the bureau of statistics.

I think perhaps it might be appropriate to mention why it is that the
Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act was assigned to the dominion
bureau of statistics in the first place. This was not a task which we particularly
sought, I may say, and the reason why the job was assigned to us was described
by Mr. Fulton in introducing the bill. If I may be permitted to do it, I would
like to read a sentence of what he said.

It was suggested that since it is important that the confidential
parts of the reports be kept strictly confidential, they should not be
required to be filed with the departments of the secretary of state and of
labour respectively, but with an organization which, from the very
nature of its operations and functions, is accustomed to the receipt and
custody of confidential statistics. It was represented to us that industry
and business, as well as unions, are anxious to co-operate with the
government in carrying out the purposes of this bill, and that the
business segment especially would find it much more acceptable from
this point of view if the returns were to be filed with the dominion
bureau of statistics, which has established an enviable reputation, and
has the trust and confidence of all those who are required to furnish
returns to it.

Mr. AIRKEN: I have another question. To what extent can published
statistics reveal facts and make them available to competitors in business which
have a very limited field or in which there are a limited number of companies?
This is one thing that also concerns me. It may cause no difficulty in a large
field where there are a large number of companies on which the statistics
would be published and would reveal nothing about any individual corpora-
tion, but to what extent are there limited lines of business where published
statistics could reveal information to foreign competitors?

Mr. DUFFETT: There are indeed in a country of the size of Canada a
number of areas where there are relatively small numbers of firms operating.
The problem of possible disclosure to a competitor is taken into account in
both the Statistics Act and in the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns
Act. The Statistics Act is more strict in this respect than the Corporations and
Labour Unions Returns Act, but the latter act has a clause governing this
point. Perhaps I might read it:

In any report described in subsection (1) the statistical summary
and analysis contained therein shall be so presented or shown as not
to disclose particulars of, or identify or permit identification of the
source of, information contained in any statement comprised in section
B of a return filed by a corporation or union as required by this act.
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Mr. HERBERT: May I interject here? We are faced with the same problem
with our ‘“green book”. There are certain industries where the number of
participating companies is very few, but we have been careful to group those
industries with other industries so that individual facts are not disclosed.

Mr. AIRKEN: May I then ask whether the amendment to the act will bring
about any change to the situation?

Mr. DUFrFETT: I should like to add one further point. All three of the
acts with which we are concerned, namely the Income Tax Act, the Corpora-
tions and Labour Unions Returns Act and the Statistics Act, have penalties for
disclosure of confidential information. One does not ordinarily depend on
penalties alone to prevent disclosure; we depend on careful internal arrange-
ments and careful selection of the staff, and so on. As far as d.b.s. is concerned,
I do not think an employee of the bureau has ever been subject to a penalty
for leaking information because I do not recall any information being leaked,
but it so happens that the penalty in the case of the dominion bureau of
statistics is considerably more severe than in the case of the Department of
National Revenue. In practice it does not mean very much but it indicates
the determination on the part of those who created the legislation and who
established the bureau to make sure that this matter was regarded very
seriously by the staff. If, for example, an employee of the bureau of statistics
were to disclose information which might have an effect on the market value
of any product or article or which is used for speculative activities, he becomes
liable to a fine not exceeding $5,000 or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding
five years, or both. I consider this to be very substantial.

Mr. AIRKEN: May I ask about the production of information in court?
Is there any difference between information in the hands of the Department of
National Revenue and information in the hands of d.b.s.?

Mr. DurrFeTT: To my knowledge we have never been required to submit
any material of a confidential nature to the courts.

Mr. HERBERT: You are asking me for a legal opinion. I can only say
what I know of our own operations. I think there was a decision which said
that in certain criminal actions we should be required to produce returns.

Mr. NowLaN: It is the normal practice for the minister to write a letter,
and that has been accepted by the court.

May I ask Mr. Herbert a question? Is this the first, shall we say, in-
vasion of the confidentiality of national revenue returns?

Mr. HERBERT: Yes, this is the first change in law which does give access
to our returns.

Mr. RyNarDp: Mr. Chairman, in the proceedings of the Senate committee
on banking and commerce I read that the Department of National Revenue
now examines, punches and tabulates information on about 28,000 companies
—this represents a sample of a total of perhaps 150,000 companies. It is also
said that the staff of the dominion statistician will be required to make similar
tabulations under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act for
about 30,000 companies. In his opening remarks today the minister said that
they were one and the same, or at least almost the same.

Mr. SHARP: I am not a statistician and I will ask Mr. Duffett to answer
this question.

Mr. DurreTT: The answer is this, the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act requires corporations above a certain size to file returns, and there
is now between 25,000 and 30,000 of those. In the preparation of the green
book some 28,000 companies are analysed. These two groups of companies are
not identical although they are largely so because the Department of National
Revenue analyses the very large companies.
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Mr. Rynarp: Can those two be brought together?

Mr. DurreTT: No, they will not be brought together because the Corpora-
tions and Labour Unions Returns Act is designed to apply, by its terms, to
companies above a specified size in terms of assets and earnings, whereas this
analysis is designed to be typical of all companies of all sizes. The purposes are
different.

Mr. SuarP: I should like to say a word on the desirability of the dominion
statistician having the responsibility for publishing taxation statistics. As any
member of the privy council knows, there is a constant problem of avoiding
the decentralization of statistics gathering in the government. The dominion
bureau of statistics was established originally for the purpose of centralizing
the collection and publication of statistics so that, in a sense, the action that
is now being proposed here, would have the effect of carrying another step
forward this very desirable objective. As Mr. Duffett has said, the confidentiality
of information is at least as well preserved in the bureau as it is in any depart-
ment of government. My view is that there is no risk in giving the dominion
statistician the responsibility for the publication of this report.

Mr. GELBER: Mr. Chairman, I am very interested in the mechanical processes
anticipated in obtaining this information from the income tax returns. Do I

understand that they would be obtained in the data processing centre here
in Ottawa?

Mr. HERBERT: No, under this proposed change of law the copy of the cor-
poration’s return which ordinarily comes to Ottawa—which is not by the way
the working copy which our tax assessors use—is a statistical copy routed
through d.b.s. which will extract the data required to produce the statistic,
and it is tabulated in the d.b.s.

Mr. GELBER: So the information will be mechanically obtained as envis-
aged in this amendment.

Mr. DUFFETT: So far as the d.b.s. is concerned what will happen is that
information will be transposed ultimately to punch cards which will then be
processed mechanically. The magnitude of this tabulation job is perhaps not
readily realizable. It is a pretty expensive operation. Some measure of this is
indicated by the work which the Department of National Revenue does now.
They transcribe about 50 items from the financial statement for the 25,000 to
28,000 companies which amounts to about 1,250,000 items simply lifted from
one piece of paper and put on to a punch card. This is not the end of the proc-
‘ess because in the tabulating or reporting of material from corporation returns
it is important that this should be consistent from one year to the next. So
that, as there is in the Department of National Revenue, there will have to be
some comparison with the previous year to be sure that there have not been
writeups, writedowns or reorganizations of one kind or another which call for
further work on the statistics to make them comparable.

I may say that I have had some personal experience with this problem
and I realize what a substantial job we are taking over. Some years ago I
worked in the research department of the Bank of Canada. At that time the
Bank of Canada had a sample of some 700 corporations, and the analysing and
tabulation of this took two senior people, one an economist and another a
chartered accountant. We are confronted with a situation which involves not
700 corporations but 25,000 corporations, and I have no illusions about how
big a job it is going to be.

Mr. GELBER: I am just wondering, Mr. Duffett, whether the objections do
not, in some measure, stem from the feeling that this information could be
obtained by a process done by the assessors. I am wondering whether you are
not anticipating something much more mechanical.

Mr. DUFFETT: We will not use the returns used by the assessors.
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Mr. GELBER: In other words, will the individual returns of the corpora-
tions not be studied in detail to obtain this information?

Mr. DUFrFeTT: It will be necessary to examine them carefully so as to be
sure that there has been no change from year to year which would throw out
the statistics, changes in arrangements of the facts on the balance sheet. We
are exclusively concerned with the financial statement.

Mr. HERBERT: Perhaps I could briefly describe the mechanics of how the
data gets from the return to the statistical book. The returns are examined by
clerks who have been trained to tabulate the items in which we have been
interested, such as gross assets, liabilities, and so on. They transcribe these by
hand, and they examine the enclosed financial statements in order to get this
data. This material is transcribed to sheets which are then key punched. We
then go to the process of converting that to the magnetic tape, and, under pro-
grammed instructions the computer does the tabulations which summarize the
assets by industry, by region, by size, and so on. That is the process in brief.

Mr. GeLBER: Is it anticipated under this amendment that detailed work
will be done in d.b.s. or in the Department of National Revenue?

Mr. HERBERT: It will shift from us to d.b.s., and with our grateful thanks
because we are not statisticians but tax collectors. They will bring to it the
expertise which is needed.

Mr. DoucLAs: I should like to put a question to Mr. Duffett. You mentioned
the fact that there is a great deal of information which you get from the cor-
porations under this Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act which is
not contained in the income tax returns.

Mr. DurrETT: This is true, but I think it is not quite what I said at the
time. What I said at that time was that we obtained a great deal of information
from a variety of other sources rather more confidential than the financial
statement which would come to us through the Department of National
Revenue. What you say is quite right, that the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act provides us, in addition to financial statements, with other
kinds of information; that is what is called section A information on the
ownership, the nationality of directors, and so on. This information is
published. There is, in addition, information on payments to non-residents by
all corporations to which the act applies and by all trade unions. In the case
of the corporations, this kind of information on payments to non-residents
which includes dividends, payments for copyrights, payments for management
fees, and so on is required. This is really quite interesting information and it
will continue to be collected. In all probability it will be supplied at the same
time as firms make their income tax returns, and it will be routed through
the collection process of the Department of National Revenue to us.

Mr. Doucras: Do I take it then that the corporations will not in the future,
in the event this bill passes, report to you directly as they have been doing
in the past, and that you will be getting all your information through the De-
partment of National Revenue?

Mr. DurreETT: It will come to us indirectly through the Department of
National Revenue but it will also constitute a report under the Corporations
and Labour Unions Returns Act. In this respect, so far as the payments to non-
residents are concerned, this simply utilizes the facilities of the Department of
National Revenue as a channel through which material may be filed.

Mr. DoucLAs: Are there any problems when the corporations report to
you directly, as they are now required to do under the act? If you are not
satisfied with the return how will you deal with this problem if you receive
the information indirectly through the Department of National Revenue? Will
you have to ask the Department of National Revenue to communicate with
them or can you do it directly?
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Mr. DurreTT: It will be dealt with directly by us. Their obligation to
report under the act is not diminished.

Mr. Doucras: No, but is your authority to ask for further information
in any way diminished?

Mr. DUFrFeETT: No.

Mr. DoucLAs: You are satisfied you will be able to get all the information
you have been able to get hitherto?

Mr. DUFFETT: Yes.

Mr. DoucrAas: The primary purpose of the act, I take it, is to give to the
country some idea of the degree of foreign ownership. Is that right?

Mr. DurrFeTT: Correct.

Mr. Doucras: Is the information you are getting now and will continue
to get through the Department of National Revenue adequate for this purpose?

Mr. DurrFeTT: I am not sure this is a question I should answer. I am a
statistician, not a policy maker. I can say this, however, that it will be very
helpful in that it will provide information which is not now available. It will
go some distance to answering these questions.

Mr. DoucLAas: In what way will it give you additional information which
you are not getting now?

Mr. DuFrFeTT: It will provide the public with a great deal of information
regarding the distribution of shares, the nationality of the officers and direc-
tors of foregin companies operating in Canada, and so on. This information is
not only submitted to us, it is also available to the general public for their
examination. The payments to non-residents, appears in section B, or the confi-
dential portion of the act, which does include more information than we can
now obtain. In connection with the work on the balance of international pay-
ments, some information along these lines is obtained, but for the items which
it covers it will be more complete because it covers all the large companies.

Mr. Doucras: How do you deal with the problem of shares which are
held in trust? Are you able to get this type of information?

Mr. D. A. TRAQUAIR (Administrator, Corporations and Labour Unions Re-
turns Act): We have not yet been able to get information from shares held in
trust, we are not able to measure the magnitude of the problem. We know
there are some shares that are held in trust, and in some cases a banker will
hold the shares of a corporation as collateral for a loan that he has made.
Until we can assess the magnitude of the problem, we will not be able to
interpret how important it is.

Mr. DoucGrLAs: What about the shares held by trust companies?
Mr. TRAQUAIR: This is in the same category.

Mr. DoucLAs: Have you no idea of what the percentage of the total this
might represent?

Mr. TRAQUAIR: We do not know yet.
Mr. DurFrFeETT: We will know in due course.

Mr. SHARP: This is one of the reasons why I said in my opening remarks
that until we complete the analysis of the first year’s returns we are not really
in a position to know how adequate this legislation is for the purpose for which
it is intended.

Mr. DoucLAs: Once you get this information you will have some idea of
the magnitude of the problem but you still will not have any solution as to how
to apply this information. I think the problem is still before us,

Mr. SHARP: At least we will know how inadequate it is.
21304—2
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Mr. DurrETT: When we know how serious are the omissions in the act
we will have a better idea of it.

Mr. TrRAQUAIR: In some cases a number of corporations have asked us
whether they are the legal owners. In many cases the corporation itself does
not know the beneficial owner of the shares.

Mr. DovcLAs: What information are they required to give?
Mr. TRAQUAIR: Who is the legal owner.

Mr. DoucLAs: They are not required to give the beneficial owner. After
you have compiled this information, what general use is made of it, apart from
the report?

Mr. DUFrFETT: It becomes part of the general body of statistical information
which is available for use in the country. One thing that attracts we as the
dominion statistician about this is that it may make it possible for us to reduce
somewhat the kind of information we obtain in other questionnaires. How far
this can go I do not know, but it is our intention, once this machine is oper-
ating, to have a look at the entire range of corporation information which we
obtain to see how this can be further streamlined.

Mr. Basrorp: Mr. Duffett was speaking a while ago regarding the repre-
sentations which had been received from business on the operation of the
act or the operation of the amendments. I was wondering whether you re-
ceived representations from the Canadian Labour Congress or any suggestions
for changes to these amendments.

Mr. DurreTT: These amendments have very little effect on the labour side
of the operation. The only effect is this: that, as the minister pointed out, the
original legislation provides, for certain specified purposes officials of other
government departments may have access to these returns. This clause is
being removed so far as it affects corporations and so far as it affects labour
unions. The labour unions therefore acquire an additional element of confi-
dentiality in the process of this amendment.

Mr. Basrorp: Since the original act was passed have you received any
complaints from labour?

Mr. DurrETT: We received a number of inquiries on how the unions
are expected to conform to the act. Any new piece of legislation has tag ends
that have to be worked out, explained, and discussed, but there have been
no formal objections.

Mr. TRAQUAIR: Yes, we met with the unions when the act was passed
initially. We had two meetings with the unions and we set out to them what
was possible under the act and what was not possible. The unions supplied to us
information as a result of this meeting.

Mr. DurreTT: The unions were concerned with problems of conforming
to the act. They were not there to express views about the act itself and about
its intentions.

Mr. Basrorp: They now appear to have no difficulty in conforming to it.

Mr. DurreETT: That is right. So far as the unions are concerned the act
I think is not unduly burdensome. A union is defined as an organization which
has locals, and this means that the information is not obtained from all local
unions all across the country. This would otherwise create very considerable
difficulties but the act intends the information to be obtained from larger
organizations which have pretty adequate accounts.

Mr. GREENE: Is there any information made available from the beneficial
holders of shares, stock broker accounts or from financial houses which would
enable you to complete the statistical data?
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Mr. TRAQUAIR: No, only that obtained through registration.

Mr. GREENE: There is nothing in the registration which compels persons who
normally hold stocks from naming the beneficial owner?

Mr. TRAQUIRE: That is right, there is not.

Mr. AIKEN: Mr. Chairman, I would like to probe just for a minute into
the physical set-up of the new system, and to ask Mr. Duffett whether the
people from his department go to national revenue and in that office do
their summary of the returns, and particularly whether they will take from
the national revenue any copies of returns to the point where they may create
a second set of returns? My question is whether the names of individual
corporations will ever come out of the Department of National Revenue or
whether they will merely be tabulated right within the department’s office.
This is the thing that has really concerned me. I might say that I would be
much more satisfied if they merely tabulated, in an impersonal way, the
returns that they filed in the national revenue office.

Mr. DUFFETT: In fact this might be answered by Mr. Herbert, but the
procedure is as we have described it; that in the first place there are two
copies of the taxation returns, one is retained in the regional office or the local
offices and is the one used for assessment. The one that is now used for
statistical purposes will come to us first. We will take from it the information
that we require, and we will necessarily have to take the name of the corpora-
tion because we want to be satisfied that that corporation has complied with
the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act. The file will then be sent
to the Department of National Revenue and will be put in the files. I expect
there will be occasions from time to time when it will be necessary to refer
back to this financial statement. If, for example, there is a communication
from the company on depreciation or if there is reorganization of some sort,
it may be necessary to refer back. In those cases we would go to the Depart-
ment of National Revenue and ask to see the company’s files. However, we
must keep a record in the D.B.S. of the name of the company because we
are required to satisfy ourselves that this company has reported and that
it has reported correctly. Just to repeat what I said before, we get this
information now to all intents and purposes. These yellow sheets contain some
additional information which the Department of National Revenue gets for its
own purposes and which will pass under our eyes but which is of no particular
interest to us.

‘ Mr. AIKEN: In other words, then, there will not be two places where
there is a complete set of income tax returns of corporations, one in the
Department of National Revenue and one in the d.b.s.?

Mr. DUFFETT: No.

Mr. AIREN: The final resting place of the return, after you have taken
what you need from it, will be back with the Department of National Revenue?
Mr. DUFFETT: Yes.

Mr. HERBERT: There will be one other copy, the main working copy in
our district office, which is the one the assessor uses to beat the taxpayer
with.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

Mr. GELBER: Mr. Duffett, can you give us any general idea of the number
of personnel in your department who will be handling these individual returns?

Mr. DUFrFETT: The establishment which was set up to look after the
Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act initially was estimated to be
about 90. It is too soon yet to say how large this group will be. It will have
certain additional duties in connection with the production of the green book.

I suppose that a small number of these people will be dealing with the
21304—23
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individual returns while the others will be recording the information, tabulat-
ing it, adding it and so on. I think it is at this point difficult to say how many
people will have detailed access to the data. Perhaps Mr. Herbert’s experience
is significant in this respect.

Mr. HErRBERT: Within our work over the years in the production of the
statistics in the green book we have had a staff of 22 clerks, and this has
been fairly stable over the years, even with the growth of the number of
corporations. By modifying our work we have been able to hold to that figure.
It is envisaged that this entire group will transfer to d.b.s. and will carry on
doing the same sort of work.

Mr. GELBER: The number of people involved is relatively small. It is
not that large a problem in terms of the number of people who have access
to these returns?

Mr. DurrFETT: We have handed a great deal of information to the
dominion bureau of statistics which I think is rather more confidential than
most of this.

Mr. GeELBER: There is another point that interests me, and that is that we
are going to have returns examined twice. The Department of National Rev-
enue assessors examine the returns to get the information they require, and
now you are going to be obliged to look at the returns. I presume the Depart-
ment of National Revenue has a more detailed and therefore slower job.

Mr. DurreTT: The Department of National Revenue job is a different
one from ours. Ours is to assemble and tabulate the material. The Department
of National Revenue will be concerned only with returns from an assessment
point of view.

Mr. GELBER: Does the Department of National Revenue satisfy you that
the return one year is comparable with the previous year and limit your job
to that of a computation of totals.

Mr. DurreTT: I think it will be our responsibility to satisfy ourselves that
there has been no substantial change in the presentation of the data from one
year to the next.

Mr. GeLBER: Their assessor could not do that for you?

Mr. DurreTT: He might, but we feel it would not be appropriate for us to
deal with the assessors in the Department of National Revenue.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions?

The minister has another pressing appointment. He is prepared to stay, of
course, but if you could raise all the questions on clause 1 the minister might
then be excused, with the approval of the committee.

Mr. NowLAN: I would like to raise one point while the minister is here.
This has been referred to under clause 3 which repeals subsection 5 of section
14. I would like someone to comment on this.

As Mr. Duffett has stated, it has been shown in the yellow sheet here that
there is some information required under this act which is not required by
the Department of National Revenue. We referred to something which I
think sometimes may be highly important. These are secret payments under
patents, copyrights, royalties and such things, which may be going from a
subsidiary here to another corporation, and there is a provision in section 5
which gives very wide powers to obtain information. That was put in deliber-
ately as government policy which we thought at that time was desirable, and
it has certainly been carried out by the present government with regard to
foreign control, secret payments and so on.

What provision will there be under this act for obtaining that information
if subsection 5 of section 14 is repealed?
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Mr. DurreTT: There will be no provision under this act for obtaining this
information. This is a matter we have considered very carefully and which we
have discussed with other government departments in order to know how they
felt about giving up this access and whether in fact access to detailed informa-
tion of this kind was important enough to justify the elements of duplication
that were necessarily involved. The government departments, after considering
this matter carefully, were of the opinion that they did not require the infor-
mation.

During the period since the act has been in effect, no government depart-
ment has approached us to obtain access to a corporation’s returns for the pur-
poses contemplated.

Mr. NowLAN: That is only a period of a year or so.

Mr. DUFFETT: There has been a period of a year and a half since returns
were in our hands.

Mr. NowLAN: But there will not be any access to information—
Mr. DurreETT: That is correct.

Mr. NowLAN: —which will not be provided by the Department of National
Revenue.

Mr. DurreTT: I think the feeling generally is that if the government depart-
ment—for example the Department of Finance—requires information of this
kind, it is highly unlikely that a company would fail to provide it. It can be
done in two ways. It could be provided directly or it could be provided by the
company issuing to the department concerned a clearance to have access to the
information in the hands of the dominion bureau of statistics. This is done now
in connection with a certain amount of material which we collect occasionally.

If a corporation wishes to make information available for another govern-
ment department and it does not wish to go to the trouble of making duplicate
returns, they issue a clearance for that purpose.

Mr. NowLaN: All you will be getting in the future is averages and com-
putations of averages rather than specific cases?

Mr. DurreETT: This is true, unless another arrangement is made.

Mr. NowLAN: Where there are two corporations involved, one public and
one private, information of that kind will not be available to you?

Mr. DUFFETT: It will not be available to government departments.

Mr. NowrLAN: Then government, in preparing policy, will have to use other
 sources of information or will have to use intuition, or whatever may pass for
intuition, in formulating policy?

Mr. DUFFETT: Yes.

Mr. MacALuso: May I ask a supplementary question?
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Macaluso.

Mr. MacALuso: I notice in the evidence of the Senate standing committee
on banking and commerce that a question arises whether the advantages to be
gained can be justified in view of what government departments will be giv-
ing up.

It has been stated that the requirements have been satisfied by summary
tabulations which you have made for them. To which summary tabulations do
they have access for information they cannot now obtain otherwise?

: Mr. DurrETT: There have been one or two cases in which they have required
information which has its origin in the Corporations and Labour Union Returns
Act but which did not involve access to individual returns.

Mr. TrAQUAIR: The question did concern particular returns, and rather
than supplying the information to the department we were able to produce a
tabulation which would show the information they wanted to have and which
satisfied their inquiry.
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Mr. MAcALUSO: Is there any other information apart from this information?
Is there any other source from which this information will be available?

Mr. DurrFeTT: In the first place I should repeat that information regarding
the degree of foreign ownership in the company will still be available as it is
now; this is section A information. Information on these other details, such
as payments for royalties and so on, is not generally available to the best of
my knowledge. There may be cases where the companies themselves make this
public, but detailed information by companies is not generally available.

Mr. GREENE: I am a little disturbed by some of your recent answers.

In regard to section 5 you say that no government department has made
any inquiry of you in regard to the returns under this section in the past year.
Is that correct?

Mr. DUFFETT: Yes.

Mr. GReeNE: Or in the past year and a half. Does any other government
department have any more right to information filed here than does the public
under the sections that permit you to release this?

Mr. DUFFETT: No.

Mr. GREENE: Therefore there is no change in any way, shape or form?
No government department has any rights to any information unless under
statute. Is that correct?

Mr. SuArP: May I just make one point? It may be that a government
department would say to the dominion statistician that they are interested in
a particular question relating to the degree of foreign ownership or to pay-
ments that are made to non-residents. They may say to the dominion statisti-
cian that they would like to get as much information about that subject
from his returns as they can without revealing the position of an individual
company. The dominion statistician would have every right under this legisla-
tion to provide the government with such an analysis.

By having this information we are able to obtain summaries of a relevant
kind to which the public itself would not have access because it would not be
published in the report.

Mr. GrReENE: I see. This is what was disturbing me. The kind of request
to which you are referring was not made and was not anticipated. You did not
anticipate specific requests about specific companies?

Mr. DurreETT: This could quite properly have been made. If a government
department had been engaged in compiling certain legislation and had written
to me and said they required the return of the A.B.C. company for this pur-
pose, I would have supplied it; but this has not happened.

Mr. GREENE: There again I am back on the same point. Can any depart-
ment ask for specific information about a specific company under any section
here and have it supplied?

Mr. DurreTT: They can under this present legislation, but this right is
being withdrawn by the amendment.

Mr. DoucLAs: This is the point about which I would like to ask the min-
ister. Under the legislation as it now stands any department of government
can secure from the dominion statistician information—

Mr. DUurrFET: For a particular purpose.

Mr. DoucLAs: —with regard to items such as patents and so on. By rescind-
ing section 5, this process will be discontinued.

Mr. SuARP: That is right.

Mr. DoucLAs: May I ask the minister why? Why are they watering down
the act in this respect?
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Mr. SHARP: This is the issue that is raised by this bill. This is the main
issue. It has been found on further examination that the government depart-
ments do not feel it is necessary to see the individual returns. They can obtain
the information about these payments or other information in a summary form
which will serve their purposes just as well.

The bill withdraws the privilege of obtaining individual returns because it
was felt that it was not worth the added expense of collecting two sets of docu-
ments in order to obtain it. It was felt that the economies that would be effected
by the simplification proposed in the bill were more valuable than the right
to have access to individual returns on the grounds that the relevant informa-
tion could be obtained by summaries just as well as by looking at the individual
returns of a company.

This is the decision that has been made by the government, and that is the
issue raised in this bill.

Mr. DurreT: May I add a word to that? The immediate reason for with-
drawing this access was that we will now be using information obtained by the
income tax people. It is to ensure that information obtained in the course of the
operation of the Department of National Revenue will not by any indirect
channel reach other government departments.

Mr. DoucLAas: This really means now that in order to prevent this duplica-
tion other departments of government will be denied access to information
which they now enjoy under the present legislation.

Mr. SHARP: That is right, and it is our experience that this information can
usually be obtained. I would hesitate to say it can invariably be obtained but
we have not had any adverse experience. Usually a corporation will give in-
formation of this kind to the government by way of a clearance to look at the
individual returns. We have not had any experience to the contrary. Of course,
we may have experience to the contrary, and this is one of the risks that is
involved in the bill that is before the committee now.

Mr. DoucLAs: In order for a department of government to obtain this
information they would have to get clearance before obtaining access to par-
ticular information with regard to patents, copyrights, royalties and so forth?

Mr. DUrFrFET: The access in the act is not wide open; it is access for a
specific purpose. It never was expected to be widely used. It is for official or
authorized persons to have access in connection with the formulation of any
law in Canada.

Mr. NowrAN: That is a fairly wide phrase.

Mr. DoucLAs: It would mean the Department of Labour could not seek
information regarding trade unions or the Department of Finance would be
denied information regarding royalties and patents enjoyed by a subsidiary.

Mr. DUFFET: By this channel, yes.

Mr. DoucLAs: It seems to me we are giving up a great deal for a minor
saving.

Mr. NowrLAN: The minister said this would avoid duplication. This will
only be raised when some specific department or the government as a whole,
or a minister responsible for formulating policy, asks some specific question on
some phase or facet of this information. We would not generally be turning it
out as we do with income tax returns or anything of that kind. It would be a
specific inquiry raised by the government on a specific problem.

Mr. SHARP: May I put it in this way? In return for the possibility that at
some time in the future we might want to know the royalties paid by an indi-
vidual company, we should incur expenses of something like $75,000 to $100,000.
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Mr. NowrLaN: Where would that expense be incurred?

Mr. SHARP: That is the cost of the duplication now involved.

Mr. NowLAN: This would only be raised if you pass that specific section.

Mr. SHARP: No, as long as the legislation remains in its present form we
must have duplicate returns. We do not think it would be advisable to open

the income tax returns to anybody except the officials who are concerned with
the assessments.

Mr. NowLAN: The point is, is it not, that some of this information is not now
included in your income tax returns but it is included under the general powers
of this bill which are now being repealed.

Mr. SHARP: Yes, there is certain additional information, and this is a ques-
tion of judgment. The government has examined the question carefully with
all the departments. They are of the view that it is not worth while incurring
this very heavy additional expenditure by the government and by the cor-
porations themselves in order to provide, at some time in the future, under con-
ditions that cannot now be foreseen, information about an individual corpora-
tion that that corporation would deny if asked for.

Mr. Gray: Mr. Chairman, I think that the answer to the question that Mr.
Douglas asked is that the amendment as proposed will also withdraw the right
to look at the particular return of a particular labour union.

I also have another question which I should like to ask. I gather from what
you said, Mr. Sharp, that the type of information required in the year of opera-
tion of this act for the purpose of policymaking by various government depart-
ments has only been in the nature of summaries or extracts of information, by
industry and by size of the firm.

Mr. SHARP: That is right.
Mr. Gray: The experience has not been to look at the individual returns.

Mr. SuARP: That is right. If you look at the act, the information required
from trade unions appears under Section B, comprising:

(i) a financial statement for the reporting period, consisting of

(A) a balance sheet showing the assets and liabilities of the union,
made up as of the last day of the reporting period, and

(B) a statement of income and expenditure for the reporting period,

in such form and containing such particulars and other informa-
tion relating to the financial position of the union as may be
prescribed by the regulations, and

(ii) in the case of a union having its headquarters situated outside Can-
ada, a statement showing separately total amounts paid or credited
to the union in the reporting period by, on behalf of or in respect of
members resident in Canada as or on account of each of the follow-
ing, namely:

(A) initiation fees,

(B) members dues per capita,

(C) health and welfare assessments,
(D) death benefit assessments,

(E) strike benefit assessments,

(F) fines, and

(G) work permits.

The information about the affairs of an individual union is not such that,
in the opinion of the Department of Labour, any policy decision would be made
on the basis of that information. The information available from all the unions
would be just as satisfactory as the information available from an individual
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union. If it were not so, we would have every reason to think that the union
would give us access to the information if requested.

Mr. Gray: I gather that the same conclusion is reached as regards in-
dividual firms as well.

Mr. SHARP: Except that the information with respect to individual cor-
porations is much more extensive because of the nature of the operations
themselves.

Mr. GRAY: And therefore it has not proved necessary so far to formulate
a policy with respect to the business firms nor to look for returns from
individual firms. Am I right then in saying that the real reason for which
you have proposed this change is to maintain intact the scheme of confidentiality
under the Income Tax Act?

Mr. SHARP: Exactly, that is the primary purpose; otherwise, of course,
we would have retained subsection (5) of section 14. I think the house and
the members of this committee would really have some misgivings about
making available to a government department information from tax returns
for the purpose of formulating policy.

Mr. GrAY: Which, without this amendment, would have been available.
Mr. SHARP: Exactly.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions? If the committee will
permit me, may I say that I had difficulty in getting the steering committee
together. I do not say that in a critical way. When we did get together every-
body was not represented. The question of what witnesses we should call was
raised at that time and it was suggested by some that we might hear some-
one from the trade unions. It was decided that we would hold this bill in
abeyance pending the hearing of witnesses who were immediately available.
You have to make up your own minds on whether you want clause 1 to carry
or to stand in view of the fact that you may want to hear other withnesses.

Mr. DoucLAs: Have any other witnesses asked to be heard?

The CHAIRMAN: No, this was the only group from which it was suggested
we might hear. We might also hear from the trade unions, but it was decided
to forgo a decision pending the interrogation of the present witnesses, and
then the committee would make up its mind.

Mr. DoucLAs: Have the trade unions asked to be heard?
The CHAIRMAN: No, that is why the question was raised this morning.

Mr. AIKEN: Mr, Chairman, I think I was the one to raise the most violent
objection to clause 4 which was the clause concerning confidentiality of income
tax returns. I still feel uneasy about enlarging the present provisions, but it
seems to be an amendment which would further the provisions of the original
act for the purpose of the original act. There does not seem to have been any
objection by any private organization and no great objection by the Depart-
ment of National Revenue. The evidence seems to indicate that the con-
fidentiality will be well preserved. I cannot see how calling any other witnesses
would be of any assistance. I have been satisfied myself about the con-
fidentiality provisions. I feel that, particularly since the returns will not reside
in the d.b.s. but will return to the Department of National Revenue, there

will be no greater circulation of these returns. Speaking strictly personally I
am satisfied with clause 4.

Mr. SHARP: May I just say one word at this point? I do think that it
will be very useful, when the first report under this act is filed, for the com-
mittee to give it consideration, and I would hope that the report would be
referred to this committee for examination and discussion. I am not satisfied
that the act is in such form as to accomplish the purposes that parliament

intended when it was enacted, and I am sure that amendments will be
appropriate.
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The CHAIRMAN: The minister may then be excused, gentlemen, and the
officials will remain for our consideration of the bill clause by clause if it is
decided that we should proceed.

I would merely ask you whether you feel we should have other witnesses,
other than those we have now before us. I would welcome some guidance from
the committee.

Mr. Basrorp: Speaking for myself, I, like Mr. Aiken, am entirely satis-
fied.

Mr. DoucrAs: I wonder whether it would not be wise at least to offer
the trade unions an opportunity to appear to express whether or not they have
any opinions on this matter, whether they are perfectly satisfied and whether
they wish to appear.

The CHAIRMAN: Your suggestion is to write to them, I understand.

Mr. Doucras: And ask them whether they are interested in appearing.
If they are not interested, then we shall proceed.

The CHAIRMAN: In that case we would have to stand clause 1, as a matter
of fact we will have to stand all the clauses.

Mr. Macaruso: Does Mr. Duffett know whether any representation has
been made by the trade union officials or by the C.L.C. or by any other
officials? Have you had any discussion with them?

Mr. DurrFeTT: There have been no representations, I suspect because
the act has a negligible effect on them. The only effect it has is to make it
impossible for the government departments to have access to their financial
returns. Otherwise, it has no other effect.

Mr. MacaLuso: They are not hurt in any way by these amendments nor
are they helped by them. What is happening is that they have to file one re-
port instead of two.

Mr. DurrFeTT: It does not affect them.

Mr. CameroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would it be possible
that if the trade unions had been considered in these amendments their pro-
ceedings might have been simplified?

Mr. DurreETT: Their proceedings could not be simplified in this way in
the sense that trade unions do not make reports to the Department of National
Revenue.

Mr. MacaLuso: I see no purpose in calling them.

Mr. A1ken: They are not adversely affected at all; in fact, as I see it, it
makes the ability to secure their returns much more difficult to the govern-
ment.

The CHAIRMAN: I told the steering committee I would raise the question
here.

Mr. Doucras: I do not think the trade unions are adversely affected
but it seems to me they should be given the opportunity to appear since they
are the only other group involved.

The CHAIRMAN: I should think the Canadian Labour Congress would be
the people to ask. If they are not interested in coming, then we will be able to
proceed.

Mr. MoRre: Mr. Chairman, are the labour unions affected at all by the
amendments proposed here?

_ Mr. DurrerT: No, except that their returns will have less restricted circu-
lation than they might have had before.

Mr. MoRre: Then they could have appeared before.
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Mr. DoucrLas: They may not have known any more than most of us
that the Senate was considering the bill. I do not think they are adversely af-
fected, but they may have some feelings about the comparison of treatment
in that this legislation does affect corporations in certain ways. They may feel
that there is some discrimination in terms of treatment. I do not know, as I
have never had representations from them. If they do not have representations
to make I do not see why we should not proceed, but I feel they should be given
an opportunity to come here.

Mr. WHELAN: Knowing how efficient the C.L.C. is I would think they are
quite aware of this because they follow all these things very closely. It is my
understanding from meeting them that they keep in touch with all these things,
and knowing how efficient they are I think they would have made representa-
tions here if they were at all concerned.

Mr. MacaLuso: I would think that with the amount of publicity this has
had—I am speaking with somewhat more than a little experience with trade
unions—if they had any interest in this we would have heard from them long
before now. I speak on this not in opposition to it but I speak with a feeling
that I know from personal experience the workings of the trade union move-
ment and the people involved at the official level.

Mr. AIKEN: Mr. Chairman, I want to concur with what Mr. Douglas has
said. I also feel that some organization which might represent the corporations
ought to be given a similar opportunity. We have been sitting here and discus-
sing this bill among ourselves. We have been assured that there have not been
any representations. I, for my own satisfaction, would like to know that this
bill has officially come to the attention of both the labour unions and the
chamber of commerce, if that is the appropriate organization; that it has been
considered and that no representations are to be made. I think it is our duty to
these people. If nothing comes, then we will merely pass the bill.

Mr. DoucLAs: I remind you that this bill was only sent to the banking
and commerce committee last week. While we are familiar with the fact that
it has been sent to the Senate, I do not know to what extent those affected are
aware of it. It seems to me it would be a comparatively simple thing to put a
phone call through to the Canadian Labour Congress and to the Canadian
Chamber of Commerce asking them whether they want to make any repre-
sentations. If they do not, let us meet and pass the bill.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you so move?
Mr. DoucLas: Yes, I will move this.
Mr. A1keN: I will second it.

The CHAIRMAN: It has been moved by Mr. Douglas, seconded by Mr. Aiken,
that communication be made with the C.L.C. and with the chamber of com-

merce, pointing out to them that they are entitled to make representations
before the committee, if they so desire.

Mr. GELBER: Mr. Douglas spoke of an informal inquiry.

Mr. MacaLuso: Why cannot we make just a phone call?

Mr. AIREN: I think that would be too informal.
(Translation)

Mr. COTE (Chicoutimi): Should you submit the problem to the Canadian
Congress of Labour it might also be well to submit it to the Confederation of
National Trade Unions as well as to the Quebec Workers Federation.

Mr. Gray: Mr. Chairman, this is a good idea because this represents a
group of 200,000 workers.
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(Text)

The CHAIRMAN: The difficulty of the Chair is that I do not want to invite
someone of whom you may be critical. I want to be clear to whom I am to
send the invitations. I am not trying to be an obstructionist but I want to be
clear on whom to invite.

Mr. DoucLAas: My motion specifies the Canadian Labour Congress and the
chamber of commerce. I understand Mr. C6té made an amendment including
others.

The CHAIRMAN: I understand Mr. C6té’s amendment to the motion is that
the federated workers of Quebec be included.
(Translation)

Mr. COTE (Chicoutimi): Yes, Mr. Chairman.

(Text)

The CHAIRMAN: Is there any seconder on that?

Mr. GENDRON: I will second the amendment to the motion.

Mr. NowLAN: I think there should be a time limit.

Mr. Doucras: Let us say within a week or ten days.

The CHAIRMAN: Are you ready for the question? The motion as amended
reads as follows:

That a notice be sent to the C.L.C., to the Canadian Chamber of
Commerce and to the federated workers of Quebec to invite them to
make representations regarding this bill to this committee, and to sig-
nify their intention within one week.

All those in favour of the motion? All those against?

Motion as amended agreed to.

The CHAIRMAN: Is it your wish to go through the bill clause by clause at
this stage while we have our witnesses here and to stand the bill pending the
return to this communication, or do you want to adjourn at this time?

Mr. Gray: I would suggest that while we do not wish to inconvenience
the officials who have come here, if we are going to get some suggestions from
the groups that we have invited, perhaps we should examine this bill clause by
clause after we have heard them.

The CHARMAN: I take it that the suggestion is that we should adjourn at
this stage?

Mr. Gray: I am prepared to move that we adjourn now.

Mr. NowLAN: I second the motion.

The CHAIRMAN: It is moved and seconded that the committee adjourn until
the call of the Chair.

Motion agreed to.
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REPORT TO THE HOUSE

OcTOBER 20, 1964.
The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce has the honour
to present its
EIGHTH REPORT

Your Committee has considered Bill S-35, An Act to amend the Corpora-
tions and Labour Unions Returns Act, and has agreed to report it without
amendment.

A copy of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating to this Bill
(Issues No. 3 and 4) is appended.

Respectfully submitted,

LAWRENCE T. PENNELL,
Chairman.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuESDAY, October 20, 1964.
(8)

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.00 am.
this day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Aiken, Basford, Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-
The Islands), Gelber, Gendron, Klein, Lambert, Lloyd, Mackasey, Moreau,
Nugent, Nowlan, Pascoe, Pennell and Thomas—(15).

In attendance: Mr. W. E. Duffett, Dominion Statistician; Mr. D. A. Tra-
quair, Administrator, Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act, Department
of Trade and Commerce.

The Committee resumed consideration of Bill S-35, An Act to amend
the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act.

The Chairman reported that, as directed by the resolution passed at
the last meeting, he had written to the Canadian Labour Congress, the Cana-
dian Chamber of Commerce, the Quebec Federation of Labour and the Con-
federation of National Trade Unions, offering these organizations the oppor-
tunity to make representations on this Bill to the Committee. He read
the replies into the record, indicating that the organizations concerned were
satisfied with the intent of the Bill, and did not wish to appear.

On Clause 1

Mr. Duffett and Mr. Traquair were questioned and Clause 1 was carried
on division.

Clause 2 was carried.
On Clause 3

Mr. Duffett was questioned and the clause was carried.

Clauses 4, 5 and 6, the Title and the Bill were severally carried, and the
Chairman was directed to report the Bill without amendment.

At 10.45 a.m. the Committee adjourned to the call of the Chair, on motion
of Mr. Moreau.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.
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EVIDENCE

TuEsDAY, October 20, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: I see a quorum, gentlemen, and I would invite the com-
mittee to come to order.

The members of the committee will recall at our last meeting, when con-
sidering bill S-35, we went through it clause by clause. At that time we
heard the minister and the officials from the department. However, we stood
each clause pending notification to the Canadian chamber of commerce, the
Canadian Congress of Labour and, what turned out later, to be the Quebec
confederation of workers, as well as to the confederation of national syndi-
cates.

I am sure it would be interesting to members of the committee if I read
a copy of the letter I sent out. This letter which I am about to read was sent
out to Mr. Jodoin, but it is similar to the letters I sent out to the other organiza-
tions. i

Dear Mr. Jodoin:

Bill S-35, an act to amend the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act, was recently referred to the standing committee on banking
and commerce. Before reporting the bill back to the House of Commons,
a motion was unanimously adopted that the Canadan labour congress
be extended the courtesy of making representations before the com-
mittee regarding the amendments to this act.

For your convenience I am enclosing a copy of bill S-35. The com-
mittee is desirous of dealing with this bill as expeditiously as possible,
and I would therefore respectfully ask that a reply be returned within
one week.

Representations may be made in person before the committee,
or in writing. For your information and without desiring to influence
your decision whether to make representations or not, allow me to
say that this legislation has as its purposes:

(1) The elimination of the duplicate filing of some 25-30,000 corporate
financial statements which must be filed with the dominion statis-
tician under the act, and which are also filed with the Department
of National Revenue for income tax purposes.

(2) The elimination of duplication of the substantial load of analysis
and tabulation of these financial statements which both agencies
are now required to carry out. To attain these objectives it is
necessary to give the dominion statistician access to corporate income
tax returns from which he will record and tabulate financial statis-
tics before they are filed with the Department of National Revenue.
On occasion his staff may wish also to consult files of these returns
held by the department—the files in question do not contain the
forms used by departmental assessors, which are retained in the
field.

To preserve the same sort of secrecy as is now accorded these financial
statements, the corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act is being
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amended (see section 3 of the amending act) to remove the right of
access by departments, now provided by section 14(5) of the act, to
corporation and trade union financial statements now filed under the
act. Thus, while the amendment gives the dominion bureau of statis-
tics access to corporation returns filed with the Department of National
Revenue, it has the effect of adding to the confidentiality of the state-
ments now filed with both organizations.

As you will realize, these changes affect trade unions only by
removing the right of access to their financial returns by government
departments, and would therefore add a measure of confidentiality in
favour of trade union returns.

If you require further details about the procedures contemplated,
the dominion statistician will be glad to provide them. His name is
Walter E. Duffett, and his telephone number is 992-0031.

Yours sincerely,

Larry T. Pennell, Q.C., M.P.,,
Chairman,
Standing Committee on Banking
and Commerce.

As I stated, similar letters went out to the other groups, as requested
by the committee. But, as you would realize, necessary alterations were made.
Letters went out to the chamber of commerce, to the Quebec confederation
of workers and to the confederation of national syndicates.

I received the following letter from the Canadian chamber of commerce,
under date of October 13, in reply to my letter of October 5. It is addressed
to myself as Chairman of this committee.

Dear Mr. Pennell:

This will acknowledge with thanks your letter of October 5 inquir-
ing as to the chamber’s view with respect to the amendments incor-
porated in bill S-35.

The officers of the chamber have reviewed these amendments and
wish to advise you that they are in accord with them. We regret the delay
in replying to your letter but unfortunately, we were unsuccessful in
reaching you by telephone at an earlier date.

Yours sincerely,

(Sgd.) D. L. Morrell,
General Manager.

We also received a letter from Mr. Jodoin, dated October 13 addressed
to your Chairman, which reads as follows:

Dear Mr. Pennell:

I have for acknowledgement your letter of October 5 with refer-
ence to possible representations by the Canadian labour congress con-
cerning bill S-35. May I first of all express my appreciation for your
thoughtfulness and consideration in inviting the congress to make such
representations.

My colleagues and I have given very careful consideration to bill
S-35. We have examined it in the light of the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act both as to principle and details. If we understand
the proposed amendments correctly, they would serve to eliminate
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a certain amount of duplication that now exists and would add to
the confidentiality of the returns now being made. We note, however,
that the amendments are aimed primarily at the returns which are
required by corporations; the bill is silent on part II of the act dealing
with trade unions.

The Canadian labour congress has, on various occasions, stated
its objection in principle to the Corporations and Labour Unions Re-
turns Act. We did so in our memoranda to the government of Febru-
ary 2, 1961, December 11, 1962, and March 14, 1962. We understand
that the function of the standing committee on banking and com-
merce is to deal exclusively with bill S-35 and accordingly our views
on the act would not be germane to your work. The Canadian labour
congress will seek a more appropriate opportunity to make further
representations expressing its views concerning the act in general,
and more particularly with regard to its administration as it affects
trade unions. Our experience since the act took effect indicates that
such representations would be in order. It is a matter of regret to
us that your committee is apparently not the appropriate place for
making such representations. Thanking you again for your courtesy,
I am,

Very truly yours,

(Sgd.) Claude Jodoin,
President.

I also have a letter from the Canadian Manufacturers’ Association dated
October 16, 1964, addressed to Miss Ballantine, the clerk of our committee,
which reads as follows:

Dear Miss Ballantine:

Thank you very much for your letter of the 15th, advising that if
it is the wish of the C.M.A. to make representations to the standing
committee on banking and commerce during its consideration of bill
S-35, this can be arranged for the meeting on October 20.

The opportunity presented is greatly appreciated, but my organ-
ization has reached a decision not to make any representations concern-
ing this bill. Under the circumstances, there will be no C.M.A. repre-
sentation at the committee meeting on October 20.

Yours faithfully,

(sgd) Willis George,
Ottawa Representative.

I might say that while we did not formally extend an invitation, and
the Chair was not directed to do so, our deliberations came to the attention of
the Canadian Manufacturers’ Association, who made oral inquiries, as a result
of YhiCh I requested our clerk to send them a letter. I have read to you their
reply.

I have had no reply from Mr. Legault, the secretary of the Quebec con-
federation of labour although I sent a letter, which was similar to the others,
in French. Also, a week later I sent a telegram to him in French respectfully
:_equesting a reply. I have received no answer from either of the two organiza-

ions.

I sent a request by telegram to the Canadian chamber of commerce and
they have responded. But, as I say, the other two have not replied. The letters
went out on October 5. Now, the direction of the Chairman was that one week
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should be given for reply. After a week elapsed, or eight days, I sent a telegram,
and still no reply. It is now October 20.

Mr. AIREN: In view of what has been said I assume that no one is going
to make representations, and we have done everything we can to cover that
particular field.

The CHAIRMAN: If it is the committee’s wish then, having stood all the
clauses, I suppose it now is in order to go back over them and, if it is the wish
of the committee, we then will carry them.

Mr. Duffett, has something to add since his appearance here last meeting.

Mr. W. E. DUFFETT (Dominion Statistician, Dominion Bureau of Statistics):
Mr. Chairman, the Canadian institute of chartered accountants was in touch
with me. I had a telephone call from the secretary of the institute yesterday
afternoon inquiring about the procedures envisaged under the legislation.
He wished to be reassured that there was no intention of extending access to
income tax forms beyond that contemplated by this proposed legislation. He
said they were in favour of the legislation and, if there should be an oppor-
tunity, he would wish me to convey this to the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: With that explanation, shall clause 1 carry?

On clause 1—Relieving Provision.

Mr. NUuGeNT: Mr. Chairman, I mentioned this before. I am wondering if
there is some explanation why we have not had the first report under the
act as it was and the information that it puts forward so that we might be
able to form an opinion whether the method of return was adequate for the
specialized purpose for which this information was sought.

Now, the problem of foreign control of Canadian corporations and so on is
still very current. The Minister of National Revenue or the Minister of Trade
and Commerce mentioned there would be a report in this connection coming
up later this year. We have had no indication of when that report would be
received. Has the committee been provided with any report so that we might
peruse it? It seems to me that if we are considering an act which is going to
change the method of making a report it is only common sense that we take
a look at the work actually done under the act before in order to see if it
needs changing.

Mr. DurreTT: We are hoping it will be possible to get a report out before
the end of the year. The reason there has not been a report until now is that
the initial work and the setting up of the records required in order to produce
a report are very laborious. Also, the process of deciding which firms shall be
eligible under the act is laborious. I think we received claims for exemption
from some 85,000 firms. Each of these claims had to be examined carefully
and, in some cases, it was necessary to consult our legal adviser in order to
determine whether or not the firms in question were eligible. In addition to
this there is a problem of acquiring and training staff. It has not been possible
until now to arrange the preparation of the first report.

Mr. NuGeNnT: Do I gather from what you have said that the act was not
in force long enough for any concrete results to be tabulated under the act as
it was? :

Mr. DurrETT: No tabulations have been made, but some concrete results
exist in the form of filing of section A material regarding the ownership of the
corporation with the Secretary of State for External Affairs and the Depart-
ment of Labour in the case of labour unions.

Mr. NUGENT: That is merely the gathering of information. However, there
has been no progress made in assessing and collating it.

Mr. DUFFETT: No. This process is underway at the present time.
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Mr. NUGENT: The act gave the department, I believe, the right to make
regulations in respect of the form in which the information should be given.
Has the work gone far enough to ascertain whether or not the information
required under the Income Tax Act is quite satisfactory for the purpose for
which this survey was to be taken? In other words, is there any information
in respect of any inefficiency in the information supplied under the Income
Tax Act?

Mr. DUrFreTT: Yes, we believe this to be the case because many firms
already have supplied us with duplicates of the forms they now supply to the
Department of National Revenue, so we know precisely, in most cases at least,
what we shall be obtaining.

Mr. NuceNT: That is, in filing information under the Income Tax Act; but,
I thought when this act was originally passed the purposes were not identical.
There was the thought that the information would not necessarily be identical.
But, for the specific purpose of this act I thought additional or different infor-
mation would be required. Has the work progressed long enough to ascertain
whether or not additional information would be required?

Mr. DUFrETT: Beyond that required by the Corporations and Labour
Unions Returns Act?

Mr. NuceNT: No, beyond that required by the Income Tax Act.

Mr. DurrETT: Well, the Income Tax Act requires a financial statement.
The Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act requires a financial state-
ment. These are similar. In addition, the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act requires information on payments to non-residents by corpora-
tions. This information is not reported under the Income Tax Act and will
continue to be reported under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns
Act.

Mr. LAMBERT: By an amendment to the Income Tax Act returns now.

Mr. DurreTT: No. This will continue to be a return under the Corpora-
tions and Labour Unions Returns Act. It is supplementary information.

Mr. LamBERT: Which will be made direct to you?

Mr. DurrFeETT: It will be submitted, in all possibility, at the same time as
firms submit their income tax statement, so it will come to us through the
collection machinery of the Department of National Revenue.

Mr. LAMBERT: You say in all probability. Has no decision been reached in
this regard to date?

Mr. DurreTT: I think it is almost certain. Am I not correct in this, Mr.
Traquair?

Mr. D. A. TRAQUAIR (Administrator, Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act): This is a permissive section; that is, the act does not say the
firm has to do it this way. The act permits the firm to do it this way.

Mr. DUFrFETT: If the firm wishes to submit this additional information on
payments to non-residents directly to us, that is acceptable.

Mr. LAMBERT: Well, how do you marry it to their income tax return? Do
you do this by going into the Department of National Revenue’s files?

Mr. DUFFETT: It is not necessary to link these two immediately. This in-
formation on payments to non-residents stands by itself.

Mr. NUGeNT: I am still trying to figure out the reasoning on this. I thought
when this legislation was first passed that they would be setting up, after
they had a look at it, special regulations in respect of exactly the type of
information or the form in which companies could submit information that
would be most useful to the department, especially with regard to this ques-
tion of foreign control and balance of payments.
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_ From their work so far, can one of the witnesses tell us what reasoning
led them to abandon this idea and to expect the income tax return was
sufficient.

Mr. DUFrFeETT: To answer the first part of your question, the Corporations
and Labour Unions Returns Act specifies that the financial statement shall be
in a form and contain such particulars and other information as may be pre-
scribed by regulations. This is as far as our powers go in specifying the informa-
tion to be submitted under the act. The balance of the information, payments
of one kind or another to non-residents, rent, royalties, copyrights and so on,
is specified in the original act and may not be changed by regulation. In respect
of the financial statements supplied to us, it is specified in the regulations
that firms may supply to the dominion statistician the same financial state-
ments as they submit to the income tax department, and we have found this
to be satisfactory.

Mr. NuGeNT: That is the thing; you say you found this satisfactory
while you had the power to make regulations, and that power was given
because it was thought the income tax returns might not be satisfactory. We
have not had the first report to date. This work has not been collated or analysed.
But, the decision was made. Have you had enough experience to say these
things when you have not even analysed it? Is it not early to say that is
satisfactory, or has the original purpose been abandoned?

Mr. DurreETT: No. Financial statements have been carefully looked at. This
power to specify by regulations the form of financial statements was needed
primarily in the case of trade unions and, particularly, in the case of the inter-
national unions. The international unions have only one financial statement, and
that is the one covering the whole of their North American operations, which
creates obvious difficulties because, naturally, we are interested in obtaining
as broad information as possible on the operations of the unions in Canada,
and the regulations have attempted to specify the sort of information that
trade unions should supply.

There is a further consideration so far as trade unions are concerned, and
that is since they do not make returns to the Department of National Revenue
for income tax purposes there is no particular standardization in the form in
which the trade unions financial returns could be made. So, it becomes
particularly necessary to have the right to specify the form in which they
should be made. But, in the case of corporaticns, the requirements of the
Department of National Revenue are pretty well understood and fairly specific,
and the returns provided to the Department of National Revenue, so far as
we can tell by examining the forms, are quite adequate for the purpose of the
act.

Mr. NuceNT: Well, in respect of these returns, the general information
supplied to the Department of National Revenue in a summary form always
have been available for statistical purposes in any event with regard to
balance of payments.

Mr. DurrFeTT: No. I am sorry; in total, that is right. This has been so in the
aggregate form. What has happened is that the Department of National Revenue
has compiled a book known as “Taxation Statistics” summarizing the in-
formation, which has been available to the public.

Mr. NUGENT: So, that summary in aggregate form was available long before
we passed the act? I am faced with the difficulty of sorting out in my mind
why we now are changing our minds and deciding that that information, in
effect, is still fine, and it is not necessary to make special regulations to
have specific information or the information submitted in the special form.
Somewhere along the line this idea was dropped.
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Mr. DurreETT: The report published by the Department of National Revenue
is for corporations, only in very broad groups. It may be necessary for us to
reclassify these. In many cases it will be necessary for us to examine the
individual financial statement together with what our corporations tell us
about these payments to non-residents. It may be necessary, as I say, to look
at our corporations separately, in order to arrive at an understanding of the
way in which the corporation operates.

Mr. NugeNT: What I am trying to get at right now is this. You are giving
up the power to make regulations asking for this information in a specific
form for your specific purpose and this is before you have had adequate time
to examine the information already collected. Is this not being a bit premature?

Mr. DurreTT: I think probably not. As I see it, the most important part
of this legislation, so far as corporations are concerned, is the latter part, which
deals with payments to non-residents. These are those things which are of
a particular interest to persons being concerned with the relations between
Canadian companies and their parents. The financial statements, so far as we
can tell, are standard financial statements containing the sort of things one
would expect to find in any financial statement.

Mr. LamBerT: However, you have agreed between you that this, in effect,
is an extension of what was being required for your purposes from a limited
number of corporations to all corporations in that now you will have access
to corporate returns by all corporations?

Mr. DurrETT: This is correct.

Mr. LamsBerT: Could you also tell us why this additional power which
is given to the dominion statistician is taken through the Corporations and
Labour Unions Returns Act.

Mr. DurreTT: I suppose it could be done otherwise, but the reason that
it is done under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act is that
there was duplication under this act, and we wished to make it clear that
the availability of corporation returns from the Department of National Revenue
satisfies the reporting requirements of the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act. The reason it is useful to have access to all corporations returns,
in the first place, is that it would be difficult administratively to specify that
we should have access to certain returns but not to others. Corporations grow
year by year and it is our expectation that something in the order of 1,500
corporations a year, by reason of growth, will become eligible under the Cor-
porations and Labour Unions Returns Act. If there was a segregation in any
way of the returns in national revenue it would be necessary to take the
necessary steps to include them under the access arrangements. The major
reason for access to all returns is that it is intended, in addition, that we
could take over from the Department of National Revenue the publication
of the so-called green book. This report covers all large corporations and
a substantial sampling of small corporations. So, in order to compile these
statistics, it is necessary to have access to the forms of small corporations.

Mr. LamBerT: I understand that, but I think it is a bootlegging way of
doing it. I think you are working through the wrong act; there should have
been an amendment to the dominion statistician’s act or some other appropriate
act, but not this act. What you are accomplishing or trying to accomplish is
being done indirectly.

Mr. DurreTT: In so far as the first objective is concerned, that is avoiding
duplicate reporting, under the Corporations and Labour Unions Returns Act
it would have been necessary to have an amendment to the Corporations and
Labour Unions Returns Act.
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Mr. LAMBERT: Why not in the regulations by merely saying that if the
corporations wish it would be satisfactory to file a copy of their financial state-
ments which they file under the Income Tax Act?

Mr. DUurreTT: They are already permitted to do this. They are permitted
to file a copy of their financial statement. But, it has been suggested to us
by many firms this is an unnecessary duplication and they prefer us to deal
directly with the Department of National Revenue.

Mr. LAMBERT: I am sorry, I just do not buy it.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall clause 1 carry?

Clause agreed to.
Mr. LAMBERT: On division, Mr. Chairman.
Clause 2 agreed to.

On clause 3.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall clause 3 carry?

Mr. NowLAN: Mr. Chairman, you will remember in connection with clause
3 I raised an objection to a repeal of those two subsections. It was discussed at
some length. The minister said it was a matter of government policy which
had been arrived at after careful consideration and that the various people with
whom you have communicated have been advised and have seen the bill. I
therefore think it is a mistake to repeal that section, but I believe that at the
end of the year the whole matter should be reviewed.

The CHAIRMAN: My recollection confirms your remarks, Mr. Nowlan.

Mr. NUGENT: The minister said, I believe, that the report would be forth-
coming and that they would take a look at it when they have seen the report.
That is one of the reasons I would voice an objection and say that some of this
is premature, that it is easier to see the first report at least before you start con-
sidering whether a first review is necessary.

The CHAIRMAN: As I recall, the minister said when he tabled the report,
that we could come back to it at that time.

Mr. NowrLaN: That is right.

Mr. GeLBER: May I ask Mr. Duffett a question? I understand that these
changes are in no way going to limit the amount of information. You will still
have the same amount of information as you have at the present time for these
purposes. Is that correct? What I mean is we do not have to await an evaluation
of the information we receive but we are merely changing the procedure of
collecting that information.

Mr. DurrFeTT: Correct. We will be receiving the same information because
in the regulations it is specified that corporations may now, if they wish, submit
to us copies of the financial statements which they submit to the Department of
National Revenue.

Mr. GELBER: There is no particular reason why we should wait for an
evaluation of the first report because we are simply changing our procedure and
not the information that we are going to have. Would you agree with that?

Mr. DurrFeTT: That is the way I see it.

Mr. GELBER: Actually your department is now going to be obliged to exam-
ine many more returns than it does at the present time, so your burden is going
to be increased.

Mr. DUFFETT: We will have to examine more returns in connection_ with the
preparation of the corporation portion of the report on taxation statistics.

Mr. GELBER: But you are going to examine all corporation returns?
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Mr. DurreTT: Not necessarily. We will examine returns of all large cor-
porations because this is required under the Corporations and Labour Unions
Returns Act, and in part in preparation of the green book. We will examine a
sample of the returns of the small firms in order to include them in the report
on the taxation statistics. There will be some increase in work.

Mr. GELBER: Do you think your department will examine the returns of the
corporations as soon as they are submitted?

Mr. DurreTT: The procedure was outlined I think at the last meeting here.
It is that there are two copies of taxation returns: One remains in the regional
office for assessment, the other copy is sent to Ottawa. It will pass through the
bureau of statistics and we will take from this return the information which
we need and then file it with the Department of National Revenue. We will
therefore see it fairly promptly.

Mr. GELBER: So your information really will be examined much more
quickly than if you were to depend on the Department of National Revenue
to produce the information for you through their assessors?

Mr. DurFreTT: Through the green book, that is what you have in mind,
is it?

Mr. GELBER: If you are examining individual reports what will happen
is that you will now have two sets of officials, two different departments,

examining the corporations’ income tax returns. I presume the reason your
department is doing it is in order to get the information sooner.

Mr. DUrFrFeTT: Yes, this is not very different from what happens now.
There are now two financial statements submitted to the Department of
National Revenue, one of which is used by the assessors, while the other
comes to Ottawa for preparation of the report on taxation statistics. We will
see the latter in very much the same way as the clerks in the Department of
National Revenue see it now..

Mr. GELBER: You would not depend on them to produce the information
you want, would you?

Mr. DurreTT: It would not be very practical for us to use the report on
taxation statistics for our purposes because it takes a year and a half to two
years for this report to come out.

Mr. CaMEeRON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Would it be correct,
Mr. Duffett, to say that you will be passing on to the Department of National

Revenue the report from the corporation after you have extracted from it what
information you require?

Mr. DUFFETT: Yes.
Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Will the corporation

which has filed this with you be covered with regard to the legal requirements

of making a return to the Department of National Revenue within a specified
time?

Mr. DuUFFETT: The report comes first to the Department of National
Revenue and then to us.

Clause agreed to.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall clauses 4 to 6, inclusive, carry?

Clauses 4 to 6, inclusive, agreed to.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall the title carry?

Title agreed to.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall the bill carry?

Bill agreed to.
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The CHAIRMAN: Shall I report the bill without amendment?
Agreed.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, that concludes the business immediately
available before this committee. If it meets with your wishes I would propose
to call the steering committee together very quickly so that we might arrange
the witnesses for Bill No. C-123, the one relating to the insurance, loans and
trust companies. I anticipate that there will be a number of people who desire
to make recommendations. I have already received one communication from
the Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association advising me as follows:

In furtherance of Mr. Kent’s conversation with you yesterday I
wish to say that representatives of the association would like to be
present when your committee is discussing Bill C-123 to amend, among
other statutes, the federal insurance acts.

You mentioned to Mr. Kent that a possible date for your hearings
on the bill would be Tuesday, October 27. It would suit us to have
representatives present on that day.

As there was a possibility that we might be meeting on October 22
I said that subject to direction of the committee we would do so. I merely
point out that I anticipated there would be a number of groups and individuals
who would like to make representations. It is my intention to call a steering
committee meeting very quickly to draft a list of the witnesses and to get the
hearings underway expeditiously.

Mr. NowrLaN: If I am on that steering committee, and I think I am, I hope
you will meet before Thursday afternoon because I will be away for three or
four days.

The CHAIRMAN: I had at the back of my mind a meeting on Thursday
morning.

The meeting is adjourned.
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THURSDAY, October 22, 1964.

Ordered,—That the name of Mr. Chrétien be substituted for that of Mr.
Ryan on the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce.

Attest.

LEON-J. RAYMOND,
The Clerk of the House.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

THURSDAY, October 29, 1964.
(9)

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.15 a.m. this
day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Aiken, Armstrong, Basford, Bell, Cameron
(Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands), Chrétien, Gendron, Greene, Kindt, Lambert,
Macaluso, Mackasey, McCutcheon, Moreau, Otto, Pennell, Scott and Thomas
(18).

In attendance: Mr. R. Humphrys, Superintendent of Insurance; Mr. Wil-
liam Fox, Executive Officer, and Mr. H. A. Urquhart, Loan and Trust Com-
panies Branch, Department of Insurance.

The Chairman presented the Second Report of the Sub- Comrmttee on
Agenda and Procedure, which recommended as follows:

(a) That the Committee meet on Thursdays at 10.00 a.m. and on Fridays
at 9.30 a.m. until consideration of Bill C-123 is completed;

(b) That the Committee invite the Superintendent of Insurance to
attend on Thursday, October 29th, and Friday, October 30th, to
explain the purpose of the Bill and to answer questions; (Note: the
meeting called for October 30th was later postponed to November
3rd);

(¢) That the All Canada Insurance Federation and the Canadian Life
Insurance Officers Association, who have indicated that they wish
to make representations on Bill C-123, be invited to attend on
Thursday, November 5th, and Friday, November 6th, respectively;

(d) That witnesses be asked to provide 75 copies of their briefs prefer-
ably in advance of the meeting to permit study by the members;

(e) That witnesses be advised that they should be prepared to sum-
marize their briefs at the meeting, rather than read the entire brief;

(f) That witnesses who do not submit a written brief should be asked
to advise the Chairman or the Clerk in advance of the meeting of
the general areas which they expect to cover in their presentation;

(g) That, as a general practice, the Committee will not sit while the
House is sitting, except to accommodate out-of-town witnesses.

On motion of Mr. Moreau, seconded by Mr. Bell, the report was approved.

The Committee proceeded to consideration of Bill C-123, An Act to amend
certain Acts administered in the Department of Insurance.

The Chairman called Clause 1 and introduced the witnesses.

It was agreed to consider the Bill clause by clause, allowing each clause
to stand, in order to permit Mr. Humphrys to explain the purpose of each
clause and to be questioned.

Mr. Moreau gave notice of a number of amendments, prepared in the
Department of Insurance, which he proposed to move at a later date. (See

Notices of Motion of Proposed Amendments appended to these Minutes of
Proceedings.)
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Mr. Humphrys explained the purpose of Clause 1, was questioned and the
Clause was allowed to stand.

Mr. Humphrys made a brief statement on Clause 2, explained the purpose
of the proposed amendment to this Clause and was questioned. The Clause
was permitted to stand.

The witness explained Clause 3 and the proposed amendment thereto, and
was questioned.

At the request of Mr. Basford, the witness agreed to provide a list of
companies which are subject to this Act, as well as a list of companies not
coming under the provisions of this Act, such lists to be appended to these
Proceedings. (See Appendix A to today’s Evidence)

Clause 3 was allowed to stand.

The Chairman read into the record letters received from the Canadian
Life Insurance Officers Association and the All Canada Insurance Federation
in reply to letters from the Clerk of the Committee, inviting them to appear
before the Committee.

The Committee agreed that copies of the proposed amendments should be
sent to the above-mentioned and other organizations who had expressed the
wish to make representations on this Bill.

" At 12.30 p.m., the Committee adjourned until 10.00 a.m., Tuesday, Novem-
ber 3, 1964.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.
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APPENDIX TO MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON BANKING

AND COMMERCE, OCTOBER 29, 1964.

NOTICES OF MOTION
OF
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

BILL C-123, AN ACT TO AMEND CERTAIN ACTS ADMINISTERED

IN THE DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE.
(Notice given by Mr. Moreau, October 29, 1964.)

That sub-clause 2 of clause 2 be amended by striking out line 9 on page 2
and by substituting therefor the following:

“and has, subject to section 45, one vote for each share held by him

subject”

That clause 3 be amended

by striking out lines 3 to 9 on page 7 and by substituting therefor
the following:

“long as the percentage of such shares held by or for the
non-resident and associates does not exceed either the percent-
age of such shares held by or for the non-resident and associates
at the commencement of the prescribed day or the smallest per-
centage of such shares held by or for the non-resident and
associates on any subsequent day.

(4) Where after the coming into force of this section a
corporation that was at any time a resident becomes a non-resi-
dent, any shares of the capital stock of a life company acquired
by the corporation while it was a resident and held by it while
it is a non-resident shall be deemed, for the purposes of sections
16C and 16D, to be shares held by a resident for the use or bene-
fit of a non-resident.

(5) Where on or after the prescribed day the par value of
shares of the capital stock of a life company is reduced, the
directors of the life company may, notwithstanding subsection
(2) of section 16C, allot shares of the capital stock of the life
company of the reduced par value to a non-resident who is a
shareholder in exchange for shares of such stock of the unre-
duced par value but not so as thereby to effect an increase in

the aggregate par value of the shares of such stock held by the
non-resident.”;

by renumbering subsections (4) to (6) of section 16F on page 7
as subsections (6) to (8) respectively; and

by striking out line 33 on page 7 and by substituting therefor the
following:
“section (7) of this section.

(9) In determining for the purposes of sections 16B to 16F
whether a person is a resident or non-resident, by whom a
corporation is controlled, or any other circumstances relevant to

Change of
status of
corporate
resident.

Stock splits.

Conclusions
reached by
directors.
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the performance of their duties under those sections, the direc-
tors of a life company may rely upon any statements made in
any declarations submitted under section 16E or rely upon their
own knowledge of the circumstances; and the directors are not
liable in any action for anything done or omitted by them in
good faith as a result of any conclusions made by them on the
basis of any such statements or knowledge.”

That clause 4 be amended by striking out lines 34 to 36 inclusive on page
7 and by substituting therefor the following:

“4. (1) Section 45 of the said Act is repealed and the follow-
ing substituted therefor:

Change in “45. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in its Act of
::g’cll';al incorporation or in this Act, if the subscribed stock of a com-

pany is fully paid, the company may, by a by-law made by the
directors and confirmed by at least two-thirds of the votes cast
at a general meeting of the shareholders duly called for con-
sidering the by-law, divide the capital stock of the company into
shares of one dollar each or any multiple thereof but not exceed-
ing one hundred dollars each.
Voting (2) Where pursuant to subsection (1) the capital stock of
Z‘f:ltize 4 a company registered to transact the business of life insurance
) is divided into shares the par value of which is less than five
dollars each, a holder of the shares shall have as a shareholder
of the company only the number of votes that equals the prod-
uct obtained by dividing the total par value of all his shares in
the capital stock of the company by five.”
(2) The said Act is further amended by adding thereto,
immediately after section 45A thereof, the following section:”

That sub-clause 1 of clause 5 be amended by striking out lines 42 to 44
inclusive on page 8 and by substituting therefor the following:
“under the authority of a province of Canada on property situ-
ated in such province, or the bonds, debentures or other evi-
dences of indebtedness of a fabrique that are fully secured by a
mortgage, charge or hypothec upon real estate or by such rates
or taxes;”

That sub-clause 6 of clause 5 be amended by striking out line 13 on page
11 and by substituting therefor the following:

“or of a province, state or municipality of that”

That sub-clause 1 of clause 13 be amended by striking out lines 8 to 10
inclusive on page 18 and by substituting therefor the following:
“levied under the authority of a province of Canada on property
situated in such province, or the bonds, debentures or other
evidences of indebtedness of a fabrique that that are fully
secured by a mortgage, charge or hypothec upon real estate or
by such rates or taxes;”
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That sub-clause 8 of clause 13 be amended by striking out

page 21 and by substituting therefor the following:

75

line 14 on

“government or a municipality in Canada or any agency thereof,

orl ’

That sub-clause 1 of clause 19 be amended by striking out lines 35 to 37

on page 24 and by substituting therefor the following:

“19, Subsection (6) of section 37 of the Foreign Insurance Com-

panies Act is repealed and the following substituted therefor:

“(6) Where a separate and distinct fund with separate assets
is maintained pursuant to subsection (5), the assets of the fund
so maintained shall be available only to meet the liabilities aris-
ing under policies in respect of which such fund is maintained,
except that amounts transferred to the separate and distinct
fund from other funds of the company may, subject to the
approval of the Superintendent, be withdrawn from the separate
and distinct fund and transferred to such other funds as the
directors may determine.”

20 (1) Paragraph (b) of section 1 of Schedule I to the said

Act is repealed and the following substituted therefor:”

1960-61,
c. 16,s. 4(2)

Segregation
of assets.

That sub-clause 1 of clause 19 be amended by striking out lines 5 to 7 in-

clusive on page 25 and by substituting therefor the following:

“levied under the authority of a province of Canada on property
situated in such province, or the bonds, debentures or other
evidences of indebtedness of a fabrique that are fully secured
by a mortgage, charge or hypothec upon real estate or by such
rates or taxes;”

That sub clause 8 of clause 19 be amended by striking out line 46 on page

27 and by substituting therefor the following:

“government or a municipality in Canada or any agency thereof,
or”

That clauses 20 to 39 be re-numbered as clauses 21 to 40 respectively.

That clause 29 be amended
(a) by striking out lines 45 to 47 on page 37 and lines 1 to 4 on

page 38 and by substituting therefor the following:

“be exercised, in person or by proxy, so long as the percentage
of such shares held by or for the non-resident and associates
does not exceed either the percentage of such shares held by
or for the non-resident and associates at the commencement
of the prescribed day or the smallest percentage of such shares

held by or for the non-resident and associates on any subsequent
day.

(4) Where after the coming into force of this section a
corporation that was at any time a resident becomes a non-
resident, any shares of the capital stock of the company ac-
quired by the corporation while it was a resident and held by

Change of
status of
corporate
resident.
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it while it is a non-resident shall be deemed, for the purposes
of sections 36B and 36C, to be shares held by a resident for the
use or benefit of a non-resident.

Stock splits. (5) Where on or after the prescribed day the par value of
shares of the capital stock of the company is reduced, the direc-
tors of the company may, notwithstanding subsection (2) of
section 36B, allot shares of the capital stock of the company of
the reduced par value to a non-resident who is a shareholder in
exchange for shares of such stock of the unreduced par value,
but not so as thereby to effect an increase in the aggregate par
value of the shares of such stock held by the non-resident.”;

(b) by renumbering subsections (4) to (6) of section 36E on page
38 as subsections (6) to (8) respectively; and

(c) by striking out line 28 of page 38 and by substituting therefor
the following:

“section (7) of this section.

Conclusions (9) In determining for the purposes of sections 36A to
reached by 36E whether a person is a resident or non-resident, by whom
Simactore; a corporation is controlled, or any other circumstances relevant

to the performance of their duties under those sections, the
directors of the company may rely upon any statements made
in any declarations submitted under section 36D or rely upon
their own knowledge of the circumstances; and the directors
are not liable in any action for anything done or omitted by
them in good faith as a result of any conclusions made by them
on the basis of any such statements or knowledge.”

That clause 37 be amended

(a) by striking out lines 45 to 48 on page 49 and lines 1 to 3 on page
50 and by substituting therefor the following:
“the percentage of such shares held by or for the non-resident
and associates does not exceed either the percentage of such
shares held by or for the non-resident and associates at the com-
mencement of the prescribed day or the smallest percentage of
such shares held by or for the non-resident and associates on
any subsequent day.

Change of (4) Where after the coming into force of this section a
iﬁ;“;‘;{e corporation that was at any time a resident becomes a non-
resident. resident, any shares of the capital stock of the company acquired

by the corporation while it was a resident and held by it while
it is a non-resident shall be deemed, for the purposes of sections
51B and 51C, to be shares held by a resident for the use or
benefit of a non-resident.

Stock splits. (5) Where on or after the prescribed day the par value
of shares of the capital stock of the company is reduced, the
directors of the company may, notwithstanding subsection (2)
of section 51B, allot shares of the capital stock of the company
of the reduced par value to a non-resident who is a shareholder
in exchange for shares of such stock of the unreduced par value
but not so as thereby to effect an increase in the aggregate
par value of the shares of such stock held by the non-resident.”;

(b) by renumbering subsections (4) to (6) of section 51E on page
50 as subsections (6) to (8) respectively; and




BANKING AND COMMERCE T

(¢) by striking out line 27 on page 50 and by substituting therefor
the following:

“section (7) of this section.

(9) In determining for the purposes of section 51A 10 conclusions
51E whether a person is a resident or non-resident, by whom reached by
a corporation is controlled, or any other circumstances relevant it i
to the performance of their duties under those sections, the
directors of the company may rely upon any statements made
in any declarations submitted under section 51D or rely upon
their own knowledge of the circumstances; and the directors
are not liable in any action for anything done or omitted by
them in good faith as a result of any conclusions made by
them on the basis of any such statements or knowledge.”

That the following new clause 41 be inserted and the present clauses 40
and 41 renumbered as clauses 42 and 43 respectively:

“41. The said Act is further amended by adding thereto, im-
mediately after section 61 thereof, the following section:

“61A. (1) Notwithstanding anything in section 60 but sub- Investment
ject to subsection (2) of this section and to such terms and ’c’;g;":‘n 5
conditions as may be prescribed by the Treasury Board upon i
the report of the Superintendent, a loan company may invest
its funds in the fully paid shares of a trust company to which
the Trust Companies Act applies.

(2) No investment shall be made by a loan company Limitation.
under subsection (1), if, after the making of such investment,
the aggregate cost to the loan company of the investments
made under subsection (1) and the investments made under
section 60 in shares of such trust companies then held by the

loan company would exceed the aggregate of the loan company’s
then paid-up capital and reserve.”
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EVIDENCE
THURSDAY, October 29, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen of the committee, I see a quorum. I call the
meeting to order.

The purpose of the meeting today is to consider Bill No. C-123.

With your permission I would advise you that your subcommittee on
agenda and procedure met on Thursday, October 22, and agreed to recommend
as follows:

(a) That the committee meet on Thursdays at 10 a.m. and on Fridays
at 9.30 a.m. until consideration of Bill C-123 is completed;

(b) That the committee invite the superintendent of insurance to attend
on Thursday, October 29 and Friday, October 30, to explain the pur-
pose of the bill and to answer technical questions;

(¢) That the All Canada Insurance Federation and the Canadian Life
Insurance Officers Association, who have indicated that they wish
to make representations on Bill No. C-123, be invited to attend on
Thursday, November 5 and Friday, November 6 respectively; and
that the Dominion Investment Association, who have also indicated
that they wish to make representations, be invited to attend;

(d) That witnesses be asked to provide 75 copies of their briefs, prefer-
ably in advance of the meeting to permit study by the members;

(e) That witnesses be advised that they should be prepared to summar-
ize their briefs at the meeting, rather than read the entire brief to
the committee;

(f) That witnesses who do not submit a written brief should be asked
to advise the chairman or the clerk in advance of the meeting of the
general areas which they expect to cover in their presentation;

(g) That, as a general practice, the committee will not sit while the

house is sitting, except to accommodate out of town witnesses in
emergency.

Mr. MoreAU: I so move.

Mr. BELL: I second the motion that the steering committee’s report be
adopted.

Mr. Basrorp: I have one caveat to that report.
I think some of us have a caucus tomorrow morning.

The CHAIRMAN: Probably a word of explanation is in order. It is hoped
that we may complete the clause-by-clause explanation of the bill today, and
in that event the committee would not sit tomorrow. This, of course, is still at
the option of the committee, Perhaps we could hold that decision until the close
of today’s meeting. The Chair will entertain a motion to adjourn at any suitable
hour; and your caveat is noted, Mr. Basford.

I will now call for the adoption of the motion. All in favour of the motion
please indicate.

Motion agreed to.

k The CrAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we have with us today Mr. Humphrys, who
is the depqty minister and who is properly entitled superintendent of insurance.
He has with him two officials of the department, Mr. Fox on his immediate
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right, the executive officer of the department, and Mr. Urquhart, the administra-
tive officer.

It has been suggested that Mr. Humphrys should go through the bill clause
by clause, setting out the meaning of each section in plain English so that when
the witnesses appear next week we will all be conversant with the bill and
equipped to examine the witnesses.

I propose now to call each clause. I will then ask if clause 1 carries, and
then clause 2. When each clause has been explained and there are no further
questions I will assume that the clause will stand. We will go through the bill
clause by clause, standing each one in turn. My procedure is to call each
clause and then stand it.

Mr. LAMBERT: I would suggest that for this procedure in which we will
be receiving explanations the clauses would not be called in any way nor would
they be carried. I think that can only be done when we come to the end and
have heard the representations which are to be made.

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Do they not have to be
called?

Mr. LamBERT: They will only be called in order to facilitate the discussion.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): The chairman said they
would be stood.

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, I will stand them afterwards. However, I think Mr.
Lambert’s suggestion is one of common sense and I am prepared to proceed
along the lines he suggests.

Mr. MoreAavu: I suggest the clauses be called in any event because that will
tend to limit the discussion to a particular clause; and then, as I understand it,
you will stand the clause.

The CHAIRMAN: The Chair is in the hands of the committee here. I do not
want to take too much time on this point; it is just a matter of accommodating
the committee so we can get on with the business of the meeting.

Let me just say that I will call the clauses but not in a formal way.

Mr. OrTo: You are the chairman; go ahead.

Mr. Moreau: If it is in order, I would like to give notice of some amend-
ments.

The reason for which I would like to do this at this time is that the
members of the committee will recall the Minister of Finance saying that he
would be prepared to accept any suggestions from members or from people
in industries concerned. There have been a number of suggestions made to the
department or to the minister which are embodied in some amendments for
which I would like to give notice of motion. The purpose of producing them
at this time would be to give members of the committee a chance to see them,
to give our witness a chance to explain them, and to give advance copies of
them to the witnesses we are going to receive in the future.

I do not know whether or not this is in order, but I think the proceedings
of the committee would be facilitated if this course were followed.

Mr. ScorT: Would we not deal with these amendments as we came to the
clauses concerned?

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Moreau indicated to me earlier that he proposed to
give notice of these amendments and that he would table them immediately
so that every member of the committee would have the amendments in front
of him. The superintendent is conversant with these proposed amendments,
and as we go to each clause he can explain the impact of the proposed
amendments.

Mr. OrTo: Mr. Chairman, is Mr. Moreau putting in his amendments on
behalf of the Minister of Finance?
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The CHAIRMAN: He has given notice of motion that he proposes to put
forward the amendments.

Mr. MorReAU: I understand these amendments have been prepared by the
Department of Finance for the consideration of the committee. I am taking
the responsibility of moving them in the committee.

The CHAIRMAN: They are prepared, I understand, Mr. Moreau.
Mr. MOREAU: Yes.

The CHAIRMAN: Will you distribute them to the members of the committee
so that we may have them before us as we go through the bill.

You are now giving notice of motion that you propose to put forward
these amendments?

Mr. MoreAU: I can list the clauses.

The CHAIRMAN: The notice of motion, I understand from Mr. Moreau, is
being prepared in the French language. Copies are not available at this moment
but they will be available very shortly.

I now invite your attention to the remarks of Mr. Humphrys whom I shall
ask to commence with clause 1.

On Clause 1—Provisions applicable to all companies.

Mr. RicHARD HUMPHRYS (Superintendent of Insurance, Department of
Insurance): I would like to say in my introductory remarks that the purpose
of this bill is to effect amendments in some of the investment powers in the
insurance companies, trust companies, and loan companies; to enact a measure
that will permit the retention in Canada of ownership and control of life
insurance companies, trust companies and loan companies incorporated by
parliament that are not now under foreign control; and also to effect a number
of other administrative amendments which I will explain as we come to them.

This bill, as you know, deals with four different acts. As a consequence,
there is a good deal of repetition in it. In particular, some of the investment
changes are repeated several times, so the actual content of the bill is not
quite so formidable as it appears from its bulk.

Part I of the bill deals with the Canadian and British Insurance Companies
Act. It has amendments affecting Canadian companies and also amendments
affecting the assets that may be vested in trust in Canada by British companies
for the protection of Canadian policy holders.

Part II deals with the Foreign Insurance Companies Act and enacts
amendments parallel in every way to those for British companies.

Part III deals with the Trust Companies Act; and Part IV deals with the
Loan Companies Act.

Clause 1 is an application clause, and the changes there are to make
sure that the proposed new sections dealing with limitations on non-resident
ownership and control apply to all companies, regardless of when incorporated.

Certain provisions of the bill now apply only to companies incorporated
since 1910, but clause 1 will make sure that these provisions, and also the
provision dealing with the grant of a French or English version of a company’s
name, apply to all companies.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions on clause 1?
Mr. OrTo: You are inviting questions on the interpretation?

The CHAIRMAN: Yes, so the purport of the bill is clearly in everyone’s
mind.

As there appear to be no questions on this, may we pass to clause 2, Mr.
Humphrys.

Clause 1 stands.
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On Clause 2—Qualifications of directors.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Clause 2 changes the required qualifications to act as a
shareholder’s director of an insurance company. At present, the requirements
are the ownership of shares of stock of a par value of at least $2,500 or shares
on which at least $500 has been paid as capital. The new proposal will reduce
the requirement to shares on which at least $250 has been paid as capital.

I should make it clear that that measures the amount that has been paid
to the company as capital; it does not necessarily measure the cost of the
shares because the market price of the shares might be very much higher.

The purpose of this is to reduce the required qualification for directors
because in the case of some of our life insurance companies shares having an
amount of $250 paid might mean 25 shares at $10 par value and in some cases
the shares are selling at $300, $400 and even $700 a share. So the present
requirement of fifty $10 shares would require an investment of perhaps $30,000
or $40,000 to qualify as a director, which is unreasonably high. By cutting this
to $250 paid, the requirement will be from a minimum of a few hundred dollars
to a maximum of $17,000 or $18,000 depending upon the market value of the
shares in question.

Mr. LAMBERT: Mr. Chairman, in this connection and in view of the other
requirements of the act, what evidence will be required by the superintendent
of insurance or other persons that the shares are being held by the person
designated absolutely in his own right and that there is not in existence some
sort of trust agreement?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: The requirement in law is that the shares be held abso-
lutely in his own right if he is to qualify, so it is up to the company to deter-
mine that anyone proposed for the board fits this qualification. We have
examiners in the department who look into it from time to time, and if we
have any reason to think that the shares are not absolutely in the shareholder’s
right, we question it; and if necessary we will obtain a declaration or an affi-
davit from him. This has not given rise to any difficulty whatsoever.

Mr. LAMBERT: I noticed it existed in the previous one.

Mr. HumMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. LAMBERT: But then there were no disabilities, were there—

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: No.

Mr. LAMBERT: —in so far as the ownership of shares or, shall we say, the
residential qualifications of any director were concerned?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes, there is presently a requirement that the majority
of the directors shall be residents and citizens of Canada, and this is looked
into now.

Mr. LAMBERT: There is no provision for a statutory declaration? Unless
you as superintendent of insurance exercise a discretion to call for a statutory
declaration there is nothing that puts a shareholder on his mettle to prove
that he is not holding some trust declaration on behalf of someone else behind
his formal ownership?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: There is no penalty in the law, and no requirement that
everyone proposed as a director shall submit a declaration. However, the
eligibility requirement is in the law and I think that any corporation would
be even more concerned than the department to make sure that every director
1s properly qualified, because if they had someone on the board who was
not properly qualified any action that the board took would be called into
question. Therefore, I think every company is very keen to make sure on
its own that its directors are qualified under the law. The point has not given
rise to any difficulty.

Mr. LaMBERT: Hitherto it has not given rise to any difficulty?
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Mr. HumMmPHRYS: No.

Mr. LAMBERT: But, with the new implications, do you feel satisfied that
this requirement is sufficient without calling for a formal statutory declara-
tion either within the regulations or within the act?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: Very definitely.

Mr. LAMBERT: You are satisfied?

Mr. HumpHRyS: Yes. I do not believe that the new provisions relating
to the ownership of shares would change this problem at all.

Mr. LAMBERT: I see.

Mr. Kinpt: Is there a time requirement in order to register as one eli-
gible for being a director?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: Not under the statute.

Mr. KinpT: Can one go out and gather up half a dozen people whom one
wants as directors and let them buy $250 worth of shares and then become
directors or become eligible.

Mr. HumpHRYS: They have to be elected at the meeting, of course, but
there is no time limitation.

Mr. KinpT: There is none in this new bill?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on clause 27

Mr. MOREAU: One of the amendments proposed is in regard to clause 2.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Clause 2 is in two parts. I have dealt with subclause (1).
Subclause (2) is on the next page. This is one of the cases in which an amend-
ment is proposed.

Subclause (2) as presently in the bill amends a section of the act that
deals with the voting rights of shareholders. The present law states that each
shareholder who has paid in cash all calls on his shares is entitled to attend and
vote at all general meetings and to have one vote per share.

In the proposed provisions dealing with non-resident ownership, there
are some cases where a shareholder will not be entitled to vote, so these un-

derlined words are inserted to call attention to subsequent sections where this
right will be modified.

The amendment to which Mr. Moreau has referred will add the words
“subject to section 45” in line nine because that section will modify the
rule of one vote per share. Therefore, this subclause is really calling attention
to subsequent places in the act where the rules otherwise applicable are

modified.

Mr. ScorT: Mr. Chairman, before we leave the first subsection may I say
that it strikes me there is some merit to the suggestion that the directors be
required to make a declaration under the Canada Evidence Act that they are
the holders in full right of the shares.

Since we may not have the benefit of hearing this witness again, could
he give us his comments on the reasons why that should not be done, if any.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: I would say first that I do not think it is necessary because,
though this requirement has been in the law for a great many years, in all my
experience in the department and from any knowledge that I have gained of
experience before my time, this has never given rise to any difficulty. As I said at
the outset, the companies are even more concerned than we because if this
situation developed I believe it might very well call into question the actions
of the board. Therefore, in my experience no one who is not properly qualified

has tried—and I cannot conceive of anyone trying—to become a shareholders’
director.
21308—2
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This change, of course, will reduce the investment required to qualify,
so to that extent it would make it easier. !

Mr. ScotrT: You undertake no investigation to make sure that they do?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Not specifically. We have examiners who look into the
condition of companies’ affairs, and when they do that they look into the ques-
tion of directors’ qualifications to see that they own the required number of
shares. We do not require a statutory declaration. It has never been a problem,
and I would not wish to take the initiative of putting the additional requirement
on the companies when I feel there is no problem to be dealt with.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Will there not be an
added problem to be dealt with?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I would not think so, Mr. Cameron, because already the
law requires that the majority of the directors be Canadian citizens and resi-
dents of Canada. That has been in the law for some years now, and these new
 requirements dealing with non-resident ownership of shares will still contain
room for a substantial proportion of non-resident ownership quite adequate
to qualify a non-resident to act as a director if the rest of the shareholders
who have voting rights wish to elect him as such.

I think it would not be right to take the view that non-residents should
never be directors, because our Canadian life insurance companies do a large
volume of business outside Canada and I believe it is reasonable that there
should be representatives from other countries on the boards.

Mr. OrTo: On that point, Mr. Humphrys, you said that if any of the
directors were not themselves holding the shares in their own right, it would
call into question the actions of the board.

Is it not right to say that it not only calls into question the acts of the
board but that it makes the actions of the board void? Therefore the company
would be very, very careful to see that the meeting was composed of all
directors who were fully qualified; and to substantiate your argument, Mr.
Humphrys, companies would be very careful to see that each director was
properly qualified.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: That is my opinion.

Mr. Otro: You said only that it called into question, but I say to you that
it is quite possible and in fact probable that it makes the meeting void if all
the directors are not fully qualified.

Mr. HumMmpHRY: I would not on my own undertake to give a legal opinion
on that. From the department’s point of view if there were some doubt we
would take an opinion from the Department of Justice and obtain their
advice on it. It is a point of company law.

In any event, I believe it is a situation that any corporation would wish
to avoid.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on subclause (1)?

Mr. Humphrys, I would invite you to go back to subclause (2) and state
very briefly the effect of the amendment if carried.

Mr. HumpHRYS: The effect of the amendment would call attention to a
subsequent place in the bill where the rule that a shareholder has one vote
per share will be modified.

Mr. KinNpT: Can you in a few words summarize your views, Mr. Humphrys,
of what may be accomplished by this restriction on voting rights of foreigners?
What are the good effects and what are the bad effects?

Mr. HumpHRYS: This would be on clause 3.

The CHAIRMAN: The suggestion was made at the beginning, Mr. Kindt,
that at this meeting we would just go through each clause and explain the
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meaning. Later, the minister will be appearing before the committee, and other
witnesses. I suggest your question might more properly be directed to the min-
ister than to one of the officials.

Does that meet with your approval, Mr. Kindt?

Mr. KinpT: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Clause 2 stands.

On Clause 3—Definitions.

Mr. HumMpHRYS: This clause of the bill proposes the enactment of five new
sections, and these are the sections that deal with the question of limiting the
degree of non-resident ownership and control of life insurance companies in-
corporated by parliament that are not now under non-resident control.

I think the best way for me to explain the plan and the content of these
sections would be to go through them section by section. As we pass through
them I will try to explain the plan.

The first of the five sections is numbered 16B, as you will see. This is a
definition section. Subsection (1) of the proposed section 16B defines what is to
be considered as a non-resident for subsequent purposes in the bill. Essentially,
these non-residents are defined as individuals who are not ordinarily resident
in Canada, and corporations, including in that term associations, partnerships
or other organizations, that are incorporated or formed out of Canada.

The definition also includes Canadian corporations that are under the
control of non-residents; it includes trusts established by non-residents or
trusts where a majority of those having the beneficial interest are non-resi-
dents; and it includes Canadian corporations controlled by a non-resident trust.

Then, for convenience and subsequent reference, a resident is stated to be
anyone who is not a non-resident.

Mr. LamBerT: What are the criteria within the department of insurance
for the definition of “ordinarily resident”.

Is this the income tax provision that a minimum of ordinary residence of
180 days in Canada shall deem a person to be a resident of Canada?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: There is nothing in the legislation or regulations promul-
gated by the department that would define this term. From the way in which
the plan is proposed, the responsibility for allowing or refusing to allow a
transfer of shares rests upon the board of directors of the corporation that has
issued the shares, and it would be up to the directors to decide whether the
proposed transferee is ordinarily resident in Canada or not. I believe from the
way the plan is proposed they could use their discretion in making a judgment;
I do not think they would have to be bound by any particular rule.

Even if a man were here for a year or two years, if his posting were tem-
porary, and it was intended, and he knew it was intended, that he would go
back to his own country, the ordinary view would be that he is not ordinarily
resident in Canada. I think there may be borderline cases, but essentially it is
an area where the directors would have discretion to look at the case and make
up their minds what they think about it.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Does that not mean that
you are leaving in the hands of the board of directors the right to define what
is or is not a non-resident?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Substantially, yes.

Mr. LaMmBERT: What if you disagree? Because of the penalties on non-re-
sidents, I would have thought for the purposes of the act and for the clarifica-

tion of all the boards of directors of companies covered by these acts there

would be established a yardstick as in the Income Tax Act.
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. Mr. HumpHRYS: I think to attempt to define it on an arbitrary formula
would weaken the effectiveness of the plan rather than strengthen it.

It is true that directors would have some discretion, but I think in dealing
with these matters there will inevitably be cases, not only with regard to this
question but also with regard to the question of control, where someone’s dis-
cretion will have to be used, and the essence of this plan is to give discretion
for transfers to the board of directors.

The plan also provides for a limitation of voting rights in certain circum-
stances, so even if the directors allow the transfer of shares and the transfer
is valid, it does not necessarily mean that for voting the transferee has
received the status of a resident, for purposes of the act.

The legislation makes it a matter of law whether a person can exercise
voting rights or not in certain circumstances, so if a dispute arises it would
be a matter for the court to determine whether the person was ordinarily
resident in Canada or not.

Mr. LamMBeRT: May I respectfully submit that here is an area of uncer-
tainty that I do not think will be beneficial to the plan as envisaged by the
legislation.

Mr. HumPHRYS: I think it should be kept in mind on points such as this
that these provisions are not of the same nature as the provisions of taxing
statutes. There is not the same prize, if I may use that word, for finding a
loophole as there might be in the case of a taxing statute because what we are
essentially dealing with here is a question of control, and there is no real
motive or incentive to find room to get a share or two. If it does not involve
a large block of shares it is not going to have much effect on the control of
the company.

I believe there may be some borderline cases where a question of opinion
might be involved, but I do not think cases so involved will be numerous enough
to cause a real problem in administering the section.

Mr. Moreau: What objection would there be to the relatively simple yard-
stick of Canadian citizenship?

Mr. HumpHRYS: It would insert additional administrative difficulties
because there are a great many people in Canada who have lived here for
many years, perhaps most of their lives, and who may not be Canadian citizens.

Mr. Macrasey: Why would they not be Canadian citizens?

Mr. HuMmpHRYS: Perhaps they are British subjects but not Canadian
citizens.

In setting this up and putting the responsibility on the directors, the plan
attempts to keep the administrative problems within reasonable confines.

Mr. MoREAU: It seems to me that the onus of establishing Canadian citizen-
ship could still be left to the board of directors.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: Yes, but I was trying to clarify my answer by indicating
that the plan as proposed lays certain responsibilities or duties on the board of
directors, and in so doing it is important to keep the scope of the administrative
problems within some reasonable area.

As presently drafted the plan requires the directors to look at the question
of residence only when they are considering a transfer. They do not have to
go further and inquire into his citizenship; they do not have to inquire into
beneficial ownership of the shares: so this simplifies their problem to some
extent without, I think, weakening the purposes and effect of the plan.

You could require citizenship. It would mean that for every transfer even
for small shares, and where you know the person and it is fairly obvious where
he is living, nevertheless you would have to get a declaration from him with
regard to citizenship. It adds problems that it was thought could be avoided,
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and it was considered it would be sufficient to go only as far as the residence
question. I think to put in a citizenship requirement would add further diffi-
culties; it would tighten it up. It is a question of judgment whether the addi-
tional tightening up would warrant the additional problems in operation.

Mr. BasrForp: In section (c) (iii) what are your criteria for control?

In answering the question I would ask you to address your mind to the
problem of a publicly held company with very widespread shareholders where
it is possible for one person or one group of people in fact to control the com-
pany while holding a relatively small number of shares if the rest of the share-
holders are widely dispersed and separate.

Mr. HumPHRYS: There is no definition of the term in these proposed sec-
tions, and the problem there is not unlike the problem of residence that we
were just discussing.

The intention is to leave the question of control to be looked into by the
directors, and to judge the case on the circumstances so far as they can learn
them.

There are a wide variety of cases, problems and circumstances dealing
with this question of control. I think generally one could start from one extreme
and say it would nearly always be accepted that where an individual has a
majority of the voting shares he controls the corporation. But going from
there to the opposite extreme where the shares are very widely spread in small
blocks, looking also at the problems that would be thrown up by corporate
empires, as you might say, with parents and subsidiaries and voting trusts
and a wide variety of circumstances, it seems that the feasible course is to
put on the directors the obligation to look at each case and to form their own
view, and let them make their decision on that basis in accordance with the
circumstances as they find them.

Any effort at writing in a definition by formula would almost inevitably
sweep in some cases that perhaps you did not want to sweep in and perhaps
leave out others that should be swept in—for example, perhaps a majority of
shares of a Canadian company or a majority of the voting interest might be
in the hands of non-residents. However, if it was widely spread in small blocks,
I do not think it could be properly held that the corporation was under the
control of non-residents, because I think the concept or the idea of control
implies the power to direct in some continuing fashion the affairs and fortunes
of the corporation.

It does not mean merely to a temporary power to dominate a meeting.
For example, by gathering together enough proxies to swing a vote, I do not
think a holder of the proxies would normally be considered to control the
company. He might have the dominant voice at a particular meeting, but I
think the concept of “control” carries with it some continuing power.

Mr. Basrorp: Having left it to the board of directors to determine in their
own minds the question of control, what happens if you are not satisfied with
the opinion they arrive at?

Mr. HumpHRYS: If they approve a transfer acting in good faith, the transfer
of shares is valid. So the opinion or the area of discretion is left with the
directors. The safeguard in so far as the public interest is concerned is the
provision that if a non-resident owns or controls more than 10 per cent of the
shares of one of these companies he cannot vote at all. Therefore, an incentive
to find a way through the restrictions that would otherwise apply is removed.
If he gets the shares because in the opinion of the directors of the corporation
he is a resident, although in fact he is a non-resident, then if he attempts to
vote those shares he may leave himself open to a penalty. Furthermore, any
action taken at a meeting at which such voting takes place may be voided by
the company at a subsequent meeting. There is still the safeguard that if a
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person is a non-resident he cannot vote if he has more than 10 per cent of
the shares.

Mr. Basrorp: It would seem to me obvious that three different Rocke-
fellers could own 8 per cent of the shares and quite clearly in the context of
Canadian business, could control that company.

Mr. HumpHRYS: The proposal defines certain circumstances in which
shareholders will be associated with each other. The definition of “associa-
tion” is in subsection (2) of 16B and sweeps in the main types of cases where
you might expect shareholding to be split up within a corporate structure. It
does not attempt to describe every possible association. In the circumstance
or illustration that you mentioned in which perhaps three brothers each have
8 per cent of the shares and agree to vote in concert, they might, it is true,
have the largest single voice in the meeting. But there is a limitation of 25
per cent on the total shares that can go out to non-residents, so under this
limitation they would not be able to get more than 25 per cent if there were
three brothers working on it.

The problem thrown up by that particular illustration is not, I think,
the kind of problem that gave rise to this plan. The problem that is being
dealt with by this plan is the problem of persons seeking to buy, or buying,
a complete controlling interest.

The experience we have had on the question of non-residents buying
control of existing insurance companies has been that this pressure comes
from outside insurance interests and from individuals or groups who are
interested in buying control—real control, by which I mean a majority of
the voting interest, not merely temporary control which would be on the
basis of perhaps a large block of shares but not a dominant block.

While the possibility does exist of persons working in concert who are
not deemed by this act to be associated, it is a kind of arrangement that is
not likely to result in a majority of the voting interest being held by the
persons concerned, or an arrangement that is a continuing one, or one that
would lead to permanent alienation of control of a Canadian enterprise.

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Did I understand you to
say just now that the onus does not rest on the directors to determine the
beneficial owners of the shares or to determine whether or not the titular
owners are in fact the real owners?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: No.

Mr. CamERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): It rests with you? If
you have any suspicion you investigate it? Is that the case?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: The only case in which this question would arise, Mr.
Cameron, is where people propose to vote the shares. Then the statute says
that. if anyone votes the shares in circumstances described in a subsequent
section he is leaving himself open to penalty, and the actions taken at the
meeting at which he votes are voidable.

If the department knew of a case where votes were being cast that should
not be cast we could take the same action that we would take in connection
with any other violation of the statute.

Mr. CameroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): To come back to the
case suggested by Mr. Basford where a comparatively small group has effec-
!:we control of a corporation, would the directors of such a company not be,
in .effect, the nominees of that small group? And are you not under this
legxslat;'on asking those people to investigate themselves to find out whether
the basis of their control is legal or illegal under the terms of this act? They
do not have to find out whether or not the shares that have been voted to
put them in as directors are in effect owned by those people or not; you

do not put any onus on them for that, and yet you are asking them to police
themselves.
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~ Mr. HumpHRYS: The persons who vote the shares or who act as proxies
for persons who are prohibited from voting are themselves liable to penalty.
So if anyone casts votes in circumstances in which voting is prohibited, he
himself is liable to a fine or a jail sentence, or both. In addition to that, the
action taken at the meeting is voidable.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): I know, but what grounds
have you for supposing that your department will be able to unearth any
private arrangements or secret arrangements with regard to the ownership of
these shares? When you do not put any onus on the directors to themselves
check on this, it seems to me there is quite a large hole in the legislation, a
hole for large wagons to be driven through.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think the fact that there are fairly serious penalties on
anyone who votes when he should not vote is itself a very substantial deterrent
to anyone taking this action at a meeting.

The fact that the penalty exists and the fact that the actions taken at the
meeting are voidable creates a circumstance in which it is virtually incon-
ceivable that anyone would invest a very large amount of money in attempting
to buy a company only to have his control or his power to direct the company
rest on such a questionable and unstable basis. There just would be no point
in a foreign investor attempting to buy a company in such circumstances.

I know that non-residents often regard shares of Canadian life insurance
companies and other companies as good investments—but they are not that
good.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): When you leave the
power of definition of a resident or a non-resident in the hands of this same
board of directors, where are you?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: The definition is not left in their hands as far as voting
is concerned.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): What yardstick do they
use? You say there is no yardstick here.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: They must use their own opinion on the question of trans-
fer, but on the question of voting it is the law that is speaking, and any person
who is in this status—

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): What definitions are
applied there? What yardstick is applied there for resident or non-resident
with regard to voting?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: The yardstick as defined here is a person who is ordinarily
resident in Canada or a corporation formed outside.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): But you have already
told us that the directors are the only ones who have the power to interpret
that and make the definition.

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I said the obligation on the directors under the plan
extends to the question of allowing or refusing to allow the transfer of shares;
and in order to make a determination of whether to allow or refuse to allow
they must form an opinion on whether the proposed transferee is a non-resident
or not. However, the provisions dealing with voting rights state that if a non-
resident, together with associates, owns directly or indirectly more than 10 per
cent of the shares, no one shall exercise the voting rights on those shares. If
anyone does, it is up to him to decide, and he knows whether he is a resident

or not. If he votes when he is a non-resident, then he may leave himself open
to a penalty.

Mr. CaMmerON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): How does he know
whether he is resident or non-resident?
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Mr. HuMmPHRYS: As the provisions are drafted, if a dispute were to arise
it would have to be left to a court to determine.

Mr. BasrForD: You are talking of someone who, within the statutes, is
clearly not entitled to vote, but we are talking about a person who is clearly
entitled to vote and where there is some question. I question whether it should
come down on this side or on the other side.

I am suggesting to you, for example—and I am mentioning names but
not in order to malign anyone—that a Canadian director of the Mercantile
Bank who is also a director of an insurance company, if he has any possibility
of voting in different ways is not going to vote against the interests of the Chase
Bank of New York.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Of course. Even if you were to legislate that all the
directors must be Canadian citizens resident in Canada, you cannot legislate
how they are going to vote on any particular issue; I agree with you. The only
suspension of voting rights proposed in this plan takes place in the case of a
non-resident who owns more than 10 per cent of the shares, so you do not have
to worry about the small shareholder because there is no suspension of voting
rights for him. If he has the shares he can attend and vote. It is one of the
aspects of this plan that, in order to make it work, directors do not have to
investigate the status of every shareholder. The suspension of voting rights,
the penalties provided for exercising voting rights, and prohibitions against
exercising voting rights apply only in cases of relatively large blocks of shares,
and it seems highly unlikely that it would be all that difficult to determine the
residence status of those few shareholders who own blocks of shares in excess
of 10 per cent.

Furthermore, the purchase of 10 per cent of the shares of any of these
corporations is not a small investment, and investors are careful of their own
investments and are looking to their own interests. There would be no motive
or incentive to put a large investment into a corporation in regard to which your
status would be in question.

er. Basrorp: Do you have a list of the companies operating under this
act?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: We have a list of the Canadian life insurance companies
that are registered with our department—companies that are subject to this
act—and T also have a list of those that would be subject to these provisions
by reason of still being under Canadian control.

Mr. Basrorp: I wonder if they could be tabled and appended to today’s
proceedings?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would be glad to do that.

The CHAIRMAN: I am advised there would be no objection to that, Mr.
Basford.

: Mr. Orro: Mr. Chairman, with great respect I wonder whether you are
going to succeed in having Mr. Humphrys only interpret the meaning of the
sections and not the purpose, because it seems we are going all over the place.
I ml}St say I am still confused—in fact more confused now—on the term
“ordinary resident”. However, I think the minister will be able to define those
words more clearly when he comes before us.

Mr. HumPHRYS: So far as the definition is concerned in the bill as proposed,
the situation is as I have described it.

Mr. Orro: In section 16B(c) (ii) the words “a corporation incorporated,
formeg or otherwise organized elsewhere than in Canada” are used. Is the
meaning of this subsection that it will be considered a non-resident corpora-
tion if it was originated elsewhere? For instance, an English insurance com-
pany may have been originated and formed before Canada itself, and even if
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95 per cent of the shares are owned by Canadians now would that still be con-
sidered to be a foreign corporation or non-resident regardless of where the
shares are held at the present time?

Mr. HuMpPHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. OTrT0: And the same thing would apply, for instance, for the Seven
Arts Production, which I believe was a New York company. Of course, this
was not in the field of insurance. If all the shares were held by Canadians
would it still be considered a non-resident corporation?

Mr. HumpHRYS: Under this definition, yes.

The CHAIRMAN: As we get to the other sections I think you will find the
benefit of the method we are using now will become more evident. This defini-
tion is a little tedious, I know.

Are there any further questions on clause 3?

Mr. KinpT: I have one other point to make before we leave that.

I gain the impression that the enforcement of the provisions of the act is
purposely left to a large extent to the corporations themselves.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: I would say that is correct.

Mr. KinpT: Therefore it has been necessary in writing this to choose such
words as “ordinarily resident”. In other words, it is like trying to pin an eel
with a blunt fork, and that term is just that.

If it were going before the courts at a later time you would not leave
“ordinarily resident” in the act as it now stands? It seems to me that this opens
the door. You could crawl in and out. Any corporation or board of directors
could vary that one way or the other. If you want a fine line determined in
court you could not turn back to the organic act and find the purpose of such
terms as “ordinarily resident”.

I think it is necessary for us to get the point of view of the department
and to find out what they have in mind in reference to this act. I think it hinges
on the fact that the corporations are supposed largely to look after it themselves.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is right, and I would suggest also that if the question
is so finely drawn that it is difficult to decide whether an individual is a resident
or not a resident, it probably does not matter very much whether he gets the
shares or does not get the shares because the question involved would not
then relate to control—non-resident control—of the corporation.

In any event, if as I have said he knew that he was in fact a non-resident,
then his voting power would rest on a very questionable status. The probability
of anyone making a large investment in a corporation on such a dubious
foundation is quite small.

Mr. KinpT: It would also be impossible to administer it if you nailed it
right down in the form of a definition?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: It would be very difficult to draw a definition that would
do what you want to do, because once you get a definition, then you open the
way to persons setting themselves about circumventing the rule by merely
qualifying under the definition. For example, if you set a definition of one year’s
residence if there were advantages otherwise accruing, this would almost be
an invitation to persons to establish their one year and say, “Now I am home
free.”

By leaving it without a specific definition but with the intention fairly
clearly indicated, you greatly reduce the possibility or probability of anyone
attempting to gain control or have the major voice in a corporation by finding
some way through or around a technical provision.

The CHAIRMAN: May we then proceed to the next subclause, Mr. Hum-
phrys?
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Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subsection (2) of 16B deals with the question of associa-
tions, and I think the problems there are much as we have discussed. This defines
circumstances in which shareholders are deemed to be associated one with
another, and the intention is to permit shares owned by non-residents to be
lumped together where it seems likely that the exercising of the voting rights
of those shares will be under a common direction.

This definition is necessary in connection with the later provision that
suspends voting rights in the case of blocks of shares exceeding 10 per cent
that are owned by non-residents and their associates.

Section 16C on page 3 of the bill is the main operative section of the
proposal. This is the section that places the obligation on the directors to
refuse to allow the transfer of shares that is, the entry of the transfer of shares
in the company’s books, in the circumstances defined in paragraphs (a), (b),

(c) and (d). The legislation in existing provisions states that unless the trans- -

fer of a share is registered on the books of a company it is not valid. Therefore
the control is placed in the hands of the directors in connection with their
power to allow or refuse to allow the entry of a transfer in the books of
the company.

The circumstances in which directors are required to refuse to allow the
entry of a transfer to a non-resident are four. The first is where there is
already 25 per cent of the shares in the hands of non-residents. They cannot
permit any further transfers, that would increase the non-resident holding—
but this does not prevent them from allowing transfers between one non-
resident and another. The second circumstance is where non-residents hold
less than 25 per cent of the shares but the transfer under consideration would
push that holding over 25 per cent. The third circumstance is where the
transferee, together with shareholders associated with him, already owns
more than 10 per cent of the shares. This would cause them to refuse to allow
the transfer to him of any more shares; and this would apply whether the
transfer was from a resident or from another non-resident. The fourth cir-
cumstance is where the transferee together with associates owns less than
10 per cent of the shares but the transfer, if approved, would push his holding
over 10 per cent.

The plan, then, is to put a limit of 25 per cent on the shares that can be
transferred to non-residents, and a limit of 10 per cent on the shares that
can be held by any one non-resident together with shareholders associated
with him.

The section also provides that an allotment of shares shall be treated in
the same fashion as a transfer, and it provides that default in complying with
the provisions of the section does not affect the validity of the transfer.

These may seem odd, but as we have noted in the earlier discussion,
there may be borderline cases. There may be cases of the transfer of small
blocks of shares where, if this provision were not put in, title to the shares
might be under question, and you might have a situation in which years later
the title to the small block of shares that were transferred in good faith might
be drawn into question. Therefore, in order to avoid that very difficult situation
it is provided that if a transfer is allowed on the books of the company it is
valid. However, the directors who knowingly permit any transfer which should
not be permitted are subject to penalty. The word “knowingly” is put in there
so that if they act in good faith they are not going to find themselves subject
to penalty.

That is the obligation resting on the directors. It is to be noted that in
carrying out these obligations they need look at residence only. There may be
circumstances where a resident buys shares and has them registered in his
own name, but a non-resident is in fact the beneficial owner. If that situation
arises, then in the subsequent section, which I will come to in a moment, the
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voting rights are suspended. However, if the directors were required to in-
vestigate the beneficial ownership of the shares it would put a considerably
larger degree of responsibility and administrative difficulty on them. It would
raise a great many difficulties in the ordinary market operations where it may
happen that one shareholder as nominee holds shares for a number of non-
residents, and in fact the beneficial owners may change from time to time
without a transfer on the books of the company. Looking at this plan as a
whole it is not necessary to require the directors to make this further investiga-
tion; consequently the responsibility on them extends only to the question of
transfers and only on questions of residence, not the beneficial ownership.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Is there any obligation
on the part of the companies to report to your department the proportion of
non-resident ownership at any particular time?

Mr. HumPpHRYS: The companies reporting to us always supply us with the
list of shareholders showing the name and residence of the shareholders. In
the present circumstance the directors do not have the power to call for
complete disclosure of residence or beneficial ownership of the shares, but in
a subsequent section in this plan they are given power to enact bylaws that
would enable them to investigate in great detail the status of the shareholders
lists, and we will get that information.

Mr. OTT0: In section 1 of 16C we see the words “directors of a life insurance
company shall refuse to allow in the book or books referred to in section 15...”

I do not know what section 15 says but I want to put my point in this way.
If the board of directors authorized at a meeting of the board of directors the
transfer of a large block of shares to John Jones or Mr. Rockefeller, as Mr.
Basford has said, and instructed the secretary of the company at such time or
times which are not specified to make those transfers in the share registry book,
this may go on—as it does go on in some companies—for years without having
the actual transfer made effective in the transfer book because there is no time
limit. In the meantime there is a vote. The present shareholder according to the
share registry book votes by proxy or at the instructions of the purchaser. Does
this definition of book or books also include the minute book of the company or
only the share transfer book?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Only the share transfer book.

Mr. OtTo: There is no provision in any act that I know of that enforces the
secretary of the company to make the share transfer in the share transfer book
in accord with the minutes of the meeting. So it is quite possible that the board
of directors may authorize the sale of shares or the transfer of shares but no

entry having been made in the share transfer book the transaction would not
come under this provision.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is possible, but the law provides that if a transfer is
not entered in the book it is not valid for any purpose other than showing the
rights of two parties between one another.

Mr. OrTto: You can exercise the same control through rights as you can
through shares.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think perhaps the next section bears on that problem.

In section 16D (1) it is stated that where a resident holds shares of the
capital stock of a life insurance company in the right of or for the use or benefit
of the non-resident, the resident shall not, either in person or by proxy, exercise
the voting rights pertaining to those shares.

3 So in the circumstances that you describe, if the shares remain registered
in t_he name of a resident but have in fact been sold to a non-resident, then the
resident would be holding those shares for the use or benefit of the non-resident
because the purchaser would surely expect the dividends. Therefore in the

circumstances no one would be permitted to exercise the voting rights pertaining
to those shares.
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Mr. Basrorp: I may be anticipating a little, Mr. Humphrys, and if so please
tell me.

I understand section 16C does not apply to companies to which on a
prescribed day there was a majority of non-resident ownership.

Why do we not have section 16(c), in these provisions at least, relating
to the balance of the Canadian ownership in non-resident companies so that the
element of non-residency cannot at least be increased?

Mr. HumPHRYS: One of the principles running through this plan is not to
interfere with the existing holdings, not to take away the existing rights that
shareholders have. Where a non-resident has purchased a control of a Cana-
dian company, in effect these provisions do not attempt to recapture the shares.
What they are attempting to do is to prevent further companies passing under
non-resident control.

Mr. Basrorp: May I interrupt? I appreciate and quite frankly I agree with
it. If someone now has 75 per cent control of the company, I am not in favour
of thumping him over the head so that he gets rid of it, but I am concerned with
the balance of the 25 per cent which in the case I am thinking of would be
Canadian owned. Under the legislation, that remaining 25 per cent could next
month be sold to non-residents.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. Basrorp: I am concerned with the hardship involved in at least
preventing that 25 per cent from becoming non-resident.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: I think perhaps the answer to your question is that the
purpose of this plan is to prevent the sale of the control of the companies that
are now under Canadian control. This plan, where a company is already under
non-Canadian control does not attempt to deal with the preservation of a mini-
mum proportion of Canadian ownership. I do not feel that I am in a position
to give an opinion on whether or not that would be a desirable thing to do.
This plan does not attempt to deal with that situation. That is as far as I can
go. If your question is “Why does it not?”, I think perhaps the minister should
more properly answer it.

Mr. Basrorp: Do you have a list of companies that would be excluded?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. Basrorp: Could they be tabled?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. Basrorp: What is the degree of American control of the companies
that are excluded?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: It varies. In most cases it is practically complete, but in
some cases it may range from 75 per cent up. There are 13 such companies
registered with our department.

Mr. GrReENE: There is no practical reason, from the standpoint of adminis-
tration, why they could not be included with respect to minority holdings. It is
purely a question of policy. Is that correct?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: I would not think that the administrative problems would
be any more difficult than are now being faced under this plan. I should add
a.ls_o that the law already requires that a majority of the directors be Canadian
citizens resident in Canada, whether the majority of the voting interests is in
the hands of a non-resident or not.

The CHAIRMAN: Can we move on to section 16D?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Section 16D(2) deals with the question of voting rights.
I have already touched on subsection (1). It provides that where a resident
holds shares for the use or benefit of the non-resident, the resident, that is
the shareholder, shall not either in person or by proxy, exercise the voting
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rights. I noted earlier that the directors, in considering transfers, need only to
look at the residence of the transferee. If the transferee is buying the shares
for the use or benefit of the non-resident, this subsection will remove the voting
rights. This removal of voting rights applies regardless of how many shares may
be involved in this particular operation.

The second subsection provides that where a non-resident, together with
associates, holds directly or indirectly more than 10 per cent of the shares,
then no one shall exercise the voting rights. That prohibition applies not
only to the shareholder but also to anyone acting as proxy for him. So that if
the shareholder does not show up to vote at the annual meeting, there would
be no question, but if he does show up to vote, it is incumbent on him to see
to it that the prohibition described in section 16D does not apply to him.
Otherwise, if he does attend and votes, he is leaving himself open to penalty
of a fine or imprisonment or both. The section goes on to provide that if
someone votes, notwithstanding this prohibition, then the fact of so voting
does not of itself void action taken at the meeting, but any action taken is
voidable at a subsequent meeting within one year. This seems essential because
otherwise the holder of a small number of shares might, through ignorance
or misunderstanding, vote, and one would not want the proceedings at the
annual meeting to be called into question because of an action that could
have no possible effect on the outcome. However, the person concerned would
nevertheless leave himself open to penalty.

Mr. AIKEN: Might I ask a question at this point? This is a purely personal
obligation on the part of the holders, and there is no other means of super-
vision of it. Is that right?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: It falls in the same category as any other violation of the
statute. The penalties are applicable on a summary conviction.

Mr. BASFoRD: I am a little concerned about subsection (4) which I have
not had sufficient time to think out. The proceedings are void and voidable at
the option of the company. What Mr. Aiken said was that to comply with that
section is a purely personal obligation. I cannot for the life of me imagine
circumstances where a man would exercise his option and declare it void, can
you?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: The presence of this provision would deter any non-resi-
dent from attempting to control the company by disregarding the prohibition
otherwise provided. He would know that even if he had attended and voted,
even if no one challenged his right to vote or attempted to apply the penalties
to him, that anything done at the meeting is voidable by the other shareholders.
It is therefore a practical impossibility to control a company in any continuing
fashion on a basis such as that. So the presence of this statutory provision
would, I believe, act as an effective deterrent to anyone attempting to cast
his vote regardless of the prohibition, even if he were prepared to submit to
the penalty in order to dominate the meeting. In such a case the rest of the
shareholders could reverse the action taken.

Mr. BAsSFORD: I can appreciate the difficulties you raised. You say that if
these provisions are not observed, then the proceedings should not be void
because to make them automatically void would create an intolerable situation
in companies, I think. However, what thought has been given to making them
also voidable at the option of the governor in council or the superintendent of
insurance or the Minister of Finance?

Mr. HumpHRYS: This plan, as has already been noted, is based on the
principle of placing the obligation on the directors of the company and on
the shareholders concerned. We have already noted that there are areas where
it may be necessary to exercise discretion. One can conceive of a plan where
that discretion would be placed in the hands of government officials or in the
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hands of the governor in council or in the hands of a committee of the cabinet.
However, the plan as proposed, leaves the element of discretion with the
directors with the thought that it is sufficient as designed to effect the purpose,
which is to prevent control of companies now under Canadian control passing
into foreign hands. It does not put the government or a government official
in the position of supervising the actions at an annual meeting. It rather
attempts to say that the decisions at the company meeting shall be taken
predominantly by Canadians. If the shareholders of the company, those who
have voting rights, are satisfied with the actions taken, then the actions are
accepted. One can conceive of a plan, of course, for putting more discretion
in the hands of government officials, but this plan attempts to deal with the
problem without going any further than seems absolutely necessary in inter-
fering with the company’s own operation.

Mr. BAsrorD: Do you have the right—and this may be a legal question
which you might not want to answer—to apply to a court for an injunction
restraining individuals or companies from breaching any of these provisions,
an injunction restraining them from entering transfers, or voting, or this sort
of thing?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I cannot answer that. I would have to get legal advice
on that. We can take action if the provisions of the statute are violated, but
whether we can seek an injunction I do not know.

Mr. Basrorp: You can take action by way of a summary conviction after
the event, but I want to know whether you can take action before the event?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I do not know.

Mr. A1keN: Is that not really covered by the previous section, the essence
of preventing transfers under 16C? Is 16D not merely a penalty section to back
up the non-transfer rules?

Mr. OTTo: Section 16C applies to directors.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Notwithstanding the prohibition in 16C as to transfer of
shares, there may be some circumstances where non-residents will acquire
ownership of shares that do not involve a transfer on the books of the company.
For example, a resident could move or an association could be formed among
non-residents leading to control of blocks of shares in excess of 10 per cent.
To meet these circumstances section 16D is put in, that is to prevent non-resi-
dents gaining control of a company through those means.

Mr. GREENE: Does the Department of Insurance presently have some polic-
ing or investigatory power over the companies in respect of present rules
applicable to life companies?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. GREENE: Is it contemplated by regulation or otherwise that those
investigatory powers will be augmented to permit officials of the department
to determine whether these new rules are complied with from year'to year
by the various companies?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Yes, indeed. In our regular supervision and examination of
companies we look into all aspects of the governing statutes to see to it that
they are complied with.

Mr. BELL: Do you not envisage a great many references of different deals
that may be taking place, such as those that the combines director might now
have and on which you will be asked to express yourself, either in a legal way
or in a semi-legal way, regarding their desirability? I think you are going to
have a great many of the problems that we have under the Combines Investiga-
tion Act now. As Mr. Greene suggests, the difficulty is going to be to police
it afterwards. You can threaten them with a penalty when they first talk about
what they are going to do.

|
|
1
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Mr. HumpHRYS: We do not expect a great number of these problems, Mr.
Bell. I think we have spent quite a bit of time this morning in discussing what
you might refer to as borderline cases. They are obviously the difficult cases
and they must receive attention, but the normal flow of share transfers, I think,
will give rise to very few problems of this type. I think that the borderline cases
that will be encountered will be relatively few. The presence of this plan and
these provisions in the statute will deter non-residents who might otherwise be
interested in buying control of a company from doing so. There are many other
ways to invest money, and to be faced with a complex pattern such as this would
mean, to a non-resident who is seeking a large investment to control a company,
that he would turn elsewhere. It would not make sense to me to put a large
investment in an area that gives rise to any doubts or difficulties of this type.

Mr. BELL: In other words, the plan is more or less a window dressing or
public relations rather than any great idea to police this?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would not agree with that as stated. However, I would
suggest that the presence of the plan might result in a great reduction in the
desire to gain control of companies subject to these rules.

Mr. Basrorp: One year in jail for violating provisions hardly seems window
dressing to me.

Mr. BELL: But we already heard from the witness that there is not going
to be any use of this as it will not be necessary.

Mr. OrTo: Mr. Humphrys, in your remarks on section 16D (1) did you say
that a shareholder may not transfer or give a proxy to a non-resident?

Mr. HuMmpHRYS: I did not say that.

Mr. OtTo: I did not quite hear you, because this does not change the present
rule. In other words, if I have a substantial number of shares to my own bene-
fit in an insurance company, and I want to give a proxy to a non-resident who
happens to be a shareholder because I trust his judgment even though my shares
may amount to 50 per cent, there is nothing to prevent me from giving him a
proxy to vote for me.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. AIRKEN: I was going to ask whether the result of the evidence on this
particular section is that major companies and reputable firms, when they
know that this provision is here, are going to make no effort to circumvent the
normal flow of business, and that it is mainly put there to provide the penalties
in case they do and to hold up that block against such a transfer. Is that right?

Conversely, the people who are most likely to come under the penalty would be
small groups or individuals.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think it is highly unlikely that any non-resident would
attempt to gain control of a Canadian company by finding a loophole or a
channel through this provision. It would strike me as being a most unwise
investment of a substantial amount of money. In preparing a plan to prevent
such takeovers one must, of course, deal with the whole question of the transfer
of shares. However, even small shareholders are not likely to find themselves in
a borderline position with sufficient frequency for it to be a problem. Further-
more, small shareholders do not usually bother to attend or to vote at meetings,
and it is only if they vote or attempt to vote that the penalties would apply.

Mr. Orro: I have one other question which I meant to ask before. Does this
provision 16D also apply to an optionee of shares? Suppose I am a non-resident
and I have an option to purchase shares from a resident. Does that come under
any part of this section or do I have to be the beneficial owner?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: I would not think such an option would come under this

section. It would be a private arrangement that would not be the concern of
these provisions. These provisions refer only to shares that are held by regis-
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tered shareholders or shares held for the use or benefit of another party.
Therefore, until the option is exercised, I would not think that the shareholder
is holding the shares for the use or benefit of the optionee.

Mr. OTTo: You are not interpreting it in the same way as the income tax
department, that an optionee does not come under any part of this trust other
than for his own use. An opticn is not, in your eyes, effective until exercised?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I would not think so under this act.

The CHAIRMAN: Let us deal now with bylaws.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Section 16E on page 5 gives the director power to pass
bylaws that enable them to explore the shareholder’s list. They can require
declarations in such terms and at such times from the shareholders as they see
fit that will reveal the residence of the shareholder, the beneficial ownership
of the shares and any associations that exist between the registered share-
holders.

Mr. CAMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Why has this been made
" permissive and not mandatory? Would it not help, in your job of policing this
legislation, if this were made mandatory?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: To make it mandatory it would be necessary to lay down
the specific circumstances under which they could call for the declarations, put
in the time limits and put in a variety of provisions which would be difficult
and may be unduly restrictive on the corporation. As the statutes lay very
definite obligations on the directors, the directors can determine a bylaw which
they think will be necessary to enable them to carry out their obligations and
then place that before the shareholders so that the shareholders can be satis-
fied with the procedure adopted.

It is important to avoid the possibility of a situation where the directors
might be able to march into an annual meeting and say, “We want declara-
tions from you all, and if you do not submit declarations, you cannot vote”.
This would be putting an unreasonable amount of power in the hands of the
directors. But if the directors must state their plan and then go to the share-
holders and say, “This is what we propose to do in calling for information from
existing shareholders or from persons who propose to become shareholders or
transferees”, then the shareholders can be satisfied that the directors are not
acting unreasonably, and each company can design the plan that best fits their
own circumstances.

Mr. CaMERON (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): But we seem to be tak-
ing particular interest in the shareholdings and the transfer of shareholdings
in this particular type of company. It would seem to me simpler to make it
legal that from now on every transaction of shares in this particular type of
company would entail the accomplishment of a statute declaration regarding
residency.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: There are a great many transfer of shares that involve
small blocks where the circumstances may be well known and where it is quite
unnecessary to go into the formality of a statutory declaration. By leaving some
element of discretion with the directors we enable the normal investment flow
or operation of the company to continue with a minimum of added restrictions,
provisions, rules, regulations, and so on, while giving them full authority to get
whatever information they need to apply the terms of the act. It is important,
in designing provisions such as this, not to create administrative problems that
would interfere with normal and incidental investment that could have no
possible influence on the question of control.

Mr. CameRroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Surely a statutory dec-
laration should not be so onerous as to impede transactions?




BANKING AND COMMERCE 99

Mr. HumpHRYS: It is open to the directors to so require if they feel it is
necessary. There is a clear obligation on the directors and I think they can be
expected to take what action they feel is necessary to enable them to discharge
their obligations.

Mr. BELL: Would there be any way whereby, for instance, in their desire
to put a transaction through, the stock would be put under a fictitious name,
or a certain period of time could be allowed during which they could make
their moves? What would prevent this?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: So long as a stock is registered in the name of a resident,
there would be nothing to prevent it regardless of who is the beneficial owner,
but the registered shareholder, if he shows up to vote, knows whether he is
holding a stock for someone else’s use or benefit, and if he does so and shows up,
he is leaving himself open to penalty. There is a prohibition against these
votes in those circumstances. For the reason that the beneficial ownership of a
block of shares might be transferred without there being any transfer on the
books of the company, the obligation on the directors is restricted to questions
of transfers registered on the books; the other provision is put in which will
remove the voting right where shares are held by a resident for the use or
benefit of a non-resident.

Mr. BELL: In other words, the onus in the first instance is on the person
who votes.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. BELL: Suppose a lot of proxies were collected, what responsibility to
determine the legitimacy of the proxies is there on the person who votes the
proxies?

Mr. HumpHRYS: This provision says that no one shall exercise the voting
rights either in person or as proxy. If someone undertakes to act as a proxy,
then he himself is liable to the penalty. It is incumbent on anyone who accepts
the nomination as proxy to satisfy himself there is no prohibition against the
exercise of his voting rights. I would expect that the proxy form would contain
some kind of a declaration; otherwise a person would be most unwise to act
as proxy.

~ Mr. Orro: I thought you said this provision applies only where someone
holds shares in trust for someone?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: No.

Mr. Ot1o: This prohibition 16D does not apply to every shareholder?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subsection (1) of proposed section 16D applies where a
resident holds shares for the use or benefit of a non-resident. That would
take in the case where the beneficial owner is a non-resident.

Mr. OrTo: Let us suppose that I am a non-resident and I have given an
option to John Jones who happens to be a resident and who owns a large block
of shares, and I say I have bought an option to purchase those shares for a
specified sum at a specified time and in the meantime I want the proxy to those
votes; he gives me the votes. Is there anything prohibited in that whole area?
If any proxies were collected by a shareholder or by a director the prohibition
would apply only if he happened to collect some proxies which were owned
by a resident for the benefit of a non-resident; it would not apply to the
purchase of any number of shares which happened to be owned by non-
residents?

Mr. HumpHRYS: No; there is no prohibition against collecting proxies of
itself whether on behalf of non-residents or not. However, clause 16D specifies

circumstances in which no one may exercise the voting rights pertaining to
21308—3
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the shares and where that prohibition exists. Then neither the shareholder
himself nor anyone acting as his proxy may cast those votes.

Mr. Otrto: In other words, you are saying where it has been the custom
for certain directors or certain large blocks of shareholders to collect
other proxies indiscriminately, now they will have to be much more discrimi-
nating to make sure they do not get shares owned by a shareholder on behalf
of someone else?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: Yes. If a resident gives his proxy, then the person who
acts as his proxy should satisfy himself that the shares in question are not
held by the resident on behalf of a non-resident. If the proxy comes to him
from a non-resident, he also should satisfy himself that that non-resident,
together with associated shareholders, does not own more than 10 per cent of
the shares.

Mr. MAckASEY: Does the responsibility lie on the person accumulating the
proxies to establish whether or not the proxies are in order?

Mr. HumpHRYS: It rests on the person casting the vote, whether it be
the proxy or the shareholder.

Mr. MAckASEY: How would the person who accumulates thése proxies de-
termine whether the person who might send in these proxies from California,
for instance, is a Canadian resident or a non-resident?

Mr. HumpHRYS: The answer to that, I think, is that no one would
act as the proxy for anyone else unless he were satisfied he was not leaving
himse_lf open to penalty by so doing; he would ask the shareholder who
h«:is signed the proxy also to sign whatever declaration is needed to satisfy
him that the shareholder was not prohibited from voting. It would be a
question of designing an appropriate proxy form and putting the necessary in-
formation on it so that the shareholder could indicate his status.

You must keep in mind that this prohibition of voting rights applies
only in two circumstances; one is in the case of a non-resident who, to-
gether with associates, owns more than 10 per cent, and the second is where
a resident is holding shares as nominee for a non-resident. So, he knows. There
will not be many cases where a small shareholder does not know whether he
has voting rights or not. It is only in the exceptional case that voting rights
are suspended.

Mr. MAckASEY: It is all right to minimize the rights of the individual share-
holder as insignificant when compared to people with blocks of 10 per cent
or more, but in proxy fights these independent shareholders become a pretty
potent force.

Mr. HuUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. MAckASEY: The individual shareholder who owns 2 per cent and
3 per cent can become quite a deciding factor in whether or not a company
remains Canadian or non-Canadian.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. MACKASEY: It seems to me there should be a grave responsibility on
an individual shareholder, whether he owns one share or 1,000, to satisfy his

conscience with regard to whether or not he is Canadian or non-Canadian
according to the terms of the act.

Mr. HumpHRYs: The act does not remove the voting rights for that share-
holder if he has one share, whether he is a resident or not.

Mr. MACKRASEY: Because he has less than 10 per cent?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.
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Mr. Mackasey: In the hands of one particular person who is seeking
power, or for some particular reason is searching for these proxies, these
individuals can represent more than 10 per cent.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Yes; but in this legislation there is no intention to
prevent shareholders as a group having their voice heard in the management
of a company. If the shareholders want to combine through proxies and vote
out the management, they can do so as is their right. However, a proxy is
good only for one meeting; so it does not throw up the problem that is really
being dealt with by the provisions; it does not throw up the problem of
continuing permanent control.

Mr. MACKASEY: Can a non-resident director accumulate at any time more
than 10 per cent of proxies from non-resident shareholders?

Mr. HuUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. MoreaU: Could it be that any director or any person collecting proxies
could collect more than 10 per cent of mon-resident proxies provided the
beneficial interest of any particular group did not represent 10 per cent.

Mr. HuMmpeHRYS: That is correct; but the bill also puts a limit of 25 per
cent on the total number of shares that can be owned by non-residents. It
is important not to take away from shareholders as a group the right to
manage their own company; but the ability to combine through proxies and
express a concerted view at a particular meeting is a different question to
that of permanent ownership of a controlling interest.

Mr. BasrorD: You have implied that the person accepting the proxy
has an obligation to find out whether the share is a votable share?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.
Mr. Basrorp: It seems that the wording in subclause (3) denies that.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would not think so, Mr. Basford. The obligation is
there. I do not think it is likely that persons concerned deliberately would
not try to find out and then say I am ignorant and therefore I am not liable.
I think every company concerned will so design its proxy form that this
information would be elicited. As I noted, the cases involved will be few
in any event, because they involve only two categories, one involving large

blocks of non-resident shares and the other where shares are held by resident
nominees.

Mr. Basrorp: Why not take the word “knowingly” out of subclause (3);
then there is no doubt about it?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I would not make such a recommendation. I believe as
the provision is drafted it will be effective for the purpose intended. If any
shares are voted where the violation has not been known to the person con-
cerned, I would not want to recommend that penalties be imposed on him.

Mr. Basrorp: I do not see where you create the obligation on the part
of the person holding the proxy to determine that these shares are voting shares.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Subclause (3) says:

k Every person who knowingly contravenes a provision of this section
is guilty of an offence—

Then in subclause (2) it says:

—mno person shall, either as proxy or in person, exercise the voting
rights—

Mr. BasrForp: Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: Just so that you may govern yourselves accordingly, the

Chair is going to suggest that we break off at 12.30.
21308—3}
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Mr. GREENE: You are not disturbed with the same connotation in the pre-
vious clause with regard to directors; it is only if they knowingly transfer?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. GREENE: You do not think it should go beyond that; that is, that there
should be some degree of investigation before the transfer is made?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: There are considerable responsibilities being placed on
the directors, but the plan is designed so that it does not place obligations on
them that are so onerous and so detailed that it would create a great problem
in the normal flow of investment transactions. If an odd small transfer is made
where perhaps it should not have been made and the directors are exercising
ordinary and diligent discretion, I think it would be rather harsh to hold out
the possibility of a penalty being imposed on them at some future time. Under
the proposal here the penalty is only if they knowingly violate the section. I
think you have an adequate deterrent for careless disregard of the require-
ment, but with some reasonable degree of protection for directors who act
in good faith.

As a practical matter I cannot conceive from my own experience, of any
board of directors doing other than acting in the greatest responsibility with
this section as they do with relation to other requirements in the statute.

Mr. GREENE: In respect of clause 16E, it seems to me that these powers
in this clause are powers which generally are vested within a corporation either
under the life insurance act or the Companies Act. Is there any reason they
had to be re-enunciated in clause 16E; do the draftsmen believe they are giving
some new power in internal management which they did not have?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: I think there was some question whether directors can
inquire in this detail into the affairs of the shareholders; that is the purpose of
putting this in.

The last of this series of five subclauses contains a series of saving provi-
sions designed to preserve existing rights. The first subclause contains some
definitions and also defines the prescribed day, which is September 23, the day
the bill was introduced. Subclause (2) provides a blanket exemption from
these clauses for a company where more than 50 per cent of the shares are
held by a non-resident on the prescribed day. So, in effect, the company which
now is controlled by a non-resident is exempt from these provisions.

The next subclause provides that where a non-resident, together with
associates, represents more than 10 per cent of the shares on the prescribed
day, he may continue to exercise his voting rights notwithstanding the other
prohibitions, so long as he does not increase his holdings.

At this point the second of the amendments referred to by Mr. Moreau
will be significant.

If you turn to the top of page 7 in the bill you will see it is stated there
that where a non-resident holds more than 10 per cent of the shares on the
prescribed day, he may continue to exercise the voting right notwithstanding
the prohibition so long as the total number of shares held by or for the non-
resident and associates does not exceed either the total number of shares held
by or for the non-resident and associates at the commencement of the pre-
scribed day or the lowest number of shares held by or for the non-resident
and associates on any subsequent day.

Since the bill was introduced questions have arisen concerning the pos-
sibility of splitting the par value of shares and issuing shares of a lower par
value in exchange for those now held. This would result in an increase in the
number of shares, but without a change in the proportion. The first part of
this amendment will change the words “total number of” to “percentage of”.
So, it preserves the rights so long as the percentage of shares owned does not
increase.
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The second amendment proposes the insertion of a new subclause that
deals with the circumstance under which a Canadian corporation holding shares
in a life company changes from resident status to non-resident status. A Cana-
dian corporation might own shares in a company and the control of that Cana-
dian corporation might be sold to non-residents. This would change its status
to that of a non-resident.

Some questions have been raised concerning what happens in these cir-
cumstances. Well, this new subsection states that where that happens, then
the shares purchased by that company while it was a resident will be con-
sidered to be shares held by a resident for a non-resident. This will mean
that nobody can vote them and it will mean they cannot be transferred to
another non-resident if non-residents already own more than 25 per cent. It
clarifies the result of such transfer of status and also prevents the possibility of
circumventing the 25 per cent rule by forming a Canadian company to buy the
shares, selling control of the company involved and having the shares trans-
ferred to non-residents. This is a remote possibility but in the absence of this
that shares could be passed out to non-residents in small blocks.

The third point also deals with the question of stock splits and makes it
clear that shares of a reduced par value issued in exchange for existing shares
are not covered by the prohibition otherwise applying against allotment shares.

The fourth point gives the directors the right to rely on declarations sub-
mitted to them by shareholders or proposed transferees.

There are two more subclauses. As I noted earlier, shares held by a resident
for a non-resident are without voting rights. By subclause (4), where this
existed on the prescribed day, the shares may be transferred to the beneficial
owner notwithstanding the other prohibition. If he wants to establish the voting
right he has on the prescribed day the non-resident can do so by having the
shares transferred to his own name.

The fifth subclause is transitional and states that if, between the date the
bill was introduced on September 23 and the date the law comes into force,
the directors approve any transfer that would have been prohibited had the law
been in force, then those shares will be without voting rights.

The CHAIRMAN: As I understand it this completes the part of the bill which
deals with non-resident control?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: This may be an appropriate moment to break off.

Mr. MoreAU: I was going to suggest we might finish the section he was
dealing with.

Mr. Basrorp: As I understand it, this has to go back to your policy remarks,
and this section would exclude your operations for non-residents plans; that
is, those companies which are presently owned or controlled by 50 per cent
non-residents, and that there is no prohibition against the Canadian minority
being sold to non-residents?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. BasrorDp: The unofficial parliamentary secretary to the Minister of
Finance has indicated in his remarks that he wishes to give serious thought
to introducing an amendment to prevent the transfer of that Canadian minority
interest to non-residents.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would like to make a further comment. If the majority
shares are already owned by one of the non-residents, then that non-resident
has effective control of the company. In cases we have seen, where non-resi-
dents have purchased the control of Canadian life companies, we thought it was
fair that the purchaser should make his offer available to all Canadian share-
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holders. In most cases all, or practically all, of the shareholders have accepted
the offer. If they do not wish to, then that is their right. But if such a change
were made, as you have described, it would mean that in cases where control
has been sold, and where for one reason or another some Canadians decided to
hold their shares even with a minority interest, they would have effectively
lost the chance to sell at any respectable price, because it is unlikely that they
would get a price for their shares in a minority situation that would compare
with the price that had been offered, and that might in some circumstances con-
tinue to be open to them from the principal shareholders. So there is another
aspect of the question to be considered.

Mr. MoreaU: Do they usually place a time limit to these offers?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Usually.

Mr. MoreauU: Even if this proposed amendment by Mr. Basford were to
take place, at some future time, then the minority shareholders would have had
every opportunity to exercise whatever rights or whatever offers were available
to them.

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: That is right. It is a question of whether such a prohi-
bition would be advantageous, either in the question of control or in the interest
of the shareholders, bearing in mind that the statutes already require that
a majority of the directors in any event must be Canadian citizens.

The CHaIrRMAN: Before we break off, is it your wish that we continue to-
morrow, bearing in mind that the house sits at 11.00 o’clock? It has been
suggested by the steering committee that you might want to consider meeting
at 9.30 to conclude the explanatory notes by the superintendent. I am in your
hands. Do you wish to meet tomorrow, or do you wish to defer it?

Mr. MoreAU: In view of the fact that there has been reference made this
morning to possibly some difficulty we might have in getting a quorum, and
in view of the fact that the witness is not from out of town, perhaps we might
think of some other time than tomorrow morning, because I would doubt
whether we could get a quorum.

The CHAIRMAN: Might I suggest that possibly Tuesday would be suitable?
I realize that we have a number of other committees sitting at that time and
there will be conflicts, but that is the price we would have to pay if we moved
to Tuesday.

Mr. MoreAU: I so move.
Motion agreed to.
The CHAIRMAN: We have sent out invitations to the Canadian Life Insur-

ance Officers Association inviting them to make representations. I wish to
file a letter dated October 23, 1964, as follows:

The Canadian Life Insurance
Officers Association
302 Bay Street,
Toronto 1, Canada
October 23, 1964.

Miss D. F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce,
House of Commons,
Ottawa, Ontario.

Dear Miss Ballantine:

Thank you for your letter of October 22.
R.epresentatives of the association will appear before the committee
on Friday, November 6, at the time and place mentioned in your letter.
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At the moment we do not have any changes to suggest in Bill No.
C-123 and I do not expect that we will wish to present a brief. How-
ever, our representatives will be available in case members of the com-
mittee wish to question them.

I believe our representatives will be:

: Mr. H. L. Sharpe, president of the association and president and
managing director, The Northern Life Assurance Company of Canada,
London, Ontario.

Mr. A. F. Williams, second vice president of the association and
president, Crown Life Insurance Company, Toronto, Ontario.

Mr. J. T. Bryden, chairman of the association’s special committee
on federal insurance legislation and president, North American Life
Assurance Company, Toronto, Ontario.

Mr. A. M. Campbell, president, Sun Life Assurance Company of
Canada, Montreal, Quebec.
Mr. R. H. Reid, president and managing director, London Life
Insurance Company, London, Ontario.
Mr. J. A. Tuck, managing director and general counsel, The Cana-
dian Life Insurance Officers Association.

Mr. F. C. Dimock, secretary, The Canadian Life Insurance Officers
Association.

If, prior to the hearings, we find there is any change in the personnel of
our group, I shall let you know.
Yours very truly,

J. A, "Tuek.

I bring this to your attention, as well as one other communication from
the All Canada Insurance Federation, dated October 26, 1964. It reads as
follows:

All Canada Insurance Federation
Suite 801, 500 St. James St., West
Montreal

October 26, 1964.
Miss D. F. Ballantine,
Clerk, Standing Committee
on Banking and Commerce,
House of Commons,
Ottawa, Canada.

Dear Miss Ballantine:

Thank you for your letter of October 22 in which you gave notice
that we had been invited to appear on Thursday, November 5, 1964, at
10.00 a.m.

After having given Bill No. C-123 appropriate study we are of the
opinion that we have no representations to make and that it would be
satisfactory to our member companies if enacted as drafted.

I have yet to receive word from the chairman of our taxation com-
mittee but will let you know before the end of the current week if there
is any change in our view.

Yours very truly,

E. H. S. Piper,
Manager and General Counsel



106 STANDING COMMITTEE

I brought these letters to your attention because when these people were
invited, the proposed amendments by Mr. Moreau tabled this morning had not
been directed to their attention. Therefore, may I have authority to send to
them these proposed amendments, in order to see if it changes their opinions?

It is my understanding that we shall meet on Tuesday to continue the
present procedure, and that on Thursday we shall have our first witness from
the industry making their views known. Is that agreeable?

Agreed.

Mr. Basrorp: I think we should thank Mr. Humphrys and congratulate
him on his first appearance before this committee.

The CHAIRMAN: Oh, yes. I thank you very much for bringing this to my
attention. On behalf of the committee I wish to take this opportunity to wel-
come you, Mr. Humphrys, and to congratulate you on your appointment. We
are delighted to see you here today.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN: The committee is now adjourned until Tuesday morning.
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Appendix ‘A

Canadian Insurance Companies registered under the Canadian and British
Insurance Companies Act to transact the business of Life Insurance.

Mutual Companies

1. Alliance Mutual Life Insurance Company
L’Assurance-Vie Desjardins
The Canada Life Assurance Company
Confederation Life Association
. Co-operative Life Insurance Company
. The Equitable Life Insurance Company of Canada
The Life Insurance Company of Alberta
The Manufacturers Life Insurance Company

W 0 =1 O OB W N

. The Mutual Life Assurance Company of Canada

-
(=}

. North American Life Assurance Company

[y
-

. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada

—
Do

. Toronto Mutual Life Insurance Company
13. The Wawanesa Mutual Life Insurance Company

Stock Companies

(a) To which sections 16B to 16E would apply:

The Crown Life Insurance Company

The Dominion of Canada General Insurance Company
The T. Eaton Life Assurance Company

. The Great-West Life Assurance Company

The Imperial Life Assurance Company of Canada
London Life Insurance Company

The Maritime Life Assurance Company

The Monarch Life Assurance Company

. The Northern Life Assurance Company of Canada
. La Sauvegarde Life Insurance Company

. The Sovereign Life Assurance Company of Canada
12. Westmount Life Insurance Company

W 00 -3 O WU W N

L
- O

(b) That would be exempt from sections 16B to 16E
The Acadia Life Insurance Company

Allstate Life Insurance Company of Canada
British Pacific Life Insurance Company

. Canadian Premier Life Insurance Company
Canadian Reassurance Company

(S N VL
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10.
11,
12,
13.

STANDING COMMITTEE

The Commercial Life Assurance Company

The Continental Life Insurance Company

The Dominion Life Assurance Company

The Excelsior Life Insurance Company

Fidelity Life Assurance Company

Montreal Life Insurance Company

The National Life Assurance Company of Canada
The Western Life Assurance Company
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

TuespAY, November 3, 1964.
(10)

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10:00 a.m. this
day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Asselin (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce), Basford,
Cameron (High Park), Cameron (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands), Gelber,
Gray, Klein, Lambert, Lloyd, Mackasey, More, Moreau, Munro, Nugent, Pascoe,
Pennell, Thomas and Wahn. (18)

In attendance: Mr. R. Humphrys, Superintendent of Insurance; Mr. William
Fox, Executive Officer, and Mr. H. A. Urquhart, Loan and Trust Companies
Branch, Department of Insurance.

The Chairman announced that he had been in touch with Mr. Nelson of
the Trust Companies Association and had arranged that that Association present
their views on Bill C-123 to the Committee on Thursday, November 5, 1964.

The Committee resumed consideration of Bill C-123, An Act to amend
certain Acts administered in the Department of Insurance.

Mr. Humphrys explained the purpose of Clause 4 and the proposed amend-
ment thereto, and was questioned. The Clause was allowed to stand.

Mr. Humphrys explained the purpose of sub-clauses 1 to 5 inclusive of
Clause 5 and the proposed amendment to sub-clause 1, and was questioned.

And the questioning continuing, the Chairman observed that another
meeting would be required for clause by clause study of the Bill before
witnesses could be heard. He therefore suggested that the World Mortgage
Corporation be heard on Tuesday, November 10th, that the Trust Companies
Association be heard on Thursday, November 12th (instead of November 5th),

and that the Committee resume clause by clause study of the Bill on Thursday,
November 5th.

At 12:00 noon the Committee adjourned until 10:00 a.m. on Thursday,
November 5, 1964.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.
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TuespAY, November 3, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, I see a quorum and I call the committee to
order. I recall that at our last meeting the superintendent was giving us a
clause by clause explanation of the bill, and I believe we concluded clause 3
on page seven which ended that part of the bill regarding the non-resident
control section.

For your information may I say that some time ago the insurance groups
had responded to our invitation to make representations if they so desired, and
they had written letters saying that they were prepared to come but that
they had no representations to make and no objections to the bill. Yesterday
I had occasion to talk to them on the telephone again and they said that if the
committee might not consider it an affront they would not attend in view of
the fact that they had no representations to make. I said I would convey that
to the committee. We had previously scheduled them to appear on Thursday.
However, Mr. Nelson of the Trust Companies Association has been very co-
operative and has advised me that the Trust Companies Association are pre-
pared to appear on Thursday in place of the insurance companies. They have
representations to make and they have prepared a small brief which I will be
distributing to the members before the meeting is concluded.

I will now invite Mr. Humphrys to take up his explanations to the com-
mittee at clause 4 on page seven of the bill.

On clause 4—Corporate name in French or English form 16D.

Mr. RicHARD HumPHRYS (Superintendent of Insurance, Department of
Insurance): Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, clause 4 proposes
to enact a new section that will grant the governor in council power to provide
a company with a French or English version of its corporate name. This power
will be subject to the applicant advertising in the Canada Gazette and in the
newspapers in terms and for a duration similar to the advertising required with
respect to a private bill. This proposed section will make it unnecessary for
a company to come to parliament to seek an amendment to its act of incorpora-
tion to obtain a French or English version of its corporate name.

The CHAIRMAN: Shall this clause stand?

Clause 4 stands.

On clause 5—Municipal, etc., securities.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Clause 5 of the bill deals with investment provisions. It
contains a number of subclauses, all relating to the investment powers of
Canadian insurance companies. The first amendment is intended to make eligible
bonds or debentures issued by fabriques of parishes in Quebec. This is rather
a technical point. For a number of years there has been some discussion be-
tween lawyers representing insurance companies in Quebec and the Department
of Justice on the point of whether or not a fabrique of a parish is a corporation
within the meaning of this act.

Mr. Moreau: Mr. Humphrys, did you forget to cover the proposed amend-
ment under clause 4 concerning the par value of shares?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: Thank you, Mr. Moreau, I overlooked the fact that among
the amendments that were tabled for consideration last week there was a
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proposed amendment to clause 4. This amendment amends section 45 of the
act, and the change would permit insurance companies to subdivide the par
value of their shares below the present minimum of $10 down to a minimum
of $1. However, this power would be subject, in the case of life insurance com-
panies, to a special provision designed to retain a reasonable balance in voting
power between the shareholders and the participating polyicyholders. In a
life insurance company having participating polyicyholders, the policyholders.
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual meeting. If companies were per-
mitted to split the par value of their shares say down to $1, then, in a case
where a company now has a par value of $10, a split to $1 would multiply the
number of shares to ten, and the voting power of shareholders by ten, because
under the existing statutes they have one vote per share. This would multiply
their voting power, whereas the voting power of the participating policy-
holders would not be changed. Therefore, in this proposed amendment enabling
companies to split their shares it is provided that if the subdivision goes below
$5, then each shareholder will have a vote determined by dividing the par
value of his holding by five. Thus, he will have the same voting rights as
though they merely split it to $5.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions on this point?

Mr. LAMBERT: In that regard what is the consideration for the seemingly
arbitrary figure of $5?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: There is already a provision in the statute that permits
new companies to be formed with shares having a par value of $5 or any larger
multiple thereof, up to $100. It was thought therefore that if a new company
could be formed with $5 shares and one vote per share, then existing com-
panies, in splitting shares, should have the same right.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions on this proposed amend-
ment? If not, will you carry on, Mr. Humphrys?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: To continue with subclause 1 of clause 5, T said that this
amendment is to clear up a technical point that would remove doubt concerning
the eligibility of bonds issued by the fabriques of parishes as investments for
insurance companies.

Mr. LAMBERT: In that regard, at the second reading stage of this bill I
queried the minister on why there was a limitation to fabriques of parishes
in Quebec. It is my understanding that the organization of a fabrique is really
the corporation of the parish. As I know that in other parts of Canada there
are also fabriques, why limit this to the province of Quebec?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I must confess that the explanatory note may be slightly
misleading in that respect because the whole question leading to this amend-
ment has arisen in connection with bonds issued in Quebec, and this led to the
explanatory note regarding the eligibility of bonds issued by fabriques in
Quebec. As the statute is drawn up, it is not so limited. It is written in general
terms regarding fabriques.

Mr. LAMBERT: In other words, they qualify in other parts of Canada?

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is right. Since the bill was published we have had
some questions from lawyers representing companies in Quebec suggesting
thz_at the amendment as printed in the bill did not go quite far enough. It was
pointed out that bonds are sometimes issued by fabriques secured solely
by a mortgage, and not necessarily by levying taxes on the property in the
parish. In recognition of that, it was thought that the wording should remove
the technical point, and therefore an amendment to the bill has been laid
before you which would add additional words and remove all doubt.

Mr. THoMAs: May I ask whether these fabriques are equivalent to a town
council?
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Mr. HumMmpHRYS: Its description I think is best set forth in the parish and
fabriques act in Quebec. It may also be set forth in the statutes of other
provinces, but I think the best short explanation is that it is the board of ad-
ministration of the parish. I do not think I can explain it any more concisely
than that. It is the body that is charged with the administration of the property
and the general business and other matters having to do with the whole
organization and operation of the parish. Among its operations it is charged
with the administration of the property. It may issue bonds or debentures to
raise money for parish buildings or for other needs of the parish.

Mr. LAMBERT: It is not merely what we consider a municipal government
operation. It also has a religious side.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Yes, it has religious duties as well.

Mr. LAMBERT: Because I know that in my province the religious parish
is organized on the basis of a fabrique, and quite separately there is the town
council or the village council.

Mr. MACKASEY: It is the same in Quebec. A fabrique is something that lies
within the municipality. It includes the church, the hospitals and perhaps the
private schools, the nun’s quarters, and so on, which are usually financed by
investments or mortgages.

Mr. THoMAS: Would these fabriques be property owning bodies?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. THOoMAS: Would the security behind them be just as great as the se-
curity behind a municipal corporation?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: I would say so because they have the power to levy taxes
on property within the parish, and in most cases the bonds issued are secured
by a mortgage on real estate property. We have no doubt in the department
concerning the soundness of the security.

; Mr. THoMAS: You speak about the fabrique and parish act. Is it in effect
in other provinces as well as the province of Quebec?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I cannot answer that.

: The CHAIRMAN: Maybe some member of the committee may be able to
assist on this.

o M. LAMBERT: I am sorry, I do not know the juridical basis of the fabriques
in the province of Alberta except that I know that some do exist.

The CHAIRMAN: Does any other member of the committee know?

‘ Mr. GRAY: The act to which Mr. Thomas referred is an act passed by the
}eglslature of the province of Quebec. It therefore would not have application
in any other province unless any other province passed, through its own
provincial legislature, similar legislation.

3 Mr. HumpHRYS: The eligibility of these bonds is dependant on two things
in any event. They either must be secured by a mortgage on real estate property
or they must be secured by taxes levied pursuant to the provincial laws, so
that if the equivalent of the parish and fabriques act is not in existence in
other provinces, then bonds would not be eligible unless they are secured by
a mortgage on real estate. The only problem is the difference of opinion
amongst lawyers on whether a fabrique is technically a corporation within the
meaning of this act. If it were so held, there would be no problem, but
apparently there is some difference of opinion.

Mr. Pascoe: I should like to know for my own information whether a
fabrique is an elected body or an appointed body.

Mr. HumMmpPHRYS: I do not know the answer.

3 Mr. LAMBERT: My understanding is that they are elected by the parish-
ioners, they are trustees elected periodically by the parish.
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Mr. LLoyp: There is a point about which I am curious. On page nine under
clause 5 it says, ‘“the bonds, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness of
or guaranteed by a municipal corporation”.

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: That is the next subclause. We have not come to it as yet.

Mr. LLoyp: Does it not deal with the same subject?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I think it is a little different. I will explain that.

Mr. Lroyp: To come back to the clause we were discussing, the basic
difference between a municipality and what I gather is this type of organiza-
tion would be the power to tax so as to meet its obligations. The municipality
has the right to tax, whereas a fabrique would not.

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: I believe a fabrique in Quebec does have that power.

Mr. LLoyp: What is lacking here is an explanation of the legal construction
of a fabrique if we are to judge the adequacy of the law.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: The fabriques in Quebec do have the authority under
the Quebec parish and fabriques act to levy taxes on property within the
parish. This amendment indicates that these bonds will be eligible if they are
secured by taxes levied pursuant to provincial law or if they are secured by a
mortgage on real estate.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there no further questions on subclause (1) of clause 5?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subclause (2) of clause 5 at the top of page nine proposes
an amendment that will make eligible certain additional bonds that are secured
by provincial subsidies. This is intended principally to make eligible certain
hospital corporation bonds that are secured by subsidies from provincial
governments.

Mr. Lroyp: Could I come back to the use of the term “corporation”? What
was the objection of the lawyers to the use of the word “corporation”, and
why were you applying it under 5(b) where you make reference to it?

Mr. HumpHRYS: If fabriques were admitted to be corporations within
the intention of this act, then bonds issued by fabriques would have qualified
under the clause dealing with bonds issued by corporations; but when there
was a doubt about whether fabriques were corporations, then there was
doubt whether they qualify under corporate bond provisions. That is the
reason for this amendment.

M. Lroyp: I am sorry, I misunderstood your observation.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subclause (2), as I explained, deals only with bonds or
debentures that are secured by provincial subsidies so that they are in every
respect as good as provincial obligations.

Subclause (3) enacts a small amendment having to do with the mortgage
bond clause. At present companies can invest in bonds secured by a mortgage
on real estate or on a company’s property used in its business on other assets,
but there is doubt whether they can invest in bonds secured by leasehold
property. In recent years there have been a number of cases where bonds
have been issued secured by very large buildings built on leasehold property,
and the security is good. The words “or leaseholds” are put in here to enable
those bonds to qualify.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any questions?

Mr. CameroN (Nanaimo-Cowichan-The Islands): Could I go back for a
momgnt to (d) where it says “debentures issued by a charitable, educational
or philanthropic corporation”. Would that include a hospital such as the ones
we have in British Columbia in this category? I have in mind my own area
where we have a municipal council financed by a sort of local taxing authority;
the rest is provincial and federal. I doubt whether it could be defined under
ttﬁxose‘ terms as a public institution is not charitable, educational or philan-

ropic.
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Mr. HuMpPHRYS: I raised that question with the Department of Justice,
Mr. Cameron, because I had the same question in my mind, but I have been
assured by the lawyers in that department that the terms “charitable, educa-
tional or philanthropic” are broad enough in their legal interpretation to
include a hospital organized on that basis.

Mr. LLoyp: Mr. Chairman, I am still a little puzzled about the wording
in clause 5(b) on page eight. It says “the bonds, debentures or other
evidences of indebtedness of or guaranteed by a municipal corporation in
Canada’”, and then it goes on “or in any country in which the company is
carrying on business”. The wording confuses me a little. Would you explain
the meaning of this particular phrase?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think that we are dealing here only with part of a
section, but the introductory words are these: “A company may invest its
funds or any portion thereof in—"

Mr. LLoyp: “The company” meaning the insurance company?
Mr. HuMPHRYS: Then it goes on, “the bonds, debentures” and so on.

Mr. LrLoyp: In essence they make an investment in bonds or guarantees
by a municipal corporation in Canada or any other country where they are
doing business. They could be doing business in South America and making
an investment in the municipal bonds of that country. I understand that is
the intention.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subclause (4) deals with bonds or debentures issued by
corporations, and this change is principally a drafting change. At present
debentures issued by a corporation are eligible investments if the corporation
has met a certain dividend record on its preferred shares or common shares.
This change establishes that dividend record by cross reference rather than
spelling it out in detail, but without any change in the actual dividend require-
ment. The amendment also, by using the cross reference to the eligibility
requirements for the common shares, will enable the company to invest in
debentures of a corporation where that corporation has had earnings sufficient
to enable it to pay a dividend on its common shares at a 4 per cent rate,
whether it has actually paid the dividend or not. This is the new earnings test
that is being proposed in this bill for common shares. I can explain it in
greater detail when we get to the subsequent paragraph dealing with common
shares, but this amendment will enable the company to invest in debentures
of a corporation if the common shares or the preferred shares of that corpora-
tion are eligible investments.

Mr. LaMmBERT: At this point I think I can see what you are doing, but
what puzzles me is who is the person who is going to substitute his judg-
ment for the judgment of the board of directors of the company in whose
shares investment is desired. In other words, it is the board of directors of
the company who decide whether they will issue a dividend or not, having
regard to all their cash requirements and other long term programs, but
now someone else’s judgment is being substituted. Is that to be the superin-
tendent of insurance?

Mr. HumpHRYS: No.

) Mr. LaMBERT: Who is to determine whether this company could have
issued dividends at the prescribed rate or at the minimum prescribed rate?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: That is the new eligibility test for common shares,
dealing with paragraph (1). There is a cross reference to it here.

The CHAmrMAN: I think now is a good time to cover it.

Mr. HUN_IPHRYS: It is intended that it be not a matter of opinion, Mr.
Lambert. It is intended that it will be a question revealed by the financial
statement of the company; so one would examine the financial statement,
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determine the earnings of the company, and set aside whatever earnings are
needed to meet the obligations that have to be met before it may declare
a dividend on its common shares. Then, if what remains is enough to have
enabled them to pay a dividend at 4 per cent on the common shares, each
year for a period of five years, the common shares would be eligible. So the
test will be based upon an examination of the financial statements of the
company over a period of five years.

Mr. LaMBERT: Your explanation really confirms my thought that some-
one is substituting a decision or an appreciation of the financial record of
a company for an actual performance which has been decided by the board
of directors of that corporation.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think that is a fair statement.

Mr. LAMBERT: Whose judgment or discretion is now going to be exer-
cised? Is the reviewing officer in your department?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Any company wishing to make an investment would
look up the financial record of the corporation that had issued the common
shares and determine whether in its view and in the view of its legal officers
the conditions prescribed in the law are complied with; that is, that the
company has had earnings that would have enabled it to pay a dividend of
4 per cent on its common shares each year for five years had the board of
directors decided to do so.

If they are satisfied, then the investment can be made. We would review
the investment and if we thought it was dubious we would raise the ques-
tion with the company. We would discuss it with their legal advisers. If we
still have a difference of opinion we would refer the matter to our legal
advisers, being the Department of Justice, and hope to reach some meeting
of minds.

Mr. LamBERT: Yes, and ultimately somebody has to come to the decision
that this company qualified under this amended legislation or this com-
pany did not qualify. That, I presume, boils down ultimately to you.

Mr. HumMpHRYS: No. I suppose if you are going to boil it down to the
ultimate it would have to be a court, because there is nothing in this law

that says the opinion of the superintendent or the minister, or any other -

designated official, is the binding opinion. It would be a matter of law.

This is not the only place in the statute where earnings tests are pre-
scribed as the test of eligibility for investment in certain types of securities.
There is in other cases the problem of assessing the financial statement to
see whether the earnings have been adequate or not to meet the prescribed
amount.

Mr. LamsBerT: I take your explanation, but I still feel there is an ele-
ment of uncertainty in this regard. If a dispute comes up when the directors
of the insurance company have made the decision that this is a proper type
of common stock in which to invest, and your officers—and when I say your
officers I mean your officers or you as superintendent of insurance—are not
satisfied, where do we go from there?

A Mr. HumpHRYS: The superintendent has the power to disallow an asset
In a company’s financial statement.

Mr. GELBER: That is true now too, is it not?
N_Ir. HumpHRYs: Yes. If the company ‘disagrees with the ruling of the
superintendent, it can go to the exchequer court.
: Mr. THoMAS: Mr. Chairman, I have the feeling that in some respects I
will go part way with Mr. Lambert with regard to this provision.
Suppose the company has had a very good rate of earnings and per-
formance and runs into a bad year and is unable to pay a 4 per cent

ki
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dividend, or its earnings fail to amount to 4 per cent. For five years, under

this legislation, that company is disqualified as an investment for a life

insurance company, because this proposal is that it shall pay in every one

of the preceding five years. Yet, because of one poor year, in spite of an

excellent performance by the company, it would be disqualified for five years.
Mr. HumpHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. THoMAS: It seems to me it would be safer to leave this matter of
investment with a greater measure of flexibility in this respect for judgment
or expression to be used by the board of the insurance company that is
investing.

I think we should give this matter further consideration.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Mr. Thomas, I should point out that among the invest-
ment provisions is one that enables the company to invest in any way it
chooses apart from the prescribed classes in the act. At the present time it
may invest up to 5 per cent of its assets in that fashion without regard to
these prescriptions.

Among the amendments proposed in this bill is one that would increase
that 5 per cent limit to 7 per cent. Therefore, companies do have a sub-
stantial area of freedom to exercise their own discretion in investment matters.
If a case were to arise such as the one you have described in which a com-
pany had missed a dividend, its shares would not qualify under this prescribed
clause but the insurance company could nevertheless purchase those shares if
it wished under the clause that permits them this area of freedom to invest
in their own discretion.

Mr. MoreAaU: Would you not say that these proposed amendments are
all designed to allow more freedom of investment to the insurance company
rather than in any way to limit the five year period currently in the act?
The amendment provides that the determining factor will be whether they
are in a position to pay the dividend whether they choose to do so or not.
Surely this is a liberalizing measure rather than a restrictive one.

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: That is right.

Mr. THomas: How is the department or how are you yourself to apply
these regulations? What happens if a company has purchased shares which
they are not entitled to purchase or are holding shares which have gone bad
during the course of several years? How do you protect the public? What is
your function in this case?

Mr. HumPHRYS: There are three questions there, Mr. Thomas. The first
is how do we go about it.

We require companies to file with us twice a year a list of all the
investments they have made. We examine that list and test it against the
requirements of the act to make sure that all the investments made are eligible
under the provisions of the act. If we find any on the list which we doubt
are eligible, we raise the matter with the company and discuss it with their
legal advisers, if necessary referring it to our own legal advisers. If the
decision is that the stock was ineligible, the company is required to dispose
of it or, if it wishes, regard it as an investment made within this area of
freedom to which I have just referred, commonly called the basket.

Mr. THOMAS: That basket can only amount to 5 per cent of the com-
pany’s assets at any one time.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Under the present law, yes, but there is among these
amendments a proposal to increase the limit from 5 per cent to 7 per cent.
The CHAIRMAN: May I ask you, Mr. Thomas, to withhold your point

yntil we _get to the basket area, when I will be pleased to ask you to raise
it again, if that course meets with your approval.
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Mr. BAsrorD: I have some questions in regard to (4), (5) and (6). These
have been described as liberalizing measures. I would like some statistics to
show how liberalizing they are. What area of investment are we opening up
to an insurance company? How large?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: In connection with debentures, guaranteed investment
certificates and preferred shares, there is not very much change because the
amendment here is principally a technical one to describe the qualifications by
cross reference.

There are two changes with respect to common shares; one reduces the
seven year dividend requirement to five years, and the other proposes this
new earnings test that we have just been discussing.

My information is that this would increase the number of common shares
eligible for investment by something of the order of 25 per cent.

Mr. BasrorD: I understand there are now some 100 companies whose
shares are eligible for insurance company investment.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I have some figures on that. My information here, provided
by some of the life insurance companies, is that there are 306 Canadian stocks
eligible under the existing rules, but a number of those would not be regarded
as appropriate investments for insurance companies because they might be
very closely held or they might be in very small companies, or perhaps
some of the mining stocks that have a very low value. That total would be
increased to 389 under these new tests.

Of the 389 eligible stocks, it is considered that about 185 would be
appropriate investments for insurance companies.

Mr. Basrorp: I take it that the previous number of truly appropriate
stocks was about 160.

Mr. HuUMPHRYS: Approximately that, yes. The figure I think is 141.

Mr. BASFORD: And that is now going up to about 185, you estimate?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. Basrorp: Would it be inappropriate or difficult for me to ask that a
list of these companies be appended to the proceedings?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I have not such a list.

Mr. BasrorD: Therefore it would be inappropriate to ask for it?

The CHAIRMAN: That would seem to be the correct assumption, Mr.
Basford.

Mzr. BASFORD: May I have some indication of the value of these investments?

Mr. HumpHRYS: The total outstanding shares of all these companies? Is
that what you mean?

Mr. BASFORD: Yes.

Mr. HumPHRYS: It would be very difficult to accumulate that information.

Mr. Basrorp: I am just anxious to see that these liberalizing measures
are worth while. We are adding to the list 44 companies, and I am anxious to
see what these 44 additions represent and whether this liberalization is worth
while or whether it should go further.

Mr. HumpHRYS: With this change, which in itself could qualify some 40
additional stocks, coupled with the increase in the basket provision from 5
per cent to 7 per cent, I believe companies will be enabled to buy any common
shares that they might wish to buy because the experience has been that
they have not used so-called basket provision to the full extent available to
them even under the present law.

I do not believe any company would find itself in a position where it could
not buy a particular issue of common shares if it wished to do so.

C
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Mr. Basrorp: I take it the companies are now limited to investment in
these types of portfolio securities to 15 per cent.

Mr. HuMmpHRYS: That is the present law, yes. This bill proposes an amend-
ment to that requirement that will increase the 15 per cent limit to 25 per cent.

Mr. BasrorD: Can you give us some indication of how much of that 15
per cent has been used?

Mr. HumMmpPHRYS: The latest figures we have show that companies have
about 4 per cent of their assets invested in common shares.

Mr. BasrorD: What is the explanation of the company for not using the
15 per cent?

Mr. HuMmpHRYS: I think any such explanation should probably come from
the companies themselves rather than from me.

Mr. BASFORD: By increasing from 15 per cent to 25 per cent you are
authorizing a greater investment. How do you intend to deal with it?

Mr. HumPHRYS: So far as the department is concerned we would not take
any steps to attempt to influence companies in their investment decisions other
than to see that they make their investments within the requiremens of the
law.

These amendments will widen the area of investment so the companies
may use it if they wish, but there is nothing in the statutes that will require
them to invest in one way or another within that area.

Mr. Basrorp: What are the policy considerations which apply to not only
having an authorized maximum but also a required minimum?

Mr. HumPHRYS: I do not know whether I should answer that.

The CHAIRMAN: You have raised a question of policy, Mr. Basford, and
I do not think I should ask this witness to deal with a policy matter.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I believe the minister dealt with that point to some extent
in his remarks on the second reading.

Mr. GELBER: I wonder if we are not on the wrong tack in this type of
questioning. It seems to me that the importance of this amendment is that we
are opening up a whole new area of investment in companies that may not
be public companies today but have a very good earning record, and if they
are going to become public they can have the support of the insurance com-
panies.

It seems to me that asking about the existing list of companies is not
productive. The truth of the matter is that there are not very many companies
in which insurance companies can invest, and if we can open the area to
private companies or subsidiaries of foreign companies, enabling them to use
the advantages of these amendments, then there is a possibility of increasing
the list of blue chip companies.

In point of fact, the existing list is limited and this makes it possible to
widen the list extensively. A company no longer has to have a five year
public earning record nor even to pay dividends to qualify, and yet it may
have an excellent record, It seems to me that the amendment here is very
broad and very important.

Mr. Mogrg: I think part of my question has been answered. A lot of this
is window dressing. It seems to me from the statistics I have read that the
present opportunities for investment are not being used to their full advantage.
They are liberal enough, and there could be a tremendous amount more in-
vestment than there is at the present time. I have read figures that intimated
that the present requirements have not been used to the extent of something
like $1,300 million. There is an opportunity under the present law for further
investment to this extent, and it is not being used. Therefore, in my view
this seems to be window dressing and nothing else.
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Mr. HuMPHRYS: I could comment on that. While the industry average is
4 per cent, as I have indicated, there is considerable variation from company
to company within the industry, and properly so because a company should
not invest heavily in common shares unless its financial position is such that
it can afford to absorb the fluctuations in value of that type of investment.

There is also the consideration that the present investment limits are in
terms of book values of the company’s securities, and the proportion that they
have invested in common shares if computed on a market value basis would
be about double the 4 per cent figure. The figure for some companies would be
considerably higher.

Mr. MoRre: What you are saying is that some companies have used the
widest terms possible, and this would enable them to go further?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Some companies have used substantially more than the
average would indicate. I do not think any Canadian life company has yet
reached the present limit. However, the industry has requested this additional
freedom of movement, so it is not unlikely that some companies at least will
take advantage of it. I would not expect the entire industry to move up on an
average to anything like the new limit, but some companies I think might well
take advantage of the increase.

Mr. WAHN: Mr. Chairman, I think it has been pointed out that common
shares of a company may become ineligible if the company, for example, has
a loss in one year or in one year earns less than 4 per cent, even though over
the five year period the average earnings of the company are entirely satis-
factory. Is there any reason why a decision was made to require earnings each
year equal to the 4 per cent rather than taking the average earnings over a
reasonable period, or perhaps providing average earnings as an alternative
base?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: The present dividend requirements and those that have
been in the law for a long time require a continuous seven year dividend record.
I think the reason for requiring a continuous record rather than an average
is a decision based on the strength of the test that it is desired to adopt. A con-
tinuous record is, of course, a stronger test than an average. It has certain
advantages in connection with eligibility for common shares, because an inter-
ruption in the dividend record is likely to indicate some serious change in the
pattern of the company’s business or in other economic conditions that, in the
absence of other evidence at least, might bring into question the ability of the
company to continue to pay dividends in the future, and perhaps the value
of its shares. So, in using a dividend test, I think the element of continuity is
a very important aspect.

As a point of interest in this connection, there is also an earnings test
prescribed with respect to investment in debentures, and in that case it is
prescribed on an average basis—that is, if the earnings have been sufficient on
the average over a period of years.

Mr. WAHN: May I continue on this line for a moment?

I can quite understand why a continuity of dividends is important; a com-
pany can pay dividends in a particular year even though it does not earn
that amount in that year because it may have reserves of earned surplus out
of which dividends can properly be paid. But in preparing this legislation, the
decision has been made to get away from the dividend test, or rather to enlarge
it to permit eligibility based on earnings, which is a completely different
concept.

I wonder whether in drafting the legislation you merely followed the pre-

cedent which has been followed by the dividend test of requiring continuous
dividends, without realizing that you are really moving over into a different
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concept when you go to earnings. If in a single year a company in an industry
that may have fluctuating earnings gets below 4 per cent then its shares cease
to be eligible.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. WAHN: There is a different concept once you switch to earnings.
Dividends can be paid out of accumulated earnings, but when eligibility is
based on earnings, then in a single year if a company loses money or if it
falls below 4 percent you break the record of eligibility and there is no
recourse.

In other words, in respect of dividends you can draw on your surplus and,
thereby, maintain it. It occurred to me, in looking at this, that perhaps thought
had not been given to the basic difference between the dividend test and the
earnings test, and in the case of the earnings test, average earnings rather
than continuous earnings each year would be a more appropriate test.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Mr. Wahn, the point was not overlooked, but in proposing
the earnings test in respect of common shares it was considered important to
achieve the element of continuity and, consequently, care was taken to
prescribe that there must be earnings every year. To that extent the test is
somewhat more severe than the dividend test because, as you pointed out, a
company can pay dividends out of accumulated earnings. The main purpose
of the earnings test was to render eligible shares of Canadian companies that
are subsidiaries to foreign companies, where their earnings may have been
good but where no dividends were paid. In the normal case it is highly unlikely
a company would have enough earnings to pay dividends on its shares and
not pay them, unless the company is a subsidiary and the parent decides to
retain the earnings within the company; so, the significance of this new
earnings test will be principally in the area of Canadian subsidiary companies.

As I mentioned earlier, there is also the existence of the basket provision,
which enables companies to invest in these shares if the company has missed
a dividend or has had bad earnings in a particular year.

The CHAIRMAN: Have you a question, Mr. Klein.

Mr. KLEIN: Mr. Chairman, I am just wondering if we are not creating a
monster. In the case of a company which ordinarily qualifies under the act and
then under the provisions of the act it no longer qualifies I am wondering
whether we would not be placing that company in a position where its
creditors, who normally might go along with this company, might fear the
financial position of such a company would be sort of blacklisted by the
superintendent of insurance, and whether this might not create a run on that
company by the creditors.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: This amendment will not narrow the range of assets that
are eligible investments.

Mr. KLEIN: I beg your pardon.

Mr. HuUMPHRYS: These investments will not narrow the range of assets
that are eligible investments. Nothing proposed in this bill will render ineligible
an investment that formerly was eligible.

Mr. KLEIN: I am thinking of a company in which common share investment
has been made, and then it fails to pay a dividend and runs into a problem
with your department. Would that not invite the creditors of that particular
company to make a run on the company?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: That has not been the experience. Of course, there have
been cases all through the years where, say, a particular share might be an
eligible investment and the company might buy it, and then the issuing
corporation runs into difficulty and does not pay a dividend. That means the
company could not buy any more of these shares until the dividend record
has been restored.
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Mr. KLEIN: I thought the object of the amendments was to stimulate
Canadian enterprise on the part of a company in which the investment is made
rather than to the advantage of the investing company.

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: I believe that the amendments are broadening the range
of investments eligible for insurance companies. The provisions laying down
the eligible requirements are drawn from the point of view of the insurance
company essentially, and looking through the insurance company to the safety
of the policyholders. Now, so far as the investment provisions can be broadened
while still retaining the desired degree of safety, then it is clearly the policy
evidenced by these amendments to make such a broadening. But, I think it
cannot be regarded solely as a means of creating a market for shares of
Canadian companies. It will partly do that. But, the other aspect must be kept
in mind, that the main purpose of this whole pattern of investment restrictions
is to look to the safety of the company and the protection of its policyholders.

Mr. KLEIN: Yes, but at the same time is it not to stimulate Canadian
business?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: In so far as the eligibility requirements can be broadened
it will create a broader market for Canadian shares and will have the effect
of stimulating the market for them.

Mr. KLEIN: If one of the purposes is to stimulate Canadian business and
the investment is still restricted, to use Mr. Gelber’s expression, to blue chip
investments, then we are really saying to the insurance companies that they
can invest in blue chip investments and, therefore, you are investing in com-
panies that do not—

Mr. HumpHRYS: If I may interrupt, these amendments are broadening
the range of common stocks that will be eligible for investment.

Mr. KLEIN: But they still will be restricted to what we ordinarily would
define as blue chip investments?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: Well, they are restricted in this provision to shares that
have a five year dividend or earnings record, and clearly if there is legislation
to prescribe investment restrictions looking to the safety of the policyholders
one must have some rules of egibility. But, you must keep in mind too that
the basic provision to which I have referred leaves a substantial area of free
investment at the companies’ discretion.

Mr. KLEIN: I have one more question. Do you think that the ordinary
investor—and I am not referring to the investor under the act—will use as a
yardstick in respect of whether he, himself would make an investment, the
eligibility of that particular company under your act?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I believe the provisions of this act are used in other respects
as a pattern for investment.

Mr. KLEIN: If that is true might it not retard the very stimulation this
act wants to bring about?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I do not think I would use the word ‘“retard”; I would
say that if legislation is to be adopted that will lay down a pattern of invest-
ment for insurance companies then it inevitably will have to have some rules
in it that will render some investments eligible and other investments not
eligible. So far as other investors use that as a standard then it will have an
effect that is directly related to the severity of the rules, and I think that
definitely would be accepted. I believe that this legislation has for its primary
purpose the protection of the policyholders; otherwise, there would be no need
for any restrictions at all on investments of insurance companies. So, I do not
see how it would be possible to accomplish that objective and at the same
time set up a pattern that would be very broad or be suitable for other types
of investors.
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The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Lloyd, I know that you are anxious to attend another
committee meeting. Would you proceed now.

Mr. LrLoyp: Mr. Chairman, I would like to bring us back to the objectives
of this legislation and I would like the witness to indicate whether my assump-
tions in this case are well founded.

Mr. Basrorp: If I may interrupt, Mr. Chairman, we never have been away
from the objectives of this legislation.

The CHAIRMAN: As some of the members have to attend the defence com-
mittee meeting perhaps we should proceed and have Mr. Lloyd continue with
his question.

Mr. LLoyp: Despite the observation of my friend may I respond to that
observation in this way. A minute ago the witness said the primary purpose
is the protection of the stockholder. Is it not a fact that Canada has had a
number of instances where closely held family corporations have been the
subject of takeovers?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. LLoyp: And this meant the formation of considerable quantities of
capital to acquire their holdings. In such cases you are most likely to find,
for various reasons, tax reasons and others, the nonpayment of a constant
dividend record and, on the other hand, a very good record of earnings.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. Lroyp: Therefore, the provisions of this statute enable insurance com-
pany funds, to the extent their directors wish, to be employed in the takeover
of a private corporation which did not have a high dividend record but a very
excellent earnings record. Am I not correct that in this respect the act is
constructive and does it not provide an opportunity for insurance companies
to use their massive funds to assist in takeovers of Canadian undertakings
and to compete, say, with foreign firms with capital for the same purpose. Does
this not add something very tangible in respect of Canadian holdings of
Canadian companies?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I think that is correct.

Mr. Lroyp: Then, in respect of earnings in each such year, under sub-
. clause 5 (1) (ii)—

The CHAIRMAN: What page was that?

Mr. Lroyp: That is at page 10, subclause 5 (1) (ii). Mr. Thomas as well as
Mr. Wahn are concerned about the averaging of earnings. I am only trying
to reconcile what you said with the wording of the bill. It provides that a
company must either pay dividends for a five year period in each year upon
its common shares at a certain rate or have earnings in each year available
for the payment of the dividend upon its common shares. Is the legislation
clear in this respect? Does it leave any doubt about what is meant? I am

wondering whether or not it does. It says:

had earnings in each such year available for the payment of a dividend
upon its common shares.

Does this mean earnings available from previous years or precisely what
you stated, had earnings of that particular year available? I suggest to you
the way it reads one might put forward the interpretation that it had earnings
available in that year but it did not pay a dividend. If your purpose is to
insist the earnings of that particular year must equal 4 per cent of the capital
stock of the company then you may have to clarify the wording. It might

clarify the intention if the word “available” was changed to “sufficient”.
21481—2
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Mr. HumMmPHRYS: The intention is that the amount involved shall have been
earned in the particular year, not that the earnings are available from a pre-
vious year.

Mr. LrLoyp: But is your legislation clear on that point?

Mr. HumMpPHRYS: I could raise that point with the draftsman. I believe that
the interpretation would be that the company has had earnings in the year—
which would be the amount earned in the year—and that these earnings are
such that they are available for the payment of a dividend, meaning that after
having met other requirements that must be met before a dividend is paid,
then the remainder would be sufficient to enable the company to pay a 4 per
cent dividend.

Mr. Lroyp: I can only suggest you should check your wording in order to
carry out the intention.

The CHAIRMAN: We will have that checked with the justice department
and the draftsman, Mr. Lloyd.
The next I have on the list is Mr. Munro.

Mr. Munro: If I may address through the Chairman a question to Mr.
Humphrys, is it your feeling that one of the reasons why this 4 per cent is
the outside limit to which on an average these companies have invested in
common shares is due to the limited number of companies that come under the
requirements of the present legislation.

Mr. HumpHRYS: As I indicated earlier, I believe that the industry itself
should probably respond to this question. I can only give my own impression,
that companies may feel that the prices are high in relation to the dividends
being paid. They may feel they can get a better return in other types of
investments. They may be uneasy about the requirement presently for carrying
these shares at market value in their balance sheets. I think perhaps there
would be some element also in respect of the volume of shares that are
available for investment.

Mr. Mungro: Well, if those reasons would apply do you feel that raising
this outside limit from 15 per cent to 25 per cent is going to change the picture?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Personally, I would not expect a startling change but I
would expect some companies at least would make use of the additional free-
dom.

Mr. Munro: Again, through the Chairman to Mr. Humphreys, in respect
of this 4 per cent, is it possible to have any information on what portion of that
4 per cent was invested in common shares and because of its dividend record
being poor it had to take advantage of the basket provision? Would it be a
very minimal portion of the 4 per cent which fell under that provision?

Mr. HumpHRYS: None of those would be basket investments.

Mr. Munro: Well, then, do I interpret that to mean the basket provision
is not really being used at all?

Mr. HumpHRYS: Well, companies have between one per cent and two
per cent of their assets invested under the basket provision. But, those invest-
ments under that provision would not be all shares; there would be a variety
of investments.

Mr. Munro: Could you give us the percentage which would be shares
under the basket provision?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: Yes.

Mr. NUGENT: Mr. Chairman, would these questions not be more appropriate
when we are taking up the amendments to the basket provision?
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Mr. HuMPHRYS: At the end of 1963 the Canadian life insurance companies
had a total of $166 million of investments under the basket provision and of
that $29 million was in stocks.

Mr. MuNRO: There is one point that Mr. Humphrys mentioned earlier
which I did not quite get. You mentioned this 4 per cent was based on book
value.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. MuNRro: Then you said it would be almost double that if—and then
you went on to say something which I did not hear.

Mr. HumpHRYS: It would be almost double that if the shares were carried
in the company’s balance sheet at their current market values.

Mr. MunNro: That is, double that in respect of the over-all investment.
Mr. HuMPHRYS: Something over 7 per cent.

Mr. Munro: In respect of the over-all assets of a particular life insurance
company?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Of the whole group of companies.

Mr. MuNRO: One further question, again through you, Mr. Chairman, to
Mr. Humphrys; what percentage of this 4 per cent would be Canadian stocks?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Slightly less than one half.
Mr. MuNro: How much would that amount to approximately?

; Mr. HumPHRYS: Total investments of Canadian life insurance companies
In common stocks at the end of 1963 amounted to $423 million in book values,
so the Canadian stocks would account for around $200 million.

Mr. MUNRO: Some mention was made of the limiting effects of the earnings
test; if there was one year where earnings were not made it would break the
chain and that company no longer would qualify under this new provision.
Would there be any serious objection if there were two years, say, of earnings
and one year in which there were no earnings but the company paid dividends
in that year—and I am using this as an example—and in the latter two years
the earnings were again up to the limit? In that case could dividends not be
substituted for earnings, thereby not breaking the chain, and the company
still would be eligible?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I am afraid that to adopt a test like that really would
destroy the validity of either test because, as pointed out in some cases, com-
panies will pay dividends out of accumulated earnings and continue the divi-
den record, but if you try to design a test that allowed a company to swing
back and forth from earnings to dividends not only would the test be difficult
to apply but it substantially would destroy, in my opinion, the value of both
tests. With the existence of the basket provision I believe that one need feel
little concern about the possibility of a record being broken because companies
have lots of room in the basket provision to make these investments.

Mr. MuNRrO: The only disturbing factor is—you can keep going back to
the basket test if a company does not qualify under either the dividend or
earnings test—that the number of companies that have fallen under the
basket provision is almost infinitesimal. I think you mentioned a figure of
$29 million.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: This is the investment that companies have made and
held at the end of 1963 under the basket provision, but they may buy a share
under the authority given by the basket provision and hold it under the

heading until it has achieved a dividend record; but once it is achieved the
21481—23
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required record they would transfer it out so, in this way, it is not possible
to measure the real effectiveness of this basket provision merely by looking at
the balance remaining there at any one time.

Mr. Mungro: I suppose it would be impossible to assess the amount of
incentive this basket provision has given to companies over the past in order
to measure its effectiveness.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: It is quite widely used. At the present time, and when I
say that I mean the end of 1963, which is the last point of time on which we
have statements. At that time companies had about 13 per cent of their total
assets invested under this basket provision. The range was from zero in some
cases to a maximum of perhaps 4 per cent. The provision has been used a good
deal in the way that I have described; that is, companies may find an invest-
ment they want to make. If it does not qualify under the specific provision
they can buy it under the basket provision, hold it, and after it achieves the
dividend record or otherwise qualifies they can transfer it out and hold it
under the other provisions of the statute.

Mr. NUGENT: On a point of order, Mr. Chairman, would it not be more
appropriate to go into this when we discuss the amendment to the basket
clause, when there will be a general discussion on that clause? There are a
good number of us here who would like to enter into that discussion but I
think it would be more appropriate if we discussed it at that point in our
proceedings.

Mr. Mungro: I will not pursue it any further. However, there is one other
question, which I do not think relates to the basket provision.

Could you give us information in respect of whether the present earnings
test has an effect on the takeovers of existing companies, and I am thinking,
in particular, of Atlas Steel, Canadian Oils and Labatt’s. Would these takeovers
have been affected in any way by this particular amendment?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: I believe it is impossible to answer that in any definite
way because no one can be sure of the investments insurance companies may
have made in those shares had they had more freedom to invest than is
presently the case.

Mr. Munro: If it was not for this provision would insurance companies
be prohibited from participating in that change of ownership in respect of
these three companies?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I am not sure at the moment, but I believe that prob-
ably the shares of these companies were eligible in any event.

Mr. MuNRro: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed, Mr. Gray.

Mr. Gray: Mr. Chairman, to carry on the point that Mr. Munro raised,
I am puzzled about the explanatory notes in light of an answer given by
Mr. Humphrys. I gather from the answer that you gave that you cannot
intermingle the two tests, that you either have the dividend or the earnings
test.

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. Gray: You cannot have part of one and part of the other to ascer-
tain whether or not your stock is a good investment under this clause. On
page 9 of the explanatory notes dealing with the amendment, it says:

The purpose of this amendment is to authorize as investments deben-
tures issued by a corporation that has had earnings over a period of
five years—
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And so on; and then in the explanatory notes on page 10, referring to com-
mon shares, it refers to this:

Also, it would authorize as investments common shares of a cor-
poration that has had such earnings in each year of a period of five
years—

Now, in reading the wording of the paragraphs which are going to be
amended, and so on, I thought that the tests were the same, and that you
had to look at the provision on each page. Is there a difference between
debentures and common shares?

Mr. HumpHRYS: There is a difference in the earnings test. In respect
of debentures the earnings test is on an average basis: it requires a cor-
poration to have earnings in a period of five years ended less than one year
before the date of investment that have been equal in total to ten times
the interest requirements and in each of any four of the five years have been
equal to at least one and a half times the annual interest requirements. So
the earnings test applicable in the case of debentures is quite different.

Mr. GELBER: What is the reason?

Mr. HumpHRYS: There is a different problem there. The earnings test
for debentures is based upon the earnings of the company in relation to the
annual interest requirements on its outstanding debt. Therefore, what we
are measuring for debentures is the ability of the company to meet the
interest requirements on its debentures; whereas for common shares what
we are trying to measure is the ability of the company to continue to pay

dividends to its shareholders. I think the two problems are substantially
different.

Mr. Gray: I have a further point, one which I think is a point of order.

I have been following the discussion here and I have been wondering
whether we may not inadvertently be leaving the order of business set down
by the steering committee. At this point I understood the time should be
devoted to getting explanations of the proposed amendments without par-
ticular reference to the suitability or otherwise of these amendments, and
that more detailed discussion of policy implications would follow on the
debate of the clause. Perhaps my own question raises a matter of interpre-
.tation. At the rate we are going, unless there is a lot of repetition in the
clauses which will render it unnecessary to discuss them, I think it will be
quite a while before we reach the preliminary stage.

The CHAIRMAN: I thought we would make this particular section a little
more intelligent if we did relate it to clauses that are to come. It is my under-
standing that there is considerable repetition in regard to the loans and trust
sections, when these things will all fall into place.

It was my hope that by pausing here and clearing up this point we would
really gain time later on, Mr. Gray. That is why I had not intervened at
all. I was hopeful that this would accomplish something and assist us to
deal more expeditiously with the bill.

I now turn to Mr. Moreau.

Mr. MoreAau: I was interested in the answer you gave, Mr. Humphrys,
to Mr. Munro pertaining to the percentage of assets of insurance companies
in common stocks and the percentage in Canadian stocks. I put a question
on the order paper last session, and though I do not have the answer before
me now my recollection is that the total investment by Canadian life insurance
companies was about 4% per cent of their assets in common stocks, and about
one quarter of that or approximately 1# per cent was in Canadian stocks. You
now say it is almost half, and I wonder if the picture has actually changed
that much in this short a time.
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Mr. HuMPHRYS: It is less than half. I am asking Mr. Patterson to calcu-
late it.

The CHAIRMAN: While that is being calculated we can go on to another
question.

Mr. MOREAU: My other point relates back to a point which Mr. Gelber
partially made.

With respect to a subsidiary of a foreign controlled company which had
not been paying dividends and which wanted to take advantage, say, of the
withholding tax provisions or, for political considerations, wanted to put
out stocks in Canada, would you not feel that the amendments to the qualifica-
tions of stocks here would allow at least access to the investment pool held
by the insurance companies. In other words, their stocks could qualify under
the new provisions where they could not before.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is correct, if they have an adequate earnings record.

Mr. MoreAU: Would you not feel that this could perhaps be quite an
important consideration? We have heard a great number of arguments to
the effect that even if the stocks were made available in Canada there would
not be sufficient capital available to take them up. We have had a great deal
of discussion on the small percentage of investment of perhaps the largest
investment pool in the country, and some of the reasons why that invest-
ment pool could not be used. I was thinking the argument might be applied
to the Union Carbide issue when they brought out their stocks; and it
turned out that there was sufficient money available to take all the stock
issued. But perhaps if we had a rash of these things it might be very important
to have these amendments in the act. I just wonder what your views would
be on that.

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: I believe that broadening the eligibility in this way and
making shares of the type you described eligible investments for insurance
companies will considerably increase the market for them in Canada.

The actual volume that will be taken up by the insurance companies will
depend, of course, upon the particular company and the price of the shares,
and other considerations. I believe broadening the eligibility in this way will
definitely stimulate the market for them.

Mr. MoreaU: Can you tell me whether Union Carbide in their subsidiary
occupation had a dividend record?

The follow up question is, what percentage of the Carbide issue was
taken up by insurance company investment?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I have no information on the percentage of the issue
taken up by insurance companies, but I do believe they have made sub-
stantial investments in it.

Mr. Moreau: In other words, the subsidiary did have a dividend record
and therefore qualified? Or would it be done under the basket provisions?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I could look into that. I do not know offhand. If they
have made investments and they did not have the required dividend record,
they have clearly been making them under the basket provision, I think the
prospect of an amendment of this type may have had some influence also.

. Mr. Moreau: My first question was concerned with a change in the
Investment pattern since a year ago. I think really there is some significance
in that. If the ratio in these was, as I recall from last year, about one third
and it has now risen to almost one half, I think it may already indicate a
considerable change in the pattern of investment by the insurance companies,
and I just wonder if we could not obtain those figures.
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Mr. HuMPHRYS: Mr. Patterson has calculated the figures from our report
at the end of the year, and his figures show a little higher than one third now,
not as much as one half.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not want to cut you off, but we have had quite
broad questioning and explanations given by Mr. Humphrys. Perhaps we can
now go back to the clauses and to the explanations without necessarily going
into all the reasoning.

Mr. HumpHRYS: We have dealt with subclause (4) which has to do with
debentures, and established the eligibility by a cross reference. Subclause
(5) paragraph (ja) effects an amendment with respect to guaranteed invest-
ment certificates for the same purpose as was just described for debentures.
Paragraph (k) which is an amendment related to preferred shares is also
for the same purpose; that is to establish the qualification in part by cross
reference to common shares.

Paragraph (1) at the top of page 10 is the paragraph dealing with common
shares. It effects two changes; the first is to reduce the present seven year
dividend record requirement to five years and to enact the proposed earnings
test that we have been discussing.

The amendments will also effect a number of less important changes. The
first is that at present an insurance company is limited to investing in not more
than 30 per cent of the total issues of shares of any corporation. That in-
cludes both common shares and preferred shares. This amendment will remove
preferred shares from that limitation and retain only the limit of a maximum
of 30 per cent of the common shares of any corporation.

Mr. GELBER: Could we have an explanation of that change? Why was it
felt necessary?

Mr. HumpHRYS: It was not considered necessary to impose a limit on the
investments in preferred shares of any particular company since they are a
different character of investment from common shares. The purpose of the
limitation is essentially to prevent an insurance company from buying enough
shares in a particular corporation to exercise a controlling interest, and this
relates to common shares rather than to preferred shares.

Mr. GELBER: Actually, 30 per cent is a rather high percentage. By re-
moving the restriction of preferred shares I wonder if you are not opening
the door for trust company management to take too large an interest in com-
panies in which some of their directors are concerned.

In a lot of the mutual funds the limitation of investment of mutual
shares in any one company is very often 5 per cent of the total issue of that
company. It seems to me that 30 per cent is a very high percentage. I do not
see the reason for the removal of preferred shares from the restriction.

Mr. HumpHRYS: The 30 per cent has been in the act for a long time and
no change in that figure is proposed here. The removal of preferred shares
from that limitation would enable the companies to invest in preferred shares
on the same terms as they may invest in debentures of the corporation or
bonds without any specific limit in the act. Under the present existing legis-
lation, if they wished to do so they could of course buy 30 per cent of the
common shares by not buying any of the preferred.

Mr. Basrorp: What is the criterion for common shares in the United
States?

Mr. HumpHrys: It varies quite widely from one state to another, Mr.
Basford. The United States insurance companies have not in practice been very
heavy investors in common shares. Some of the principal states have not until
recent years permitted the life insurance companies to buy common shares at
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all. That is changing somewhat. I have no data with me that would permit
me to answer your question directly, but I could get limits for some of these
principal states if you wish to have that information.

Mr. Basrorp: Yes, I would appreciate that. I take it you would not be in a
position to answer the same question with regard to the United Kingdom.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: There are no such limitations or restrictions in the
United Kingdom. In the United Kingdom, companies may invest completely
at their own discretion.

Mr. Basrorp: In any common stocks?
Mr. HuMpHRYS: They may invest in any stocks of any type.

Mr. Basrorp: Why is the legislation in the United Kingdom so different
from ours? You have said that the purpose of these restrictions is to protect
the policyholders. I am sure the people of the United Kingdom have the same
desire. How do they express it?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Your question can only be answered on an historical
basis. The insurance companies had a very early start in England and they
grew up over 200 or 300 years. They had their share of failures and troubles
over the years when the industry was growing and being formed. At the
present time they have reached a state of financial strength and stability
that enables them to operate apparently in a manner that is satisfactory to
the authorities over there.

In this country and in the United States the pattern was different. Almost
from the earliest times of insurance there was a much more formal pattern
of supervision established in this country and in the United States. I think in
part it may have developed in that way because in the early experience of
this country most of the insurance was effected by companies from other
countries, and there would be a tendency to establish a more elaborate pattern
of supervision to protect Canadian policyholders when the business was being
done by non-resident companies.

We have been influenced probably to some extent by the pattern of
legislative supervision in the United States, I think, and as in so many cases
we find the position in Canada to be somewhat between that of the United
States and that of the United Kingdom.

Our governing restrictions are not as rigid or elaborate as they are in
the United States; on the other hand, they are somewhat more elaborate
than in the United Kingdom. I think, among other things, the justification
for the pattern of supervision that we have in Canada is that we have not
had failures or losses to policyholders from life insurance companies failing.
You will note this is not the case, if you look at the history of the development
of insurance in the United Kingdom. I admit it has been the case over there
in recent years that they have not had troubles of this kind for a great many
years. However, in the history of the development of the insurance industry
in that country there were a good many difficulties and failures.

Mr. Basrorp: Well, it would appear from the United Kingdom example
that it is possible to run an insurance system without these earnings.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Do you mean without the investment restrictions?
Mr. BASForD: Yes.
Mr. HumMpHRYS: Yes.

Mr. Basrorp: Then, I take it this matter of the investment restrictions
is not the sacred cow which we think it is.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think I should ask one of the officials to comment
upon your question.
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Mr. Basrorp: I would like to revert to the 44 companies that are being
added to the appropriate list of common stockholdings. Is there any charac-
teristic about these additions? Are we allowing insurance companies to invest
in any branch of our economy in which they were not previously investing?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I have not that information.
Mr. Basrorp: Is it possible to have a list of these companies?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I can make inquiries. The information that I gave to you
this morning was provided to us by the investment departments of some of the
life insurance companies. I can go back and ask whether or not they can list
the companies for me. 3

Mr. BAsForD: Thank you very much.
The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Humphrys, would you now carry on with the act.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Paragraph (1) also makes some cross references to sub-
sequent sections where the limitations on investment in common shares are
otherwise modified. We will come to those sections as we go through the bill.

Paragraph (m), starting at line 29 at page 10—

Mr. GELBER: If I may interrupt, I have a question in regard to subsection
(v). I am told one of the reasons that some of our smaller companies have been
purchased and controlled abroad is that this restriction does not allow insurance
companies to buy shares of other insurance companies. They are the most likely
purchasers, as you know, and in view of this restriction companies who have
experience in this field move in and control foreign companies because our own
people are restricted. In point of fact, we are encouraging the export of control
of insurance companies by this type of restriction. Am I not correct in this
assumption?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: One of the amendments proposed later in the bill, to
which a cross reference is made, will enable the Canadian life insurance com-
panies to purchase the shares of another Canadian life insurance company with
a view to eventually merging the operations of the two companies. It has
long been considered that there is no reasonable justification for permitting a
Canadian life insurance company to own and operate a subsidiary life insurance
company in the same market. However, they have had for a long time the
power to merge or amalgamate with other Canadian companies. This new
power that will be proposed in a subsequent amendment will enable them to
purchase the shares of an existing company with a view to eventual amalgama-
tion of the two companies.

Mr. GELBER: They would have to purchase control.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. GELBER: And although that control may not be available, yet a sub-
stantial block of shares might be available and the interest in the Canadian
company might be piecemeal because of this restriction.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Well, under the provisions that were proposed earlier in
this bill there will be limitations on the proportion of shares that can be
acquired by non-residents so I think the piecemeal sale to foreign interests
will not be possible under this amendment.

Mr. GELBER: But, under other sections of the act.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Under the provisions we discussed earlier in respect of
the proportion of shares that could be owned by non-residents.

Mr. WAHN: I have a question along the same line. What is the reason why
a life insurance company is not permitted to buy the shares of another life
insurance company in a case where it is not with a view to merger or would
not amount to control. I believe the witness said the reason was there was no
point in allowing a life insurance company to have a subsidiary life company
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in the same market. But, suppose it wants to buy a number of shares of another
life company which does not amount to control, so that the other company does
not become a subsidiary. In this case the reason given by you does not apply
in that event. Why should not one life company buy shares of another life
company as an investment?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: Well, the prohibition against one company of this type
buying shares in another runs through the Insurance Companies Act, the Loan
Companies Act, the Trust Companies Act and so on, and it has been considered
inappropriate and undesirable for one company to buy shares in another which,
in effect, is its competitor in the same market. It is not necessary as an invest-
ment because they are in the life insurance business already and to participate
in the life insurance business it is not necessary or really reasonable for them
to take a share in another company that is in the same activity; the same
reasoning follows in respect of other companies of a corresponding character.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions.

Mr. WaHN: I do not think the reason given is entirely satisfactory, but
if that is the reason I suppose there is nothing one can say. My point is this.
Very often acquisition of control takes place over an extended period. You
can think of many cases in Canadian history where one company, desirous of
acquiring control of another company, has not been able to do it as a result
of one transaction but it has picked up a large block of control, which does
not amount to complete control, and ten years later they get another block of
shares, and eventually it has obtained sufficient shares to acquire control. There
is nothing necessarily wrong with this process but, I gather, this is not per-
mitted under the present act, even though in other fields in Canada this is a
recognized way of integrating the operations of companies, sometimes with
desirable economic results and, no doubt, at other times with undesirable
economic results. But, as I understand it, this is prohibited under this legisla-
tion, and nothing further can be done about it.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: It is prohibited, and all through the years these companies,
each incorporated by special act of parliament for the purpose of doing an
insurance business or whatever business they have power to do, have been
prohibited from buying shares of other similar companies. In the first place,
it would not be necessary for the carrying out of the essential business of the
company; it might create conflicts of interest in that the investing company
would have an interest in its competitor. It would create complications in
attempting to assess the financial position of the companies concerned and,
generally, it is not at all necessary to enable the company to carry out its
objectives. If it were attempted with a view to eventually gaining control,
the process of investment might start but there would be no assurance it would
ever reach a position of control or amalgamation, and you would have a
complexity of investment patterns and an interlocking of companies which
would be inappropriate and unnecessary to the carrying out of the objectives
of the particular company concerned.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Humphrys, would you now continue clause by clause.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I am referring now to paragraph (n), starting at line 29
on page 10, which deals with the power of insurance companies to invest in
real estate mortgages. There are two changes. The first would increase the
limit on a mortgage that may be purchased, from two thirds of the value of
the real estate to a mortgage representing three quarters of the value of the
real estate. The other change would be to enable the company to invest in
mortgages on leaseholds in Canada. Now, that change in respect of lease-
holds is merely to bring the investing provision into line with the lending
provision. Companies now have the power to lend on the security of mortgages
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on leasehold property, so the change merely brings the investment provision
into line with the lending provision. The important change here is the increase
in the limit from two thirds of the value of the real estate to three quarters.

Mr. Munro: In looking at this clause strictly from the aspect of this
question of foreign ownership and control, what effect would it have?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I do not think it would have any effect on that aspect.

Mr. Munro: In other words, the previous provisions in no way limited
insurance companies in the past from participating in any takeovers with, say,
a similar type of investment capital from abroad.

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I am sorry, but I did not understand your question. Does
your question relate to paragraph (1)?

Mr. Munro: No, I am referring to this business of raising the percentage
in respect of mortgages, and perhaps it has no relationship to the paragraph
we are discussing. I was just wondering about it.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think you are directly on the clause, Mr. Munro,
although I may have misunderstood you.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: This clause will enable companies to buy mortgages that
represent a higher limit in respect of the real estate than they could formerly,
so it broadens their power to invest in mortgages.

Mr. MUNRO: And it is not anticipated this would have any bearing one way
or another so far as foreign ownership and control are concerned?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I cannot see it.
Mr. Munro: That was not one of the motivating designs?
Mr. HumpPHRYS: No.

Mr. BasrorD: Why were leaseholds excluded in the first place?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: I think at one time the mortgage investing powers were
limited to freehold real estate as being a more secure type of investment. Then,
as leaseholds became more common power was given to lend on the security
of mortgages on leaseholds, but I think probably owing to an oversight as much
as anything else that leasehold provision was not inserted in this paragraph
which deals with investment in mortgages; it is in the provision dealing with
 lending on the security of mortgages.

Subclause 6 deals with investment in real estate for the production of
income. This enables the companies to invest in real estate for the production
of income where the real estate has been leased on a long term lease to a cor-
poration that has a dividend record sufficient to enable its common shares to
qualify as investment. The change proposed here would enable companies to
invest in income real estate where the real estate has been leased to a govern-
ment or government agency as well as to a corporation with a prescribed
dividend record. It also broadens the range of partners with which an assur-
ance company may join in such an investment. Some of these are very large
and sometimes companies join together to make a joint investment. It would
also enable companies to invest in larger individual parcels of real estate. At
present, they may not invest in a parcel in excess of one per cent of their
assets. This would enable them to buy any other parcel up to 2 per cent of their
assets. I may say that this is one of the places where an amendment has been
proposed. As the bill is drawn, it would enable a company to invest in real
estate leased to a government or government agency, limited to a national,
provincial or state government. The proposed amendment would include a
municipal government.

Mr. MACKASEY: Mr. Chairman, we have a labour meeting which is rather
urgent.
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The CHAIRMAN: It is obvious to me there is pressing business elsewhere
for many of our members. I had anticipated that on Thursday we might hear
the views of the trust companies, and Mr. Nelson is with us today. It is obvious
we will not be able to reach you, Mr. Nelson.

We will return on Thursday at which time I hope we can continue on until
12.30 p.m. and complete the explanation of the act by Mr. Humphrys. Mr.
Robinette will be appearing on Tuesday of next week to make representations
on behalf of the World Mortgage Corporation, and Mr. Nelson will be here on
Thursday of next week at 10 o’clock.

The meeting is adjourned until Thursday at 10 o’clock in this room.
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
THURSDAY, November 5, 1964.
(11)

The Standing Committee on Banking and Commerce met at 10.20 a.m.
this day, the Chairman, Mr. Pennell, presiding.

Members present: Messrs. Aiken, Asselin (Notre-Dame-de-Grace), Gelber
Gendron, Kindt, Klein, Lambert, McCutcheon, Moreau, Munro, Pascoe, Pennell,
Rynard, Thomas, Wahn and Whelan—(16).

In attendance: Mr. Richard Humphrys, Superintendent of Insurance.

The Committee resumed consideration of Bill S-123, An Act to amend cer-
tain Acts administered in the Department of Insurance.

Mr. Humphrys explained the purpose of subclauses 6 to 9 inclusive of
Clause 5 and was questioned. The clause was permitted to stand.

The witness explained Clause 6, was questioned and the clause was per-
mitted to stand.

Mr. Humphrys explained the purposes of Clauses 7 to 12 inclusive, and
the clauses were allowed to stand.

On motion of Mr. Moreau, seconded by Mr. Lambert,

Resolved,—That the Committee cause to be printed 750 copies in English
and 300 copies in French of the Minutes of Proceedings and Evidence relating
to Bill C-123.

At 12.15 p.m. the Committee adjourned until 10.00 a.m. on Tuesday, Novem-
ber 10, 1964.

Dorothy F. Ballantine,
Clerk of the Committee.
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THURSDAY, November 5, 1964.

The CHAIRMAN: Gentlemen, we now have a quorum. I call the committee
to order.

Yesterday, Mr. Humphrys was giving us an explanation of the proposed
amendments and, if my memory serves me correctly, I believe we were on
paragraph (o) of subclause 6 at the bottom of page 10.

You might proceed, Mr. Humphrys, with paragraph (o) at the top of
page 11.

Mr. RicHARD HuUMPHRYS (Superintendent of Insurance, Department of
Insurance): Paragraph (o) deals with the power to invest in real estate or
leaseholds for the production of income. At present companies can make invest-
ments of this type where the real estate is leased to a corporation on a long
term lease and the corporation has the financial standing such that its preferred
or common shares are authorized investments.

This amendment would make it possible for companies to invest in this
type of real estate where the lease is to a government or government agency.
In the amendment as placed before you, the governments referred to are
national, state or provincial governments. Since this bill was introduced, the
industry has asked whether an amendment could be made to include municipal
governments also in that section. That is one of the proposed amendments to
the bill that has been tabled.

The other changes in this paragraph would expand slightly the range
of partners with which a company may join in making these investments. Some
of these investments are very large, and in some cases several companies join
together to make investments. Hitherto they have been able to join only with
other Canadian insurance companies registered under this act, and loan
companies and trust companies incorporated in Canada. This will enable them
to join with any other insurance companies doing business in Canada.

The amendment also increases the size of the individual parcel of real
. estate which may be purchased from one per cent of the company’s assets to
2 per cent.

Mr. Rynarp: This is not quite clear in my mind:

The amendment would also prevent a company registered to transact
life insurance from investing any of its funds in the shares of life

insurance companies except as provided in the new section 64A and
in section 90—

No insurance company could do business without having a licence to do
it, so I do not see the point in this. Any company which would be doing
business in the life insurance world would have to obtain a licence to do
it and would have to be incorporated.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: The company must have a certificate of registration to
carry on business; that is correct.

Mr. RynarDp: Then why is this applicable to it?
Mr. LamBERT: Dr. Rynard is referring back to paragraph (1).

Mr. HumpHRYS: Is that the subparagraph on the middle of page 10?
Mr. Rynagrp: Yes.

139
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Mr. HUMPHRYS: ‘“—a company transacting the business of life insurance.”
That is to prevent one life insurance company buying shares of another.

Mr. RYyNARD: But it also goes on to state:

The amendment would also prevent a company registered to transact
life insurance from investing any of its funds in the shares of life in-
surance companies—

Mr. HumpHRYS: Yes. That is to prevent one life insurance company buy-
ing shares of common stock in another.

Mr. RyNARD: In other words, to prevent one company buying up an-
other?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Except in the circumstances described in the two sec-
tions to which a cross reference is made.

Mr. RynARD: But no life insurance company could buy up another?

Mr. HumMmpPHRYS: That is right, except in the circumstances set forth in
these two sections.

Mr. RynarD: Might we have those two sections in order to clear it up?
The CHAIRMAN: You might give a brief explanation.

Mr. HumPHRYS: Section 64A will enable a Canadian life insurance company
to buy shares of another life insurance company transacting business outside
of Canada. They could, therefore, under that provision own subsidiaries in
foreign fields. The provision in section 90 will enable a life insurance company
to purchase a controlling interest in the shares of another life insurance com-
pany leading to a merger or amalgamation of the two companies.

The CrAIRMAN: Does that temporarily satisfy you?
Mr. RYNARD: Yes.

Mr. LamBERT: What about a life insurance company which gets into a real
estate promotional proposition with a realty firm which it controls and thereby
circumvents some of the provisions. Suppose it is dealing with a captive real
estate firm in investment in a real property, as is now being envisaged by the
amendments, and I am putting aside the participation with other life in-
surance companies. Two of them might get in with captive real estate firms. Is
this not endangering the structure of our life insurance companies and the,
shall we say, requirements for solid reserves?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I will answer the question in two parts. First, this para-
graph deals only with investment in real estate for the production of income
and the real estate must be leased to a government or to a corporation with a
good financial record. The leasing must be in terms that will provide for the
repayment of at least 85 per cent of the purchase price over the term of the
lease, not exceeding 30 years, and also must provide for a reasonable rate of
return to the company. Therefore, under this provision it would not be possible
for them to make the type of investment you have visualized.

However, when we get to section 64A, there is a proposal there that life in-
surance companies be empowered to invest in real estate subsidiaries, notwith-
standing certain other investment provisions, by buying common shares. So,
the question you raise is quite relevant. This proposed amendment would en-
able them to obtain an equity interest in a real estate subsidiary.

Mr. LamserT: I think it is tied in, but I am thinking of some developments
taking place in Ottawa at the present time where there are major buildings
being put up on the basis of a long term lease to the federal government. I
do not know where the financing is coming from. I rather suspect the insurance
companies may be in on this, because after all they are rather lucrative lease
agreements. Since these proposals will be a parallel in respect of trust com-
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panies and other life insurance companies, what I am concerned with is that
they will be able to invest money in real estate firms which firms would be the
nominal developers, and where in actual fact they will be able to circumvent
the 2 per cent limit by reason of the fact that, having an investment in a realty
firm, they could put it under that head and yet come in under the head of
investment in real property.

Mr. HumPHRYS: The investments under this paragraph would have to be
by way of direct ownership of the real estate. The proposal in section 64A is
to enable them to own a real estate subsidiary; they cannot do it now, be-
cause they are limited to a maximum of 30 per cent of shares of any one
corporation. So, they could not obtain a controlling interest; but under the
proposal they would be enabled to obtain a controlling interest in a subsidiary.
The proposal is that power to obtain a controlling interest in a real estate
subsidiary would be subject to such terms and conditions as prescribed by the
treasury board on the recommendation of the superintendent of insurance.

The intention is that the treasury board would lay down provisions that
would establish some degree of supervision over the extent to which they
could invest their funds in this way. Further, any such investment would have
to be by way of purchase of the shares—ownership of the shares of the sub-
sidiary—and they would come within the limitation on the ownership of shares.

Mr. LamBeRT: As superintendent of insurance you are satisfied this will
not weaken, shall we say, the stability of our life insurance company structure?

Mr. HumPpHRYS: It represents a considerable broadening in their power.
There is no question but that investment on an equity basis in real estate
carries with it a greater degree of risk than some other types of investments.
However, I, as superintendent, believe that we will be able to lay down terms
and conditions and establish a degree of supervision over it such that the safety
of policyholders will not be endangered thereby.

Mr. THOMAS: Do we understand that the previous provision in the act per-
mitted life insurance companies to invest in mortgages to the extent of two
thirds of the value of real estate?

Mr. HumMmpPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. THoMAS: No, this amendment provides they can invest up to three
~ quarters or 75 per cent of the value of the real estate?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: There is an amendment to that effect.

Mr. THOMAS: Is it limited to that; is the amendment limited to that concept
of just increasing the ability to invest from two thirds of the value in real estate
to three quarters, or are there other broadening powers incorporated in this
amendment?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: The specific amendment dealing with the power of the
companies to invest in mortgages and real estate does two things; it enables
them to invest in mortgages up to a limit of 75 per cent of the value of the
real estate instead of two thirds, and it would also enable them to invest in
a mortgage on leasehold property as well as on freeholding property; that
refers to the specific amendment dealing with the power to invest in real
estate mortgages. In this clause there are a number of other amendments to

the investment powers, all of which are in the direction of broadening those
powers.

Mr. THOMAS: Are there any restrictions on the amount of the total in-
vested funds of a company which may be invested in real estate mortgages?
Mr. HumpPHRYS: No.

: Mr. THomAs: In other words, if they have X dollars to invest they can
invest 100 per cent of it in real estate mortgages?
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Mr. HumpHRYS: So far as the legislative provisions are concerned, yes.

Mr. McCuTcHEON: I am not legally trained and things have to be practical
in order to get through to my understanding of this, Mr. Humphrys. May I
pose a question in this manner? Land assembly in a large metropolitan area has
been undertaken in the past by speculators and real estate promoters, and the
only thing that life companies have been able to do, after the profit has been
made by the investors or speculators, has been to lend out the policyholders’
funds at a nominal interest rate as mortgages on the development of this. Do
I take it that now the life companies would be able to go into the land assembly
business and get in on the so-called gravy train that there has been in that
field over the past many years?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: The amendment that would enable life insurance com-
panies to own real estate subsidiaries has been requested by the industry as
a result of their desire to participate on an equity basis in some of these
real estate developments. As the matter has been placed before us, the
circumstances are much as you have described them. They have been able to
participate by way of a mortgage loan, but not by way of equity. The amend-
ment enabling them to own real estate subsidiaries would enable them to
participate on an equity basis with the profits if the result is successful and
the losses if it is not.

Mr. McCutcHEON: Thank you.

Mr. AIKEN: Mr. Humphrys, I would like to come back to a question
raised by Dr. Rynard concerning the power of Canadian life companies to
hold stock in life companies outside Canada. I would like to ask whether there
is a double standard situation in this bill in that a Canadian life company
is not restricted in holding stock in a foreign life company but a foreign com-
pany is restricted in its holdings in Canadian life companies. Is this a fair
statement? I am not arguing the merits or demerits at the moment, because that
will be my next question.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I think the question refers in part back to the proposed
amendment dealing with limitations on non-resident ownership of shares of
Canadian life insurance companies.

Mr. AIREN: Yes.
Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Well—

Mr. AIRKEN: I am referring particularly to the subsection we are on
now, G64A.

Mr. HumpHRYS: The limits on non-resident ownership of shares of Cana-
dian life insurance companies would apply to existing companies that are now
under Canadian control, but those provisions would not prevent foreign interests
coming into Canada and incorporating a Canadian company, capitalized by
non-residents from the outset, if parilament or the provincial legislatures saw
fit to grant the incorporation. So, the way still is open for non-residents to
form a Canadian company so far as these provisions are concerned. It is
proposed that Canadian life insurance companies be empowered to own sub-
sidiaries outside Canada; this would be a parallel power. They could incorporate
a subsidiary in foreign fields if the foreign jurisdiction would let them. Whether
or not they could buy an existing company in a foreign jurisdiction would
depend upon the laws in that jurisdiction.

The reason the industry has requested this amendment is that Canadian
life insurance companies have long done a large volume of business outside
Canada. The industry has felt for some time there would be certain advantages
if they could do that through a subsidiary company rather than through a
branch of the existing company. There is a fairly strong trend throughout the
world, particularly in the international operation of insurance, in the direction
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of operating through locally incorporated companies, rather than through
branches of the parent company as traditionally has been the case.

I believe this power to own foreign subsidiaries will be used to form foreign
subsidiaries rather than to buy existing ones, although I must admit it is
not restricted.

Mr. AIRKEN: Therefore, a Canadian life company could acquire stock in
an existing foreign company?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: So far as this legislation is concerned, yes.

Mr. AIKEN: There is another thing I was not aware of until you stated
it. This legislation only prevents the sale of existing Canadian life companies
and does not prevent the incorporation of foreign-owned Canadian life com-
panies?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. LamBERT: I have a supplementary question. You have control over
these operations of the Canadian companies, but now, with the amendments
proposed whereby they may be able to operate a subsidiary in the foreign
field, what control will you have over the subsidiary in its real estate opera-
tions; in other words, you control the main body, but it is connected to a sub-
sidiary body over which you have no control. If that is in a bag of rice with
with a hole in it, then I am afraid the control would be lost. Do you propose
to control life insurance companies in their real estate operations on a con-
solidated basis, or to merely compartmentize it in so far as the Canadian com-
pany and its operations in Canada are concerned?

Mr. HumpHRYS: Regarding the ownership of a subsidiary life insurance
company in a foreign field, we propose to work out provisions and have the
treasury board lay down terms and conditions that will be designed to protect
the Canadian policyholders in the sense of putting some limit on the extent
to which the company can put money into the foreign subsidiary. The con-
ditions would be designed to lay down rules and regulations in respect of the
valuation of the shares of the subsidiary as they might appear as an asset in
the statement of the Canadian company. Also, we would want to have access
to the financial statements of the subsidiary and to exercise a degree of con-
trol at least sufficient to protect the reputation of Canada and Canadian in-
surance. But, beyond that, the responsibility for regulating the operations of
the subsidiary would be very largely in the hands of the local jurisdiction be-
cause the subsidiary would be selling insurance policies to residents of that
jurisdiction. It would be up to the local authorities to determine the extent
of the regulation they wanted to impose on a company operating within their
jurisdiction. The fact is that most of the business done now by Canadian life
insurance companies outside of Canada is in the United States or in the United
Kingdom. In the United States there are quite rigid restrictions in each state
on the operations of insurance companies, and I think subsidiaries formed in
the United States probably would be under tighter restrictions legislatively
than the companies are in Canada.

Mr. Aiken: Mr. Chairman, that answers the question I was raising.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Formerly, Canadian companies did a very large business
throughout the world but the trend since the war has been very much in the
direction of withdrawing from countries in the far east, middle east and cen-
tral America, and really their foreign business has been very largely restricted
now to the United Kingdom, the United States and the West Indies.

The CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed Mr Kindt.

Mr. KinpT: I note the new provisions increase from 623 per cent of the
present value of the real estate up to 75 per cent of the value of the real estate,
as you have said. But, I am troubled a little bit in respect of the word “value”
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because it has, as you know, several meanings. I am wondering if the meaning
has been nailed down here. It could mean, as you know, the appraised value,
the purchase value, the resale value, or value for use. In my opinion, the word
‘value’ has to be nailed down. Could you tell me where it is nailed down?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: Well, it is not defined specifically. It is taken to be the
market value of the real estate. The practice is for companies to determine
their own appraised value and make their loans accordingly. The department
inspects their mortgage loans; it looks at the value, and it is able to check
it from a record of properties that may have been sold, or like properties. In
this manner it is possible to exercise some degree of supervision in order to
see to it that the value being used for purposes of this provision is a reason-
able estimate of the market value at the time the loan is made.

Mr. KinpT: There is certainly a wide variation in market values, as you
know, and any one company may appraise the real estate at a certain market
value. In that event, how could the government come along and make sure
that they are conforming to the provision of the act if in making the appraisal
of the value the government comes out at a different point from the company.
Who is right?

Mr. HumMPHRYS: Admittedly, there is an area of opinion in determining
the market value of a piece of real estate. We can exercise some supervision by
comparing the appraised values with sale prices where the property has been
sold, perhaps after the mortgage has been made or where similar properties
have been sold. But, where a dispute arises and a real difference of opinion
occurs as to the value of the property we would call for an appraisal by an
independent appraiser, and be guided by the results of that. I think that is
as objective an approach to the value of real estate as can be taken. Of course,

the real measure of the value is the sale price of a similar property that has been
sold.

Mr. KinpT: But I still cannot see how your authority can be exercised
against these companies.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: We could call for an independent appraisal.

Mr. KinpT: Yes, but at the time you made your appraisal changes could
have taken place and the person who made the appraisal would not come out
at the same point as he would if he made the appraisal at the time the com-
panies made it.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Well, it is true that the values differ, but the extent
of a difference of an opinion that might be based on a short time period would
not be such as to constitute a serious difference in the value. If it were a very
large difference then the company would be required to dispose of the loan—
that is, sell it, or it would be disallowed as an asset in their statement.

Mr. KinpT: But serious complications might result by requiring an insur-
ance company to dispose of it right at the time when things were not
favourable for a disposition. I am thinking of your authority over companies
in respect of the meaning of the word “value”. Now, I suspect because of the
way insurance companies operate in respect of investments they would stay
under the figure of 75 per cent instead of going right up to the 75 per cent.
In other words, they would keep it down to around, say, 50 per cent or perhaps
60 per cent as a maximum of real estate values. And, it may not even be
that high. Perhaps that would take care of itself. But, if it came to a showdown
between you and the company I do not think you would have a leg to stand
on under the present provisions in respect of the meaning of the word “value”.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: We could call for an independent appraisal. The problem
has not been a serious one in actual practice.
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Mr. KinpT: But the reason it has not been a serious one in actual practice
is that you are now getting into the question of life insurance companies going
into the real estate field which, to a large extent, was not the case before.
But it is being opened up. Therefore, the problem certainly will become
more acute now than it has been in the past.

Mr. HumPHRYS: I would have thought, sir, that the problem probably
would be less acute if the limit is raised from two thirds to 75 per cent. At
the present time, when the limit is two thirds and other companies are lending
at a higher ratio, and perhaps picking off the more desirable mortgages
because they can lend at a higher ratio, there is, I think, quite a strong pressure
perhaps to increase appraisal values in order to be able to lend a competitive
amount. In raising the mortgages from two thirds to 75 per cent I think you
are more likely to get a realistic figure because they then can compete on more
even terms with other companies. Some of the United States and British
companies operating in Canada can lend at a higher ratio than the two thirds.

The CHAIRMAN: Would you proceed now, Mr. Rynard.

Mr. RyNaRD: Mr. Chairman, some of my questions have been answered.
However, I would like to ask what percentage of insurance funds will be
allowed to go into the mortgage business and into the building business in
respect of real estate.

Mr. HumPHRYS: There is no limit on the portion of a company’s fund that
may be invested in mortgages. So far as real estate is concerned, under the
present law companies are limited to investing a maximum of 10 per cent of
their assets in real estate for the production of income. That is the type of real
estate that is described in paragraph (o), the so-called ‘“leaseback” real
estate, where the property is leased on a long term basis.

Mr. RynarD: That is, the insurance companies erect the buildings?

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: They own the buildings. The proposed amendment would
remove the limitation on leaseback real estate because that has proved to
be an excellent investment. This has had a very good record, and the require-
ment that it must be leased on a long term basis to a corporation whose shares
are eligible investments means that it is almost as secure as a debenture of
the corporation. So, it is proposed in these amendments to remove this type
of real estate from the 10 per cent limit.

But in paragraph (p) on this same page it is proposed to enable companies
to invest in another type of real estate and that type together with investments

in real estate made under the basket provision would be limited to a maximum
of 10 per cent of the company’s assets.

Mr. RynaArD: I am wondering about this. If they are getting into this and
increasing their real estate holdings I suppose you could get a downward trend
in this respect. If that is the case, are you going to get into trouble or are you
going to stop them before it goes that far? Are you actually going to hold
this down and not let them get into the problem where you could get a little
downward trend in real estate holdings. We have seen this happen, and the
past history of life insurance companies demonstrates that such has been the
case. I am just wondering whether you are going to keep a control on this
in order not to allow this situation to develop.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Well, the control in law is limiting companies to investing
pot more than 10 per cent of their assets in real estate for the production of
income, other than this leaseback type which is, as I have said, a very secure
investment and partakes more of a debenture type than a real estate type.
So, there will be a limit of 10 per cent so far as investment in real estate for
the production of income is concerned. With regard to real estate companies,
this will be an investment in common shares and will come under the limit of
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25 per cent on investment in common shares. Those two are the extent of the
legislative limits. Now, I do not think it is possible to legislate investment
wisdom into the minds of the investment managers in the company nor is it
possible for the insurance department to be all-wise in this area. So, I think
all I can say, in answer to your question, is that in accordance with our
normal practice we would keep very closely in touch with the investments that
are being made by companies. If we felt that a danger area was being
reached we certainly would enter into discussions with the companies to try
to air the matter and to see where the best course lies. But, we are not in a
position to substitute our investment judgment as an insurance department or
as government officials for the investment judgment of the company officials.
Within the limitations of the law they may exercise their discretion and our
power would be limited to persuading.

Mr. RYNARD: Of course, you would be controlling their licence.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes, their certificate of registry comes up for renewal every
year and the minister may impose such conditions as he wishes in the

certificate.
Mr. RYNARD: So this really is your safeguard.
Mr. HuMPHRYS: In a serious situation this would be the ultimate safe-

guard, yes.

Mr. RYNARD: When they are making investments and arriving at the point
which you regard as critical is there anything in the regulations in respect of
these companies going further with these investments? You do keep this check
on them?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Well, they file statements with us twice a year indicating
the new investments they have made in the half year, and every year they
file an elaborate statement with us showing complete details of their financial
conditions and affairs together with a complete list of all their investments. So,
we do keep in touch with them very closely throughout the year.

Mr. A1kEN: I would like to ask Mr. Humphrys a question relating to sub-
section 7 concerning mortgages in real estate.

The CHAIRMAN: What page is that?

Mr. AIKEN: Page 12.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think I have asked Mr. Humphrys to explain
clause (p) on page 11. He made reference to it but has not discussed it. Mr.
Aiken, I am not trying to rule you out of order, but I think you are a little
ahead of our discussion.

Mr. AIkeN: I would leave it, if you wish, but it was related to the general
question of investments in real estate and real estate mortgages.

The CHAIRMAN: Carry on, Mr. Aiken.

Mr. AIREN: Previous questions related to the total holdings of a company
in real estate or in mortgages on real estate. My question relates to the per-
centage of value that the companies will be permitted to acquire. This bill
raises from two thirds to three quarters the amount of appraised value they
can use. This has particularly worried me and I would like to ask a couple of
questions about it.

Could Mr. Humphrys tell me whether this provision is put in there for the
benefit of insurance companies or of the building business? I am referring to
an incentive to increase construction and, if I might explain it, I think that
increasing the percentage by which a mortgage can be held reduces the value
of a trust investment, so you cannot justify it from that angle—that is, from
the angle of improving the trust holdings of an insurance company. So, the
only other reason must be that it will be an incentive to the construction of

¢
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Canadian housing and commercial construction. Could you tell me which of
these proposals is the correct one?

Mr. HumPpHRYS: The increase in the maximum limit on mortgages has
been requested by the industry and it is an increase that it seems can be made
without undue risk, principally because the great majority of mortgages now
are paid off on an amortized basis with monthly or periodic payments. In years
gone by this was not the case, and for many years the maximum that could
be lent on the security of a real estate mortgage was 60 per cent of the value
of the real estate. That was raised to 66% per cent a few years ago. Having in
mind the good record of mortgages and even, more important, the practice of
amortizing mortgages so that the principal is brought down quite rapidly,
other jurisdictions have made changes of this type, particularly in the United
States. A good many states down there have raised their mortgage limits to
75 per cent and some other companies operating in Canada are making higher
ratio mortgage loans. There are desirable investments in this area. The indus-
try feels, if they can make these higher ratio loans, they can get good invest-
ments and can compete with other companies that are in the mortgage field.
It is not expected, and I do not believe the industry implies, that every mort-
gage loan will now be for 75 per cent of the real estate value. They obviously
will exercise discretion on the point of whether or not they will lend up to
75 per cent on a particular proposal. But, this will enable them to do so where
they think it to be otherwise desirable.

Mr. AIRKEN: May I ask about the requests that the life companies have
made. Have these been requests through the association of life companies?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.
Mr. AIKEN: Or, by various individual companies.
Mr. HumpPHRYS: By the life company association.

Mr. AIREN: Do you have any figures or ideas at the present time to indicate
what the present practice is on loans? Do they now lend up to two thirds, or
is this an individual company policy?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: I do not think it would be possible to say that any com-
pany follows an absolutely uniform practice. But I think it is fair to say

that under present conditions a substantial proportion of their loans are up
. to maximum.

Mr. AIKEN: Do you know why the life companies want to have this? Do
they explain it, or just ask for it?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: They feel that they can obtain good mortgages at a
higher ratio, and good investments in this way. In the case of many desirable
mortgage loans where the owner wants to borrow, he will go where he can
get the ratio that he wants, perhaps what other companies in the market area
will offer to him. The result is that these other companies will get the cream of
these loans. So the industry in putting forward the request is doing so
because it believes there are opportunities there for investment on the basis
of a higher ratio. The amendment would also have the advantage that it would
enable the borrower to obtain a higher proportion of the money he needs
on a first mortgage loan, without having to go into the second mortgage market.
This would be a secondary advantage to the public.

Mr. Aken: But in practice, will they do so? As it is, when anybody needs
a second mortgage, is he going to stop here? Because I think most of them
now can, by first or second mortgage go to 80 per cent. With this 75 per cent
alternative situation, frankly I do not think that they will. It will merely
result in putting up second mortgages to something like 90 per cent, which
would bring about inflation. I am very concerned about this particular clause.
Are we going to have these life companies here? Have they asked to appear?
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The CHAIRMAN: No, they have not. They said that they have no objection
to the bill, and have no representations to make.

Mr. AIKEN: Does that apply to the life companies as well as the trust
companies?

The CHAIRMAN: The trust companies are coming; they also have circulated
a brief. You may have missed it, but there are some copies here and we shall
see that you get one. The trust companies are making representations and will
be here. The World Mortgage Corporation has asked to come independently,
and it will be making representations.

Mr. AIKEN: May I ask what name you call them? Is it the association of
life companies?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: It is the Canadian Life Insurance Officers Association.

Mr. AIREN: This association has requested this increase. Has a similar
request come from other organizations affected by this bill?

Mr. HumpHRYS: The trust and loan companies?

Mr. AIREN: Yes.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. AIREN: They also wish an increase to 75 per cent?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. AIKEN: Who is going to protect the public?

Mr. MoreAaU: From what?

The CHAIRMAN: Well! .

Mr. AIKEN: I am asking this question: must I take it for granted that
there may be some slight justification for my concern about increasing the
amount of mortgages? Who is going to put the other side of the case to us,
if the life and the trust companies are all agreeable to it? Who are we going

to hear? I would like to hear somebody on the other side; and if nobody comes,
I shall not be satisfied.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I suggest that although the request has come to the gov-
ernment from the industry, the proposal to increase it is in the bill proposed
by the government, so that the government and the department are satisfied
that in putting forward his change there will not be a degree of increased
risk or danger to the public of such proportions that it would justify refus-
ing it.

Mr. AxeN: Is this because the total limit of real estate holdings is also
already fixed in the bill?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: The question of investment in mortgages is not under
any over-all limit. The limit I referred to earlier is on the ownership of real
estate. But there is no limit on the total proportion of funds which they may
invest in mortgages.

Mr. AIKEN: So a life company or trust company has no ceiling on the
amount of real estate mortgages which they can hold?

Mr. HumMmpHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. AIkeN: I have done a lot of mortgage business over the years, and this
really concerns me.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: At the present time Canadian life insurance companies have
39 per cent of their assets in mortgages—as of the end of 1963.

Mr. MoreaU: By way of clarification, these are merely permissive figures, as
I understand it.
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The CHAIRMAN: I am sorry, Mr. Moreau, but Mr. Asselin has been trying
to ask a question for a long time. I have to keep some order. I wonder if Mr.
Aiken has finished?

Mr. AIRKEN: I have asked the question and I do not want to come back to
it.

Mr. ASSeLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdice): I have no objection to yielding to
Mr. Moreau.

The CHAIRMAN: No, you go ahead, Mr. Asselin.

Mr. AsSeELIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I was going to point out that there
was a maximum in the present figures, and that unlike one or two of the
previous questions, I was wondering why, for instance, a maximum permissive
figure could not be 90 per cent instead of 75 per cent, in the same way as it is
with the National Housing Act. After all, what you are dealing with here is
the money of the stockholders. I consider the taxpayers to be the stockholders,
and should it go up to 90 per cent, and quite often this maximum figure is
used, I wonder about the question of inflation.

The CHAIRMAN: Do you have a question to direct to the witness?

Mr. AIRKEN: That was exactly my first question.

Mr. ASSELIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I would like to complete my ques-
tion. I am going to ask Mr. Humphrys if he thinks that 90 per cent might be
a bad thing, or would he consider it reasonable? I also want to ask him in
connection with inflation and the questions raised by one of the members,
whether this was a valid argument, since the borrower on a mortgage—if he
cannot get a sufficient amount, let us say, the maximum permissive figure of
75 per cent—will go to a second mortgage dealer and will pay a higher per-
centage, and thus be able to get it. Here we have the same problem of infla-
tion. And third, in respect of my point of view, the higher maximum figure
or percentage for borrowing would I think be a greater attraction to the
public because it would not require so many people to go into the second
mortgage field. I would like to hear Mr. Humphrys views on this.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would think that to raise the limit—

Mr. AsSeLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): Let me state my question more
simply: Has he considered the possibility of having a higher maximum figure?

What are his views on, let us say, bringing it up to a figure of around 90 per
cent?

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would not personally recommend increasing the limit be-
yond 75 per cent. I believe the analogy of the mortgages made under the
National Housing Act does not quite extend to here because those loans made
in years gone by were subject to government guarantee, and at the present time
they carry insurance operated by Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation,
so that they have an additional security which provides the element of safety
needed with high ratio loans.

Mr. AsseLiNy (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): May I interrupt to ask you this.
You mentioned a government guarantee. Does the government not guarantee
with the taxpayer’s money? The analogy I made works a great deal differently
if it be the taxpayer’s money in one case, or money lent out on a mortgage in
the other.

Mr. HumpHRYS: I would say it was the policyholders’ money.
Mr. AsseELIN (Notre-Dame-de-Gridce): You say the money of the policy-
holders. Is that not public money?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: I would not think that the purpose of this legislation, which

is to put certain restrictions on the way in which insurance companies may
21483—2
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invest the money which has been, in a sense, entrusted to them by their policy-
holders, should be regarded in the same sense as the way in which the govern-
ment might use money which it has collected through taxes.

Mr. AssELIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I am sure you are not suggesting
that the money which is collected from the taxpayers should be treated any
more lightly than the money that the company receives from its policyholders.

Mr. HumpPHRYS: I did not suggest that.

Mr. AsSeLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I have a question to ask Mr.
Humphrys concerning page 9, and I would like permission to go back to it,
because I missed the opportunity to do so the other day when I had to leave
to go to the defence committee.

The CHAIRMAN: Mr. Moreau.

Mr. Moreau: I want to bring out essentially the fact that I think insurance
companies wanted this change in a sense in order to place themselves in a
more competitive position in this field. I think for the benefit of the companies
therefore the policyholders using the company of course, on any loans, are
now up to 90 per cent. In many other areas they were able to lend on higher
grade property up to the same maximum levels, and therefore I would think
that this move would be a step proposed by the insurance companies to put
them in a more competitive position in this particular area of investment. I
wonder what your views would be? Is this right or not?

Mr. HumPHRYS: I would agree with you, yes.

Mr. Moreau: My second point is this. Is it essentially on the valuation
provisions? This amending bill makes no provision for valuation, but neither did
the previous act. In other words, my point is essentially that when it comes
to evaluation, these loans of 60 per cent of the assessed value, or 75 per cent
—do not change the basic valuation in the first place.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is correct.

Mr. Moreau: In other words, it is an unchanged condition. And I would
ask also if it would not be your impression that the insurance companies now,
having had quite a long history of experience in the mortgage lending field,
and having developed a rather sophisticated mortgage department, would be
better able to cope. In other words, this 66 per cent provision, now raised to
75 per cent, would be probably quite justified.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Yes, I believe that is a fair statement of the situation.

Mr. GELBER: In regard to the point raised by Mr. Aiken and Mr. Asselin,
I am sorry that I was not here at the beginning of the meeting when you
dealt with this matter. We were told the other day that British insurance com-
panies are restricted to the terms of their portfolio. But are they restricted
to what they may lend out in terms of percentage?

Mr. HumPHRYS: British insurance companies doing business in Canada
are required under this legislation to lodge assets in Canada with the Minister
of Finance, or with trust companies in Canada to cover their Canadian liabilities.
They must maintain assets in Canada covering their liabilities in Canada The
types of assets that they may use for this purpose are similar to those that
Canadian companies may invest in. If they want to deposit mortgage loans they
must be mortgages within the limits applicable to Canadian companies. At
home, they are not subject to such limits.

! Mr. GELBER: What about the law in Britain for insurance companies deal-
ing in Britain? Are they restricted in the percentage of capital value that they
can advance in mortgages?

Mr. HumpHRYS: No, they are not.
Mr. GELBER: What about American companies?
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Mr. HumpHRYs: They are usually so restricted.

Mr. GELBER: Do you know the amount?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: It has been in the order of 60 per cent or two thirds, _anfi
in more recent years a number of the leading states have raised their' limit
to 75 per cent, most prominently New York, which has been regardefi in th_e
United States as being a leader in insurance legislation. They have just this
year increased their limit to 75 per cent.

Mr. GELBER: If the rate is increased and the amount of percentage in-
creased that the insurance companies can advance to, will this not tend towards
the insurance companies having less funds on loan available to other borrowers?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: It could happen. If they make larger loans, they might
make fewer loans.

Mr. GELBER: But with the 90 per cent, it would tend to be more
pronounced.

Mr. HumpHRYS: That is quite right. If the companies do not want to put
out any more of their assets, in total, in mortgage loans, they might find them-
selves handling fewer loans but for higher amounts.

Mr. GELBER: I presume the fact that lenders like insurance companies
have mortgages of a higher percentage of capital value would increase the
capital value of any property, would it not?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: I would not think so.

Mr. GELBER: Do you not think that the capital value is estimated on the
going rate of borrowing?

Mr. HumMmpPHRYS: The rule is stated the other way, that they cannot lend
more than a proportion of the value of the property.

Mr. GELBER: Yes. But I am thinking of the policy of the insurance com-
panies. I am thinking of a capital asset in the market, to be financed at a lower
rate of interest. It would have a higher capital value, would it not?

The CHAIRMAN: Let us have the question.

Mr. GELBER: That is the question, and it is whether by increasing the per-
centage to be advanced it enhances the capital value. I suggest that it does.

Mr. HuMmpPHRYS: I would doubt that it would change the market value of
the property.

Mr. GELBER: All right, we disagree.
The CHAIRMAN: Now, Mr. Pascoe.

Mr. PascoE: My question may be pretty obvious to answer, but it is along
the lines we have been talking about, of insurance companies lending on the
security of real estate up to the maximum of its value. Most of the discussion
so far has been with regard to real estate in cities, speaking as a western man;
would it also apply to mortgages on farm property?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: The legislation does not contain any restriction to any
particular type of property.

Mr. PAscoE: So they could lend up to 75 per cent of the value?
Mr. HumpPHRYS: So far as the legal provisions are concerned, yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Let us get back now.

Mr. AIKEN: Right at this point I would like to clear up something with
a statement of my position. We have been talking about two fundamentally
different proposals. This was the nature of my first question to Mr. Humphrys
on the subject. Then there is the question of the incentive to the construction
business which the government is concerned with logically, and for other

reasons, that is, the investment of money. This is where Central Mortgage and
21483—23
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Housing Corporation and other people come into the field and lend more than
what is a safe investment in the normal sense of handling trust funds.

The other position I am referring to, and the story we are dealing with
here, is the necessity of handling trust funds which are given over to life insur-
ance companies and trust and loan companies to administer. My point is that
Canada so far has had a very good reputation in safe investment of money in
their insurance and trust companies. But here we are now getting into some
thing different. We are getting into the handling of trust funds which have
always been kept within—not ordinary limits, but within safe limits, to cover
any situation of a general downward trend in valuation, and it would not take
very much reduction in real estate to go down to 75 per cent of the present
inflated value in a lot of cases.

Mr. MoRreaU: I do not like to interrupt.

Mr. AReN: Well then, do not do so. I would like to furnish my statement.
If you do not want to interrupt, do not do it.

Mr. MoRreAU: I have a point of order.

Mr. AIReEN: All right, you may raise your point of order.

Mr. MoreAU: I thought we were engaged in an explanation of the bill
initially. But we now seem to have strayed away from it. I cannot see how
our procedure is going to be enhanced by receiving a statement of opinion from
one of our members concerning the bill. He is, of course, entitled to have his
opinion. I am not questioning his right to have it in any way, but it does seem
to me that we have strayed quite some distance away from the procedure we
were undertaking to follow with respect to this bill.

The CHAIRMAN: It seems to me—and I shall rule on this if I may—that
one of the important provisions of the bill is to increase the amount of money
that may be lent on a mortgage, which could be 75 per cent. That is the nub
of the point, and one of the reasons we are here, and why Mr. Aiken raised
a number of questions. But I think it would help us if we could have his
position clearly stated before us in view of the fact that we shall have rep-
resentatives of various industries coming here.

Mr. Moreau: May I have the same privilege to put my opinion on record

as well.
The CHAIRMAN: If you have not made your point quite clearly.

Mr. AIKEN: I am not going to conclude my statement. I appreciate your
suggestion, and I presume that I am being permitted to state my views. But it
has never to my knowledge been our procedure that we must limit ourselves
to questions as on the orders of the day when we have a witness before us.
I shall not proceed on the basis that I am being permitted to do it. Surely I
have the right, just as any other member, during the discussion to state an
opinion. I have been present at committee meetings where people have taken
as much as half an hour to state their opinions while the witness sat helplessly
by. That is the position I take now. I think Mr. Moreau has the right to express
his opinions as well, and while it may not shorten proceedings, nevertheless
I think that the members have this right and that we should not restrict our-
selves to questions to the witness.

The reason I am making this statement is that it appears that nobody
is going to put to us the other side of the case. That is the point of my ques-
tion. I am trying to get across the point that there may be some objection from
the standpoint of public policy in permitting trust companies to lend up to 75
per cent of the appraised value of real estate, with moneys which are trust
funds, which are held by them in trust. This is rather different from the
Central Mortgage and Housing Corporation. The point of my discussion is
this: Are we going te hear anybody who will say, “No, we should not do

G2
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it. Do not have any hesitation about it.” The life companies obviously want it,
and the government will obviously give it to them. But I want to know whether
this is proper, and I want to know whom we might call to give some opinion
of it. I may say that I have some doubts about it, and I am not the only one.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think the Chairman should become involved.
The question raised at the steering committee was who should be called. No
limits were placed on the committee. I might say that everyone whose name
has been advanced so far has been notified. Every name put forth to the
steering committee and every group were notified. I do not know what the trust
companies will say when they arrive next week, but I believe that on this
particular point they have no objection.

Mr. Moreau: I would not want to restrict Mr. Aiken from an expression
of his views in any way, but I thought we had agreed to hear an explanation
of the bill first, and then go into the argument as to the particulars and the
kind of bill. I take exception to the statement that any National Housing Act
loan was made over the limit. As I understand it the National Housing Act
statistics of recovery of loans experience has been very good. It seems to me
that this was a matter of opinion rather than of fact. However, I apologize
for the intervention I made. I think our arguments might come later on in
the discussion.

The CrHAIRMAN: I think we have cleared the air now.

Mr. Munro: I take it to be the procedure that we ask our questions now,
and follow with the argument later.

The 'CHAIRMAN: We do have a witness who has experience and knowledge,
and I- think it is quite appropriate to put questions to him, if they are proper
questions. That is why he is here, to explain and answer questions.

Mr. AREN: I have concluded what I wanted to say, because that is the
reason I raised this, since it appears that the life companies are not coming
at all, and the trust companies are going to agree to this provision. But perhaps
this is something we should take up in the steering committee.

The CHAIRMAN: Are there any further questions? I believe we are now
at page 11 on subclause (p), am I correct?

Mr. HumPHRYS: Paragraph (p).

Mr. AsseLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): May I have permission to ask a
questxon.. I want to know your views on the provision to allow insurance
companies to invest in companies with earning records as opposed to dividends,
having regard to five years, or the making of an attempt to open up the field
a little in order to provide a greater field for investment? I was wondering
whether in that provision the question of earnings was considered, and also
the statement which was made that the earnings have to be made in each year?
My question may be somewhat academic.

The CHAIRMAN: I do not want to appear to be facetious or rough, but we
did spend almost a whole morning on this subject. May I suggest that Mr.
Humphrys speak to you about it in the break, and if you are not satisfied at
that time, then we will give you the floor at the next meeting. We spent
almost all of the last meeting on the subject of dividends and earnings.

Mr. AsseLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I was present for most of that
meeting.

The CHAIRMAN: I realize that you had to leave to attend another committee
meeting, and I thank you for your co-operation. Let us go on with paragraph

(p).

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Paragraph (p) is a provision to enable companies to make
further investments in real estate for the production of income. This type of
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property would not be of a leaseback type, such as we have discussed. This
property would be eligible if it had an earnings record of over a three year
period such as to give a reasonable probability that the company would be
able to recover at least 85 per cent of its investment during the remaining
lifetime of the property, and would receive a reasonable rate of return. The
maximum limit on the investment on any one parcel of such real estate is
2 per cent of the company’s assets, and the company would not be able to
invest more than 10 per cent of its assets in this type of real estate together
with the type of real estate they might buy under the basket.

The CeEAIRMAN: I would suggest you carry on.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Subclause (7) deals with the power of companies to lend
on real estate mortgages. Earlier we discussed their power to invest in real
estate mortgages. This would enable them to lend on a real estate mortgage
where the mortgage is up to a maximum of three quarters of the value of the
real estate, instead of two thirds, as at present.

Subclause (8) deals with a minor technical point in respect of securities
received by a company on reorganization, liquidation or amalgamation of a
corporation whose securities it owns at that time. It has no choice about
receiving the securities issued on the reorganization, but the legislation formerly
prohibited it holding those securities for more than five years, except with
the concurrence of treasury board. This change will enable them to hold them
so long as they wish. It is a minor point. They do not receive many of these,
and they have no choice in any event whether they take them or not.

Mr. GELBER: Is a life company allowed to lend on a back-to-back basis;
is it allowed to advance money against an existing mortgage?

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: To lend on the security of a mortgage?

Mr. GELBER: An existing mortgage.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes, I think it is, under the legislation. It is very rarely
done.

Mr. GELBER: It does not have to be the original lender?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: No.

The CHAIRMAN: Carry on, Mr. Humphrys.

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Subclause (4) on page 13 deals with the basket provision.
It increases the maximum proportion of a company’s assets which may be
invested at its own discretion from 5 per cent of the assets to 7 per cent. It also
increases the maximum size of particular parcels of real estate that may be
purchased pursuant to this provision from half of one per cent of the company’s
assets to one per cent, and broadens the range of partners with which the com-
pany may join in making real estate investments under this provision.

Mr. LamserT: This would also include captive real estate companies.

Mr. HumMmprHRYS: This would enable them to own the real estate directly,
but not a subsidiary corporation. We will get to the subsidiary corporations
later.

Mr. LamvBeRT: But among the partners.

Mr. HuMpPHRYS: No. The partners are other insurance companies transact-
ing the business of insurance in Canada.

Mr. McCurcHEON: Under subsection (a), “a company transacting business”,
and so on, they now are allowed one per cent of assets. I am not just too clear
on this. Would this mean that if two companies work together on this, a 50 per
cent share could be one per cent of the assets?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes. Paragraph (a) deals with investments in real estate

and governs the maximum that any one company can invest in a particular
parcel.
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Mr. McCuTcHEON: In a very large property, conceivably they could own
50 per cent of it and one per cent of their assets would be that amount?

Mr. HUMPHRYS: Yes.

Mr. MunNro: On Mr. Gelber’s point, I understand that insurance companies
can take a mortgage on a mortgage.

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes. It is very rarely done. I cannot recall any instance.
However, the legislation is such that it would permit them to do that. The
provision is incidental, because it says they can lend on the security of any
asset in which they can invest.

Subclause (9) amends two subsections. The first is subsection (7) which
deals with the limit on the maximum investment in common shares. This raises
the limit from 15 per cent of the company’s assets to 25 per cent.

Mr. LAMBERT: This is another one of the major objectives of this legislation?

Mr. HuMPHRYS: Yes. Subsection (8) places a maximum limit on invest-
ments in real estate for the production of income. The change is the removing
from the limit the leaseback type of real estate. The 10 per cent limit still
applies to real estate purchased pursuant to the basket provision, and real
estate purchased pursuant to paragraph (p) which I have just described.

The CHAIRMAN: As I understand it, that ends the investment provision
of this part of the bill.

Mr. AsSeLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I did not quite understand what
you meant about the leaseback provision.

Mr. HuMmPHRYS: Under the existing legislation there is a limit of 10 per cent
on the amount a company may invest in real estate for the production of in-
come. That real estate now is of two types; the first is real estate which has
been leased on a long term basis to a corporation with a sound financial record.
The other is real estate purchased pursuant to the basket provision. It is now
proposed to give companies additional power to invest in real estate on the
basis of the earnings record of the real estate. The 10 per cent limit will
apply to the basket real estate, and to new real estate qualified on as earnings
test, but it will not apply to the leaseback type.

Mr. AsseLIN (Notre-Dame-de-Grdce): I see.
Clause stands.

On clause 6—Power of life insurance company to invest in shares of in-
surance and real estate companies.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Clause 6 enacts a new section 64A that will enable a life
insurance company to own subsidiaries in three circumstances. The first is a
corporation incorporated outside of Canada to undertake life insurance, and
the second is a corporation incorporated under the laws of Canada to under-
take insurance other than life insurance. The third is a corporation incorporated
to acquire, hold, maintain, improve, lease, or manage real estate or leaseholds.
These powers will be subject to terms and conditions prescribed by the treasury
board on the recommendation of the superintendent.

This section is a new departure in that it enables life insurance companies
to own subsidiaries, in the provided circumstances, which they have not been
able to do hitherto.

Mr. LamMBERT: Is it intended that Canadian life insurance companies will
be on a competitive basis with some of the foreign companies which have come
into Canada on a life insurance basis, and which have control of fire and casualty
insurance companies? For instance, the Dutch interest moved into Canada
a few years ago, and bought the Commercial Life and a group of Halifax
fire and casualty companies.
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Mr. HuMmPHRYS: It would enable them to own fire and casualty subsidiaries
in Canada, and to that extent operate in the same fashion as some British and
European companies.

Mr. LAMBERT: You do not see any conflict of interest, do you, in the life
insurance companies being involved in a mortgage, and the fire insurance
covering the property being put on by a subsidiary of the mortgagee?

Mr. HumpHRYS: No; I do not see any serious degree of conflict of interest.
I think it would be a community of interest in seeing that the property is
protected, and if they can get the insurance as well it probably flows with
the same interest in the investment.

Mr. LAMBERT: Is there not a provision in your legislation to the effect that
it cannot be made a condition of the granting of the mortgage that insurance
be taken out in a specified company?

Mr. HumMmPHRYS: No; there is nothing in our legislation dealing with this
point.

Mr. LAMBERT: I know there is in some provincial legislation; that is, in
order to obtain a loan it not be a condition of the granting of the loan that
insurance shall be placed with a specified insurance company, or if there is ex-
isting insurance that it be transferred to that particular company. I do not know
whether or not there is jurisdiction in the federal field, but I do know in my own
home province of Alberta this exists. It is an offence. I think it is a very salutary
provision.

Mr. HumpHRYS: We have had many complaints on this point, but I felt
there is nothing in our law which enables us to do anything about it, and person-
ally I would doubt the jurisdiction.

Mr. LAMBERT: I wonder whether your officers would look into the matter
of whether or not you have the jurisdiction, and the matter of whether it
might be a point to consider?

Mr. HumpHRYS: We have looked into it when we have received complaints.

Mr. LaMmBERT: Now that you are allowing life insurance companies to move
much further into the direct interest field of property through the leaseback
and these other provisions, it might be a serious temptation. However, to the
present they have not had a direct interest in a fire insurance company?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: Very rarely.

Mr. LamBERT: Well, they really could not have; but now they will be
entitled to have a subsidiary fire insurance company and therefore I think the
temptation would be rather great.

Mr. HumMmHPRYS: I will undertake to raise this matter with our legal ad-
visers.

Mr. GELBER: Mr. Chairman, the other day I raised this point on the
question of Canadian life companies buying an interest in other Canadian life
companies. We discussed that under certain conditions and said that invest-
ment could be made. I do not know why there is the discrimination as set out
in (b). What is the reason for it?

Mr. HumpPHRYS: In (b)?

Mr. GELBER: Yes.

Mr. HumpHRYS: Could you clarify the particular discrimination you have
in mind? ;

Mr. GELBER: Companies can buy any corporation incorporated under the
laws of Canada to undertake contracts of insurance, other than contracts of
life insurance. Why is this restriction put in?


